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FOREWORD

During the past five years, the General Conference and Division Treasurers have been working on
developing and updating the denomination’s accounting manuals for the world church. The Seventh-day
Adventist Church Accounting Manual you are now holding is the final product of that process. It reflects
and incorporates current international accounting pronouncements and denominational financial policies.
The primary purpose of this manual is to provide a standardized system of accounting and financial
reporting in compliance with generally accepted accounting principles for the global church, assist
denominational accountants and treasurers to prepare financial statements that will provide meaningful
information to church administrators, committees and constituencies, as well as enhance the audit
function of the church.

This manual is divided into four major segments. The first segment covers a general overview of financial
accounting and reporting concepts. The second segment discusses the financial statement in detail by
type of account. It also takes into consideration International and United States of America accounting
principles. The third segment addresses accounting and reporting by type of entity: for example,
accounting and financial reporting formats of conferences, schools, retirement plans, publishing houses,
and food factories. Finally, the fourth segment deals with tools for using the manual.

Many individuals and committees have participated in the writing and reading of this manual, for which we
are greatly indebted. The General Conference Auditing Service was heavily involved in the technical
writing of the manual on behalf of Treasury. We are very grateful to Eric Korff, retired Director of General
Conference Auditing Service and Jim Trude (who was the primary writer of the manual), Assistant
Director, General Conference Auditing Service who pulled all the sections of the manual together. We
express our appreciation to the members of The Reading and Editing Committee, comprised of Elaine
Hagele, Eric Korff, Martin Moores, Danny Orillosa, Leon Sanders, and George Egwakhe for their time in
reading and reviewing the manual. A special thanks to the Division Treasurers for their comments and
suggestions.

This manual supersedes all previous denominational accounting manuals and has been approved by the
General Conference and Division Treasurers. It shall be adhered to by all denominational entities, except
as it shall be amended by decisions of the General Conference and Division Treasurers from time to time.

It is my hope that the users of this manual will find it user-friendly and the accounting functions
significantly simplified, and that the financial statements produced will be an invaluable tool of financial
management.

George O Egwakhe, Associate Treasurer
General Conference of Seventh-day Adventists
January 2009
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Section 101 - Overview of the Manual
101.01 Primary Objectives - This Manual was prepared to meet the following objectives:

To serve as a reference resource for administrators of SDA denominational entities
To foster improved uniformity and accuracy in record-keeping and financial reporting
To improve accountability and stewardship of denominational resources

To help in training those who perform accounting and treasury functions

To assist in raising professional standards among accounting personnel
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101.02 Outline of the Manual - The Seventh-day Adventist Church is one body, with a united mission to
spread the gospel to the world. The Church operates many different entities, among people who speak many
languages, and employs individuals with a wide range of education and training. The challenge for this Manual is
to balance the uniform application of standards and procedures that apply to every entity with flexibility to
accommodate unique requirements in specific geographic areas. To address the challenge, this Manual is

divided into four segments:

e Segment One: Chapters 1 to 8 discuss general concepts of accounting and financial reporting.

e Segment Two: Chapters 9 to 16 discuss specific accounting standards for various types of accounts.
e Segment Three: Chapters 17 to 23 display sample financial statements for different types of entities.

e Segment Four: Chapters 24 to 26 include a glossary, a quick reference guide, and an index.

101.03 Advantages of Uniform Standards and Procedures - Many administrators receive and review the
financial reports of affiliated denominational entities within their territory. In addition, the General Conference
Office of Archives and Statistics compiles a financial summary based on the audited financial reports of all church
organizations throughout the world. Principles applied uniformly and consistently allow for meaningful
comparison among similar entities and among different periods of time. Also, an organization may compare its
results with those of other similar entities in an effort to improve its own operations.

This Manual includes a Glossary of Terms as Chapter 24. Section 24.01 describes terms that have particular
meaning within the denomination, Section 24.02 describes certain terms created by accounting and reporting
standards, and Section 24.03 describes a number of abbreviations and acronyms used by this Manual.

101.04 Unity in Diversity - This Manual identifies general accounting principles and financial reporting
standards that should lead to uniformity for comparative purposes without requiring rigid adherence regardless of
constraints encountered in a particular geographic area. While minor adjustments to meet local needs may be
necessary, major deviations from this Manual should be made only with division approval after counsel with the
General Conference treasury department.

101.05 Language Translations - Many denominational entities prepare their financial reports in languages
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other than English. Translation of technical terms in any context always represents a challenge, as word-for-word
translation does not always express the true meaning of the translated term. An attempt has been made to find
published references that give the accepted business, financial, and accounting terms in various major
languages, which convey essentially the same concept as the English terms used in this Manual. Those
reference materials will be given to the individuals who will be responsible for translation of this Manual.
Section 102 - Denominational Organization
102.01 Perspective on Organization - The users of this Manual routinely interact with various other
denominational entities. It is important to understand how each entity’s accounting and reporting functions relate
to the overall organizational structure.
102.02 Levels of Denominational Structure - The Seventh-day Adventist Church uses the following
structural hierarchy, as defined in General Conference Working Policy (GCWP).
Local Church - A specific-group of Seventh-day Adventist members in a defined location that has been
granted, by the constituency of a local conference/mission, in session, official status as a Seventh-day
Adventist church.
Local Conference/Mission/Field - A group of local churches, within a defined geographic area, that has
been granted, by the constituency of a union conference/mission, in session, official status as a Seventh-
day Adventist local conference/mission/field.
Union Conference/Mission - A group of local conferences/missions/fields, within a defined geographic
area, that has been granted, by a General Conference Session, official status as a Seventh-day Adventist

union conference/mission.

Union of Churches — A group of local churches, within a defined geographical area, that has been
granted, by a General Conference Session, official status as a Seventh-day Adventist union of churches.

General Conference and its Divisions - To facilitate its worldwide activity, the General Conference has
established regional offices, known as divisions of the General Conference, which have been assigned,
by action of the General Conference Executive Committee at Annual Councils, general administrative and
supervisory responsibilities for designated groups of unions and other church units within specific
geographic areas.

Throughout this Manual, use of the term “conference” will apply equally to local conferences,
missions, and fields, to union conferences and missions, and to the General Conference and its divisions.
102.03 Relationships Between Organizations

The General Conference is authorized by its Constitution to create additional organizations to promote
specific interests in various sections of the world. All organizations and institutions throughout the world
will recognize the authority of the General Conference in session as the highest authority under God.
When differences arise in or between organizations and institutions on matters not already addressed in
the Constitution and Bylaws, in the policies of the General Conference, or in its Executive Committee
actions at Annual Councils, appeal to the next higher organization is proper until it reaches the General
Conference in session, or the Executive Committee in Annual Council. During the interim between these
sessions, the Executive Committee shall constitute the body of final authority on all questions where a
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difference of viewpoint may develop, whose decisions shall control on such controverted points, but
whose decision may be reviewed at a session of the General Conference or an Annual Council of the
Executive Committee.

102.04 Model Constitutions and Bylaws - GCWP Section D contains model constitutions and bylaws for
various types of entities. The officers of each of these organizations should be well acquainted with these
models, and with minor variations that may exist in specific fields.

The model constitution authorizes conferences to carry out their responsibilities through the use of other
organizations and institutions, either incorporated or unincorporated, as they deem necessary. These other
organizations typically include book centers, literature distribution entities, academies, colleges, health care
facilities, and other entities. Whenever an organization establishes a new entity in the form of a legal corporation,
GCWP BA 20 10 requires approval to be obtained from the General Conference or the appropriate division.

102.05 The Chief Financial Officer - Various job titles, such as Treasurer, Controller, or Vice-president for
Finance, are used throughout the world to refer to the individual who has been given primary responsibility for the
financial affairs of an entity. For simplicity, this Manual refers to that individual as “chief financial officer” or CFO.

The CFO should understand the duties specifically assigned to that office by the constitution or other
governing document of the organization, since the accounting, financial reporting, and internal control processes
are based on this delineation of responsibility.

For example, the Model Conference Bylaws, Article VI, Section 1c in GCWP D 20 05 say:

Section 1c Treasurer: The treasurer, associated with the president as an executive officer, shall serve

under the direction of the executive committee. The treasurer shall report to the executive committee of

the conference after consultation with the president. The treasurer shall be responsible for providing

financial leadership to the organization which will include, but shall not be limited to, receiving,
safeguarding and disbursing all funds in harmony with the actions of the executive committee, for

remitting all required funds to the union/division/General Conference in harmony with the Division
policy, and for providing financial information to the president and to the executive committee. The
treasurer shall also be responsible for furnishing copies of the financial statements to the Union
officers.

102.06 Entities Subject to Audit - One procedure the denomination uses to help ensure accountability and
instill confidence in financial reports is the audit function. GCWP requires audits of the financial records of various
types of denominational entities. GCWP defines which entities are subject to audit by General Conference
Auditing Service and which entities are subject to audit or review by local conference employees.

Section 103 - The Accounting and Financial Reporting System
103.01 Stewardship and Custody of Assets - While the primary purpose of an accounting system is to

record transactions and generate financial reports, another vital purpose is to provide accountability for the
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possession and use of an entity’s assets. The CFO and accounting personnel have a stewardship responsibility
to constituents, donors, and the governing committee. Procedures for handling and safeguarding the assets of
the organization must comply with the policies of the organization and of affiliated denominational entities.

For example, church members expect tithe to be channeled to the proper organizations, to be used as
Scripture, Spirit of Prophecy counsel, and policies of the church direct. Some offerings are restricted for specific
purposes, and must be used as the donor intended. Appropriations from higher organizations may be for either
specific purposes or the general operation of the receiving organization. All of these resources are to be used
either as specifically directed by the donor or within the limits of an operating budget previously approved by the
governing committee.

103.02 Financial Reports - The CFO is responsible for giving periodic reports about the financial condition
and operations of the entity to its governing committee, and to other intended users and constituents. A good
accounting system will enable the CFO to produce these reports efficiently, without additional editing and
reorganizing of the underlying data, and in a format that will be understandable to the average well-informed
reader. In addition, the reports should comply with generally accepted accounting principles and conform to the
standards of uniformity required for statistical comparison with the reports of other denominational organizations.

The degree of detail required for adequate disclosure of information in these reports may vary. ltis the CFO's
responsibility to determine the amount of detail the users of the statements need. The CFO must guard against
either submitting so much detail that it is confusing, or so little detail that the financial statements might be
misleading or not in compliance with minimum standards for disclosure.

103.03 Generally Accepted Accounting Principles - This Manual provides a framework of uniform
accounting principles that are consistent with standards established by the International Accounting Standards
Board. The principles outlined in this Manual are to be implemented by all denominational entities. Many
countries, of course, have standard-setting bodies and established accounting principles, but there is a widely-
acknowledged process currently operating to foster a convergence of country-specific standards with the
international standards.

In accordance with its primary objectives, this Manual describes accounting and reporting principles that
conform to the International Financial Reporting Standards, and also illustrates, where applicable, major
differences between those standards and certain country-specific standards. This Manual will be updated as

necessary to conform to the evolving set of international standards. However, it is understood that anytime the
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professional standards change, entities may choose to make conforming changes themselves without waiting for
this Manual to be updated.

103.04 Other Bases of Presentation - Tax, Special Purpose, etc. - This Manual recognizes that in addition
to regular financial reporting in conformity with established standards, many entities may also be required to issue
other types of reports to comply with government tax regulations, bank or lender requirements, etc. This Manual
encourages compliance with all government and other regulations that require special types of reporting, with the
understanding that those special reports are in addition to the regular general-use financial statements required
by, and illustrated in, this Manual.

103.05 Sources of Information - While this Manual is a resource for denominational use, and attempts to
reflect current accounting standards, it is not intended to be the final authority on questions of accounting
standards. Each organization should have a library of current reference material, including international
accounting standards, country-specific accounting standards, basic and intermediate accounting textbooks, and
copies of any actions taken and decisions made by the organization or by any affiliated higher denominational
entity regarding specific accounting principles or resolution of specific accounting issues.

Section 104 - Relationships Within an Organization

104.01 CFO as an Administrative Officer - The CFO, as an administrative officer, has significant influence
and a duty to guide and counsel in plans and decisions affecting financial matters. At the same time, the CFO is
responsible to the governing committee and constituents. The CFO needs to find a balance between too little
control on one hand and unilateral decision-making on the other hand.

Operations can be conducted on a day-to-day basis within the framework of governing committee directions,
budget authorization, and general objectives, without reference, generally, to either the committee or fellow
officers. The CFO should gain the agreement of fellow officers and, when warranted, specific direction from the
governing committee, when making far-reaching decisions. This should be considered a protection against
criticism for decisions made, rather than a restriction on the CFO’s authority.

104.02 Relationship of Departments to Budgets - GCWP S 05 15 states, “All denominational
organizations shall follow the budget plan of financial operating. The annual operating budget shall be approved
by the controlling committee.” The approval of a budget by a governing committee generally constitutes
authorization for the administration to spend specified amounts to accomplish various functions. However, such

authorization should not be construed as unlimited discretion over how to spend the total amount of the budget. It
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is the duty of the CFO, through tactful counsel and the exercise of wise leadership, to work with operating
personnel to help ensure that budgetary allocations are expended efficiently and effectively.

104.03 The Governing Committee - While the governing committee is the employer directing the
organization's officers, the CFO has a responsibility to give information and advice to the governing committee.
The ultimate decision-making power, according to denominational policy, rests with the governing committee.
GCWP requires governing committee action in the following matters: appropriations to other organizations,
response to auditor’s reports, adoption of budgets, and monitoring of the results of financial activity.

104.04 Related or Affiliated Organizations - The denomination operates through a variety of organizations.
Many of these entities are affiliated with each other, typically through financial support or the ability to select
members of governing committees. Such terms as “related, affiliated, controlled, parent, or subsidiary” describe
these various relationships. The nature of the relationship between two denominational entities affects the type of
financial statements each of those entities is required, or allowed, to produce. This is discussed in Chapter 6.

104.05 Audits and Auditors - GCWP requires an annual audit of the financial records of all entities subject
to audit by GCAS (see section 102.06). Management is responsible to ensure that the accounting records are
maintained and financial statements are produced in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.
The auditor is responsible to examine the financial statements, related records, and underlying evidence for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the fairness of presentation of the financial statements. In connection with
the examination, the auditor will also report to management and the governing committee any significant
deficiencies that have been observed in the organization’s internal control process (see Glossary for definition).

In addition to these assigned functions, GCAS is one of the resources available to CFOs to address
accounting problems and to provide information. GCAS can particularly assist in analyzing such areas as internal
control processes, changes in accounting, methods of processing accounting data, financial statement note
disclosures, and possible solutions to specific accounting problems.

104.06 Financial Audit Review Committee - GCWP SA 15 05 requires each organization's governing
committee to establish a Financial Audit Review Committee. This committee has responsibility to study the
auditor's reports and letters to management, and management's response to the auditor. This committee then

makes recommendations to the organization's governing committee.
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Section 201 - Introduction

201.01 Users of Financial Statements - An organization’s financial statements are of interest to
management, the governing committee, constituents, contributors, affiliated entities, banks, and others. These
users make financial decisions based on those financial statements. The financial reports and the accounting
system from which they are derived must be organized to provide the desired information in terms and format
which users can understand.

201.02 Objectives of Financial Statements - The objectives of the financial statements of not-for-profit
organizations are somewhat different from those of profit-oriented entities. Profit-oriented business financial
statements emphasize the use of assets for production of income for the benefit of owners or shareholders. In
contrast, the financial statements of a not-for-profit organization serve the following objectives:

Communicate the ways resources have been used to carry out the organization’s objectives
Report the nature, amount, and net change in available resources
Describe the organization’s principal functions and the resources allocated to those functions

Disclose the restrictions imposed by donors or other providers over the use of resources
Enable the reader to evaluate the organization’s ability to carry out its mission and objectives

201.03 Financial Statement Format - International GAAP consists of accounting and reporting principles
that are intended to apply to all types of organizations. However, the IASB acknowledges that those standards
use terminology that is suitable for profit-oriented businesses. Therefore, it allows not-for-profit enterprises to
adapt the suggested financial statement formats to be more useful for their particular needs. In accordance with
that flexibility, and to ensure comparability, the Seventh-day Adventist denomination has established specific
financial statement formats for various types of organizations. These formats are discussed in Chapters 6 and 7.

201.04 Accrual Basis of Accounting - The accrual basis of accounting is required for financial reports to be
presented in accordance with GAAP. The accrual basis is widely accepted as providing a more complete record
of an entity's assets, liabilities, revenues, and expenses than the cash basis of accounting. Financial statements
prepared on the accrual basis inform users about revenue that has been earned and expenses that have been
incurred, using multiple criteria in addition to the receipt or payment of cash. This Manual continues the
denomination’s historical position, and requires use of the accrual basis of accounting.

201.05 Examples of Accrual Basis Accounting - Under the accrual basis, goods and services purchased
should be recorded as assets or expenses at the time the liability to acquire or pay for them is incurred, not when
the account is paid. For example, an invoice for electricity or telephone service is recorded as an expense and an

account payable when the invoice is received, rather than when the bill is paid. In the same way, revenue and
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related assets are recorded when the transactions are consummated and the defined right of ownership of the
asset passes, not just when the physical transfer takes place. For example, tithe donated by church members is
accrued by the respective conference/mission as an account receivable and income as of the period in which the
donation was given to the local church, not when the money is actually remitted by the church and received by the
conference.

On the other hand, outstanding purchase orders and other commitments for future acquisition of materials or
services should not be reported as expenses or included in liabilities until the other party to the transaction agrees
to complete it. This does not prevent the disclosure of significant commitments of resources in the notes to the
financial statements, nor does it prevent a designation in the financial statements of the portion of net assets so
committed.

Section 202 - Financial Statement Structure

202.01 Required Financial Statements -International GAAP requires a complete set of general-use
financial statements to include: a statement of financial position, an income statement, a statement showing
changes in equity, a cash flow statement, and certain explanatory notes. It also allows not-for-profit entities to
modify the financial statement titles, line items, and applicable content to suit their needs. It does not provide any
guidance on what those modifications might consist of, so this Manual explains the modifications developed by
the SDA Church.

For organizations that use fund accounting, the general-use format is modified as follows. Each of the basic
financial statements will be prepared for each fund. Notes to the financial statements are not required for each
fund. Supporting schedules will be included to provide adequate disclosure about various elements.

The following paragraphs summarize the content of the financial statements, and in most cases apply to
financial statements for either the organization as a whole or any individual fund alone. Discussion about these
requirements may be found in Chapters 6 and 7. lllustrative financial statements for an organization as a whole,
and for individual funds where applicable, are included in the Appendices for each type of organization.

202.02 Financial Position - The Statement of Financial Position presents the financial position of an entity
(its assets, liabilities, and net assets) at a specific point in time. Historically, international GAAP used the title
“balance sheet,” but that has recently been changed to the more-contemporary title “statement of financial
position.” The illustrative financial statements in this Manual will use the title “Statement of Financial Position.”

Although optional by GAAP, this Manual requires all denominational entities to present assets and liabilities in
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a classified format, that is, with sub-totals for current and noncurrent assets and liabilities. Also, to highlight the
nature of equity as the residual of assets minus liabilities, and to avoid confusion between entities that do or do
not use fund accounting, this Manual refers to the equity group of accounts as “net assets” rather than “fund
balance.” Chapters 6 and 15 discuss net assets further.

202.03 Financial Activity - The statement of financial activity presents the activities of an entity over a
period of time. For not-for-profit entities, the scope of this statement is broader than that of a business-oriented
income statement. It includes revenue, expense, gains, losses, and for entities that use fund accounting,
transfers between funds (which will net to zero for the organization as a whole). It also separates these activities
between operating and nonoperating activity. Further details are discussed in Chapters 6 and 15.

202.04 Committee Designations versus Donor Restrictions - Financial activity and net assets are
classified in ways that maintain accountability for resources that are intended for specific purposes. The term
“allocated” is synonymous with the term “designated” and describes resources which have been designated for
particular programs or projects by the entity’s governing committee. Since the committee may designate
resources for a particular use, they also have the authority to re-direct the use of these resources to some other
purpose at any time.

On the other hand, the term “restricted” describes resources that have been given by donors with express
instructions to be used for specific programs or projects. Neither management nor a governing committee can
change the nature of a donor-restricted resource. The accounting records must be designed in a manner that
maintains the distinction between “allocated” and “restricted” resources. These concepts are discussed in detalil
in Chapter 15.

202.05 Cash Flows - The statement of cash flows provides relevant information about cash receipts and
cash payments during a period. The statement reports receipts and payments according to their character as
either operating, investing, or financing activities. Separate disclosure of noncash investing and financing
activities is also required. Preparation of a statement of cash flows makes reference to amounts in both the
statement of financial position and the statement of financial activity. See Chapter 6 for further discussion.

202.06 Schedule of Working Capital and Liquidity - Working capital is defined as the excess of current
assets over current liabilities. GCWP T 15 05 recommends that each denominational entity maintain a specified
minimum amount of working capital. It recommends percentages and formulas to be used by various types of

entities to calculate that amount. Historically, denominational financial statements have included a schedule of
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working capital and liquidity. Although not required by GAAP, this schedule is a note that is required by this
Manual, and is illustrated as the last of the notes to the financial statements.

The schedule discloses the organization’s actual working capital, a comparison of actual to the amount
recommended by policy, and the percentage of actual to recommended at the financial statement date. The
schedule also includes a computation of net liquid assets available for operations. Net liquid assets are defined
as cash and cash equivalents, certain investments, receivables from the next higher denominational entity, and
church remittances receivable, less all current liabilities and the balances of all allocated capital functions.
Section 203 - Structure and Control

203.01 Account Structure - Because the financial statements are compiled from the accounting ledger, the
account structure used by the ledger must be organized in a manner that identifies and arranges the accounts to
correspond to the required financial statement presentation. It is appropriate to determine the form of financial
statement presentation first, and then to design the ledger account structure to meet the reporting needs.
Chapter 4 describes elements of the account structure, including the minimum account structure required for use
by all denominational entities. This minimum account structure is to be used regardless of which accounting
software they use to produce the reports.

203.02 Internal Control - The management of each entity is responsible to design and operate a system of
internal control that ensures the orderly and efficient conduct of the entity’s activity. This includes adherence to
policies, safeguarding of assets, prevention and detection of error and fraud, accuracy and completeness of
accounting records, and timely preparation of reliable financial reports. The use of a computerized information
system does not negate the need for other internal control considerations. A computerized information system
can be an important part, but it is only one part of the internal control system. All parts must work together to
meet the objectives of internal control. The design and operation of an adequate internal control system is
discussed in Chapter 3.

Section 204 - Financially Related Organizations

204.01 Organizational Relationships - The organizational plan of the SDA Church comprises several
levels, as discussed in Section 102.02. These organizations are closely related in many respects; operating
under uniform denominational working policies, having overlapping memberships on governing committees, and
giving and receiving appropriations of resources. Which financial statements of these various organizations

should be consolidated? The following sections discuss this complex topic.



Chapter 2 - Overview of the Accounting System SDA Accounting Manual - January 2011 — page 13

204.02 Consolidation of Entities - International GAAP requires the financial statements of a controlling
organization (parent) to be consolidated with all entities that it controls (subsidiaries). In the Seventh-day
Adventist denomination, due to its representative form of organization, entities on one level of organization do not
control entities on another level. (For example, union conferences do not have organizational control over local
conferences.) However, union and conference entities do frequently control other entities on the same level of
organization.

204.03 Application of the Standard - The goal of meaningful and informative financial statements makes it
desirable for organizations to maintain the practice of separate reporting by churches, local conferences and
missions, union conferences and missions, divisions, and General Conference, respectively. However, the
application of GAAP requires denominational organizations, particularly conferences/missions/fields, to analyze
their relationships with affiliated entities, such as book centers and secondary schools (academies). Further
guidance on consolidations is given in Chapter 6.

204.04 Combination of Entities - The general consolidation principles do not apply to situations in which
two or more entities have a common constituency but neither entity controls the other. For example, in some
countries the denomination holds title to land in the name of a legal entity other than the administrative entity or
entities which use the property. The governing committees of these entities are typically chosen by the same
constituency, or the officers of one entity serve on the governing committee of another entity by virtue of their
position. As a result, the entities are effectively under common control. In many cases, the property-holding
entity is so closely related to the operation of an administrative entity that it is meaningful to combine the
information for both entities into one set of financial statements. The same principle may also be applied to other
situations involving commonly controlled entities. Additional guidance is given in Chapters 6 and 7.

204.05 Related Party Transactions - GAAP requires the financial statements and notes to identify “related
parties” and to disclose the balances and transactions between those parties and the reporting entity.

GAAP defines related parties in the following manner:
A party is related to the reporting entity if:

a. directly, or indirectly through one or more intermediaries, the party:
controls, is controlled by, or is under common control with, the reporting entity,
has an interest in the reporting entity that gives it significant influence over the entity, or
has joint control over the reporting entity;

the party is a member of the key management personnel of the reporting entity or its parent (executive
officers, vice-presidents, and members of the entity’s governing committee); or

b. the party is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of the reporting entity or of
any organization that is a related party of the reporting entity.
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For any party that meets the above definition, GAAP requires the following disclosures:
e the nature of the relationship between the party and the reporting entity,
e the balance of any account or loan receivable or payable between the party and the reporting entity,
including terms and conditions for repayment and whether the balance is secured,
e the expense recognized during the reporting period for uncollectibility of any balances listed in (b),
a total for transactions, by type, between the party and the reporting entity
(Contributions made to an organization by its governing committee members, officers, or employees
need not be separately disclosed if the contributors receive no reciprocal economic benefit.), and
e for the key management personnel as a group, the amount of their total compensation apart from that
of all other employees.
Section 205 - Fund Accounting

205.01 Need for Fund Accounting - GAAP does not require the use of fund accounting, but allows it to be
used if considered necessary. Fund accounting is used when the segregation of resources into funds is the best
way to monitor and report on the entity’s stewardship responsibility. Entities that use fund accounting should
have at least an Operating Fund and a Plant Fund. Entities may establish other Funds as considered necessary
to serve the needs of the users of their financial statements.

Each denominational entity must determine whether the cost and accumulated depreciation related to land,
improvements, and buildings used by the entity should be included in its financial statements. Appendix 13A
provides guidance about factors to consider, and contains illustrations of many, but not all, possible relationships
between property owners and users.

For conferences, missions, colleges, and universities, the denomination has established the following
principles. If it is determined that the conference, mission, college, or university financial statements should
include land, improvements, and buildings, this Manual requires the use of fund accounting. If it is determined
that the conference, mission, college, or university financial statements should not include land, improvements, or
buildings, but include only equipment and furnishings, this Manual allows the entity to choose whether to use fund
accounting.

The denomination does not require fund accounting for other entities, such as secondary schools, publishing
houses, book centers, literature evangelism organizations, healthcare entities, or industry operations. This
Manual recommends consideration of fund accounting for those secondary schools which have significant
endowment or other funds in addition to accounts used for operating and property purposes, or which have
ownership of significant plant-related assets.

205.02 Definition of Fund Accounting - Fund accounting is the procedure by which resources are

classified for accounting and reporting in accordance with activities, objectives, or limitations that are either
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specified by donors, imposed by outside sources, or designated by the governing committee. Thus, for applicable
organizations, the account structure enumerates one or more operating funds, a separate fund for accounts
related to land, buildings, and equipment, and separate funds for each of several other possible categories of
activities. This segregation within the total accounting system allows separate reports to be produced for selected
segments of the organization.

205.03 Definition of a Fund - A fund, in this context, is defined as a separate accounting entity with a self-
balancing set of accounts for recording assets, liabilities, net assets, and financial activity. While separate funds
are maintained in the account structure, funds with similar characteristics may be combined for reporting
purposes. Further discussion about fund accounting is given in Chapters 6 and 7. Examples of funds combined
for statement presentation are given in the illustrative financial statements in the Appendices for relevant
organizations.

205.04 Property or Plant Funds - Several terms related to land, buildings, and equipment have historically
held different meanings in different places. To some, the term “property” means only land, or only land and
buildings, but not equipment and furnishings. To some, the term “plant” means buildings and equipment that are
used only for factory or industrial purposes. In the interest of uniformity, for those entities that are required to use
fund accounting, this Manual uses the term “Plant Fund” for the fund that includes all the accounts related to the
entity’s land, land improvements, buildings, equipment, and furnishings. Also, for the related Statement of
Financial Position line item, this Manual refers to “land, buildings, and equipment” rather than “plant and
equipment” or “property, plant, and equipment.” (Note that if an entity holds land or buildings only for future sale

or only for long-term appreciation in value, those assets are usually held in a fund other than the plant fund.)
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Section 301 - Characteristics of Internal Control

301.01 Definition of Internal Control - Internal control is the process designed and implemented by
management and individuals charged with governance to provide reasonable assurance about achievement of
the entity’s objectives. Those objectives include reliability of financial reporting, effectiveness and efficiency of
operations, and compliance with applicable laws and regulations. Internal control is designed and implemented to
address identified risks that threaten the achievement of those objectives.

Internal control consists of the following inter-related components:
The control environment
The risk assessment process
Information and communication

Control activities
Monitoring of controls

301.02 Limitations of Internal Control - Because of inherent limitations, no internal control process can
provide absolute assurance that all the entity’s objectives will be met. These limitations include:

Human judgment can contribute to errors in the design of internal control

Individuals can make errors in the application of specified internal controls

Two or more individuals can circumvent controls through collusion

Individuals, especially those in management, can over-ride or disable internal controls
Human judgment can affect decisions about which internal controls are cost-effective
The extent of segregation of duties can be limited in smaller entities

301.03 The Control Environment - The control environment sets the tone of an organization, influencing the
control consciousness of all its employees and the individuals charged with governance. It includes the attitudes,
awareness, and actions of those individuals concerning the importance of internal control. It is the responsibility
of those charged with governance and management to design internal controls that will help prevent and detect
error and fraud. The control environment includes the following elements:

Communication and enforcement of integrity and ethical values
Commitment to competence in skills and knowledge
Participation by those charged with governance

Management’s philosophy and operating style

The organizational structure
Assignment of authority and responsibility

Smaller entities may implement the control environment factors differently than larger entities. For example,
smaller entities might not have a written code of conduct, but instead, develop a culture that emphasizes the
importance of integrity and ethical behavior through oral communication and by management example.

301.04 The Risk Assessment Process - Most organizations perform some degree of risk assessment. It

may be informal and undocumented or sophisticated and well-documented. The organization’s financial reporting
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objectives may be recognized implicitly rather than explicitly. This process asks questions such as:

What risks affect the accuracy and integrity of the financial reporting process?
How significant are those risks?

How likely is it that such risks will occur?

What actions are appropriate to address and minimize such risks?

301.05 Information and Communication - This involves the accounting and financial reporting information
system as well as the procedures used to communicate that system to employees and others.

The information system includes the procedures and records that are used to initiate, record, process, and
report transactions, events, and conditions. It includes procedures to maintain accountability for assets, liabilities,
and net assets. Smaller entities with active management involvement may operate with less-extensive
descriptions of accounting systems and less-sophisticated accounting records.

The communication system includes procedures and records that inform employees of their respective roles
and responsibilities within the accounting and financial reporting process. It includes information about how
employees can report exceptions to appropriate levels of management, and how management can communicate
with the individuals charged with governance. In smaller entities, communication may be less formal due to fewer
levels of organization and management’s greater availability and involvement.

301.06 Control Activities - Control activities are the policies and procedures which help ensure that
management directives are carried out. Control activities address both manual and information technology
processes, and are applied at various organizational and functional levels. Control activities address questions
such as:

Authorization - who initiates and who approves transactions?
Performance reviews - is each employee meeting his/her responsibilities?
Information processing - does the system, whether manual or computerized, work as designed?

Physical controls - are assets guarded against loss or unauthorized use?
Segregation of duties - are as many people as practical involved in each record-keeping process?

Smaller entities may find that certain control activities are not relevant because of controls applied by
management. An appropriate segregation of duties often appears to be difficult in smaller entities. Even then,
however, they may be able to assign responsibilities to achieve some segregation of duties, or to use
management oversight of the incompatible activities to achieve control objectives.

301.07 Monitoring of Controls - Management not only establishes internal controls, but should continually
monitor those controls to determine whether they are functioning as intended. Ongoing monitoring activities are

often built into the normal recurring activities of the entity and include regular management and supervisory
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activities. Such monitoring should include an assessment of the accuracy of the data that is used for periodic
testing of controls. The monitoring process also includes determining corrective action when controls are found to
be deficient.

Section 302 - General Observations

302.01 Controls Not Employee Specific - The internal control process should be designed to meet the
organization’s needs and to accomplish stated objectives. It should be documented so that the intended process
may be implemented by any employee. Especially in smaller organizations, internal control may be addressed in
only an informal manner. Experienced employees may perform these processes out of well-developed habit
rather than reference to written procedures. However, when new employees are hired, good documentation is
essential to provide understanding and continuity of the process.

302.02 Attention to Errors and Fraud - Internal control is designed to safeguard assets and to enhance the
reliability and efficiency of the operation. The internal control process is designed just as much to detect
unintentional errors as to discover deliberate fraud. Even the most trustworthy employee will readily admit the
possibility of an occasional error, and the need to detect and correct errors on a timely basis.

302.03 Exposure to Temptation - It is a disservice to employees to put them in positions, or to allow them to
work under circumstances, which expose them to temptation and make it easy for them to yield. If one eventually
succumbs to the pressure, those who have permitted that exposure must share the responsibility.

302.04 Fidelity Bond - GCWP S 45 05 (and similar division working policies) recommends that
denominational organizations protect church assets by utilizing a commercial blanket fidelity bond of adequate
limits. This policy points out that employees who have committed prior acts of theft or dishonesty are not covered
under fidelity bonds. It also requires that where fidelity bonds are not available, entities should allocate funds to
cover possible fidelity losses.

302.05 Financial Audit Review Committee - GCWP SA 15 (and similar division working policies) requires
the governing committee of each entity to establish a Financial Audit Review Committee to study reports
submitted by the auditors as well as management’s responses to those reports. This committee is empowered to
make recommendations to the governing committee to respond to auditor’s reports, and constitutes an important
element in setting the control environment of the organization. Appendix 3B lists internet resources available for
organizations to obtain guidance about best practices in the operation of an audit committee.

302.06 Conflict of Interest - As discussed in GCWP E 85, committee members, officers, other employees,
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and volunteers have a duty to be free from influence of any conflicting interests when serving an organization. It
also requires the administration to obtain signed statements of acceptance of the conflict of interest policy from
committee members and designated employees, and to remind them annually of the duty to disclose potential
conflicts of interest. A model statement of acceptance is included in the policy.

302.07 Job Descriptions - Effective internal control depends on clear job descriptions formulated for each
accounting and treasury position. Job descriptions should clearly define the duties and responsibilities of the
position, the extent of authority specified, and to whom the employee is responsible. The job descriptions should
be written cooperatively whenever possible, with input from the personnel themselves. A copy should be given to
the individual, and copies of job descriptions for all accounting employees should be held on file by the CFO.

302.08 Evaluation of Personnel - All personnel should be evaluated annually based on their job
descriptions and standards of performance. All participants in the process should approach the evaluation in a
spirit of constructive exchange of views and with an attitude of helpfulness.

302.09 Segregation of Duties - While it may seem more efficient to assign one whole area of accounting to
a single individual, who can become acquainted with every transaction from beginning to end, that can lead to
serious internal control risk. Where the size of the entity permits, a small degree of “efficiency” can be given up in
the interest of more effective control. It is more difficult in small entities where an ideal separation of accounting
duties is not feasible. Practical considerations of cost, relative risk, and relative efficiency must be balanced, and
the best possible solution reached under existing circumstances.

302.10 Information Systems Personnel - It is not unusual to find only one or two employees responsible for
preparing data for processing, entering data into the computer, and handling and distributing the reports and other
documents generated. As far as practical, these duties should be segregated to minimize the opportunity for
fraud and errors to occur and remain undetected. To address this issue, some internal control questions related
to computerized information systems are presented as Appendix 3A.02.

302.11 Management Involvement - One solution to effective internal control in a small entity is the
involvement of senior management in critical control processes, such as review of unusual or non-routine
transactions. The CFO may become better acquainted with the day-to-day financial operations of the
organization, and avoid the risk of becoming so absorbed in other duties that internal control suffers. If the CFO
is already involved in the daily accounting duties, it may be practical for review of significant transactions to be

performed by a member of an oversight group, such as an audit committee or finance committee.
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302.12 The Auditor's Review - As part of their annual audit of the financial records of the organization,
auditors will obtain an understanding of the internal control process. They do this to help determine the extent of
their own procedures for verifying recorded transactions. Also, auditing standards require them to submit a
written report to management and the governing committee identifying material weaknesses they observed in
internal control. This report is intended to be given in a spirit of constructive criticism to help the organization
attain its objectives.

302.13 Questions to Ask - As a resource for management and governing committees, two internal control
questionnaires are included in this Manual. Appendix 3A.01 relates to internal controls in general and Appendix
3A.02 relates to internal controls over computerized information systems. Each question is written so that a “yes”

answer represents a desirable condition, while a “no” answer indicates a potential weakness in controls.
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Appendix 3A.01  General Internal Control Questions

The following questions are designed to help the governing committee evaluate the internal control process.
“Yes” answers indicate desirable conditions, and “no” answers indicate potential weaknesses.

. Control Environment YES NO N/A

1. Are the duties and responsibilities of the governing committee and of
management clearly defined and documented in writing?

2. Does the governing committee meet in regularly scheduled meetings, and
are clear written minutes kept of all their meetings?

3. Is sufficient information provided to the governing committee in a manner
that allows adequate and timely monitoring?

4. |s the governing committee advised of sensitive information, investigations,
or improper acts of employees on a timely basis?

5. Does the governing committee take sufficient follow-up action when needed?

6. Do management and the governing committee take measures to minimize
the organization’s exposure to potentially contentious legal issues?

7. Does the entity have a current approved organization chart?
8. Is the organizational structure appropriate for the entity’s size and function?

9. Does top management demonstrate a concern for internal control by
performing important internal control activities?

10. Does top management encourage and support compliance with
denominational working policies?

11. Does management use conservative accounting assumptions in
preparing financial reports?

12. Does management seek outside counsel and adequate discussion when
faced with potentially contentious accounting issues?

13. Does management use a conservative approach to the investment of funds?
14. |s the entity free from external influences (e.g., tax regulations, bank
loan covenants) that could generate pressure on management to

modify normal accounting and reporting policies?

15. Has management established a control environment that minimizes biases
that may affect accounting estimates and other judgments?

16. Are background checks made before hiring key employees, and are the
results of these investigations adequately considered by management?

17. Are there regular evaluations of personnel performance?
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Appendix 3A.01  General Internal Control Questions
I. Control Environment (continued) YES NO N/A

18. Does the workload permit management and accounting personnel the
time to be alert to the quality of their work?

19. Are controls over the authorization of transactions established at an
appropriate level of management?

20. Are there procedures to ensure a smooth transition of duties in the event
that key treasury or accounting personnel leave employment?

21. Has a formal code of conduct been adopted, with policies on conflicts of interest,
and are employees required to make a declaration of compliance with it?

22. Do accounting personnel appear to have the background, education, and
experience appropriate for their assigned duties?

23. Is adequate training provided for new accounting personnel?
24. Do job descriptions exist, listing specific responsibilities for key personnel?

25. Have employee job responsibilities including specific duties, reporting
relationships, and constraints been clearly communicated to them?

26. Are accounting personnel required to take mandatory vacations, and are
their duties rotated when they are on vacation?

27. Do personnel have a clear understanding of the types of problems that
should be reported to management or the governing committee?

28. Are employees encouraged to report suspected improprieties to
management or the governing committee?

Il. Control Activities

1. Has management identified risks relevant to the financial reporting process?

2. Has management identified risks associated with safeguarding of assets?

3. Does management have a plan to manage the risks they have identified?

4. If there are risks relevant to financial reporting that management has
decided to accept because of cost or other considerations, are the

effects considered to be immaterial to the financial statements?

5. Does management or the governing committee take appropriate follow-up
action for identified problems or weaknesses in internal controls?

6. Do employees (including management) keep personal accounts and
transactions separate from those of the entity?
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Appendix 3A.01  General Internal Control Questions
Il. Control Activities (continued) YES NO N/A

7. Has the entity purchased a fidelity bond covering all employees who handle
cash, securities, and other valuable assets?

8. Is the segregation of duties sufficient, given the size and complexity of the
organization and treasurer involvement, to avoid incompatible duties within:
the accounting function?
computer operations and programming functions?
9. Are budgets approved by the governing committee?

10. Are financial statements prepared at frequent regular intervals?

11. Do management and the governing committee compare actual results
with budgets at regular intervals?

12. Are significant accounting estimates reviewed and approved by senior treasury
personnel?

13. Are all journal entries approved before entry?

14. Does someone independent of the related accounting function analyze and
reconcile significant accounts on a timely basis?

15. Are periodic comparisons made between actual assets and recorded assets?

16. If significant donations or other revenue are received in cash, are there
adequate procedures to protect against theft or loss?

17. Are there sufficient procedures to ensure that restricted donations are
properly identified and recorded?

18. Are there sufficient procedures to ensure that management monitors
compliance with donor-restricted and committee-designated resources?

19. Has management established policies and procedures to accept and
utilize comments or complaints from constituents or other third parties?

20. Has the nature of the entity’s computer information system been considered
in deciding which control procedures to implement?

21. Have appropriate information systems contingency plans been developed
to ensure continued operation in the event of a disaster?

22. Are there policies and procedures that limit access of personnel to data,
computer equipment, and computer programs?

23. Has management established procedures for authorizing transactions
and approving changes to computer programs?
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Appendix 3A.02 Questions Related To Computerized Information Systems

The following questions are designed to help the governing committee evaluate internal controls that relate to a
computerized information system. Problems that might occur with any computer system include: human errors,
hardware or software failures, computer abuse, and catastrophe.

and “no” answers indicate potential weaknesses.

1.

Organizational Controls

Is the information systems (IS) department structurally independent of the
departments it serves?

Are IS personnel prohibited from initiating or authorizing accounting or
financial transactions?

Are IS personnel prohibited from initiating changes to master files, or are
appropriate procedures followed to control such changes?

Are reports of changes given to departments that initiated the changes?

Are appropriate procedures followed when IS personnel make corrections
to errors in data files or software applications?

Is there adequate separation of duties between programmers, system
administrators, and computer users?

Are the duties of IS personnel rotated periodically?

Are IS personnel required to take annual vacations of at least one continuous week, and
during the vacationing person’s absence are their duties performed by other personnel?

. Access Controls

Is a specific employee assigned the responsibility for IS security?

Are there adequate physical controls to ensure that access to
computer facilities is restricted to authorized personnel?

Are programmers restricted from access to live operations and data files?

Are procedures in place to prevent testing of new or revised software
applications on live current data files?

Are software users prohibited from having access to source code
and programming documentation?

Is access to application processing parameter databases restricted to
authorized personnel?

Are software utilities that can alter data or applications adequately
controlled, and is their usage logged for subsequent review?

Is access control software used for terminals and workstations so that:
a. Access is limited to specified persons?

b. Individuals have access to only those applications
or files that are necessary to perform their duties?
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“Yes” answers indicate desirable conditions,
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Appendix 3A.02

9.

10.

11.

12.

13.

14.

15.

16.

17.

Access Controls (continued)
If passwords are used to control terminal or workstation access:

a. Are procedures established to determine that those
passwords are confidential and unique?

b. Are passwords changed at regular intervals?

c. Are passwords promptly cancelled for terminated employees?
When IS personnel are terminated:

a. Are they released from sensitive duties immediately?

b. Is their access to the IS system suspended immediately?

c. Are their actions appropriately supervised until their departure from the premises?

Are there procedures to prevent remote access to the network
through dial-up, Internet, VPN, or other means?

If confidential or sensitive data is transmitted via public carrier networks, are protection
methods (carrier security, encryption, etc.) used to prevent or detect unauthorized access?

For internal network traffic, are procedures that are commensurate
with data sensitivity in place to provide security over transmission
of data across the network?

Are intrusion detection systems in place on the internal network?

Has all data been classified and has appropriate risk ranking been established

to support and provide evidence for network security controls?

For centralized data centers, are there appropriate controls over
access to system administrator instruction manuals?

For decentralized client server systems, are there appropriate
education, training, and support materials available over the server
for the system administrator and security administrator?

Operational Controls

. Are schedules prepared and followed for processing of data through

specified software applications?

Are changes to work schedules appropriately authorized?

Are logs used to record system administrator activities?

Are system administrators required to report system failures, restart

and recovery, or other unusual incidents, and are those reports
reviewed by an appropriate official?
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Questions Related To Computerized Information Systems
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Appendix 3A.02 Questions Related To Computerized Information Systems

5.

10.

11.

Operational Controls (continued)

Are system administrator instruction manuals available to each
system administrator?

Are there appropriate procedures to monitor system administrator
compliance with prescribed operating procedures?

Are there appropriate procedures for back-up and storage of
software applications and data files?

Is there documented background screening of IS personnel?
Are periodic security briefings provided for IS personnel?

Are there appropriate procedures to prevent test versions of
software applications from being run on live current data, and
to control such tests when it is necessary to run them?

Are there appropriate controls for situations when outside third parties
(such as vendors from whom software is licensed) are permitted to
sign on to the client’s system, for example, to perform problem
detection and resolution procedures?

. Disaster Recovery and Contingency Planning

. Have contingency plans been developed for alternative processing

in the event of loss or interruption of the IS function?

If contingency plans have been developed, have they been tested
for adequacy in the event of a disaster?

Is off-premises storage maintained for:

a. Master files and transaction files sufficient to recreate
the current master files?

b. Application software and related documentation?
c. Copies of the contingency plans?

Are copies of the backup files for the following items tested periodically
to make certain they are usable:

a. Software copies?
b. Master files?

¢. Transaction or transaction history files?

Do contingency plans include procedures for replacing employees who

may be injured or otherwise unavailable as the result of a disaster?
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YES NO N/A
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Appendix 3B - Resources for Audit Committees

Audit committees can find many resources on the Internet to help them learn more about their roles,
responsibilities, and functions. Some of the resources available are listed below, in alphabetical sequence.

American Institute of Certified Public Accountants www.aicpa.org

The AICPA has developed an Audit Committee Toolkit to aid audit committee members in performing their
functions. The AICPA produces publications on accounting, financial reporting, technology, and other relevant
topics.
Some additional online resources useful to audit committees include:

Audit Committee Effectiveness Center at www.aicpa.org/acec

Anti-fraud and Corporate Responsibility Resource Center at www.aicpa.org/antifraud

Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission www.coso.org

The Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO) is a voluntary private-sector
organization dedicated to improving the quality of financial reporting through business ethics, effective internal
controls, and corporate governance. Originally formed in 1985 to sponsor the National Commission on
Fraudulent Financial Reporting, COSO has released numerous influential publications, including Internal
Control—Integrated Framework.

Conference Board www.conference-board.com

The Conference Board is a global, independent membership organization that creates and disseminates
knowledge about management and the marketplace to help businesses strengthen their performance and better
serve society. They conduct research, convene conferences, make forecasts, assess trends, publish information
and analysis, and bring executives together to learn from one another.

Ethics Resources Center www.ethics.org

The Ethics Resources Center (ERC) is a nonprofit, nonpartisan educational organization whose vision is a world
where individuals and organizations act with integrity. Their mission is to strengthen ethical leadership worldwide
by providing leading-edge expertise and services through research, education and partnerships. Especially
useful are their resources on business and organizational ethics.

Financial Executives International www.fei.org

Financial Executives International (FEI) is a professional association for senior level financial executives including
chief financial officers, VPs of Finance, Controllers, Treasurers, and Tax Executives. They provide peer
networking opportunities, emerging issues alerts, personal and professional development and advocacy services.

Institute of Management Accountants (IMA) www.imanet.org

The Institute of Management Accountants (IMA) is a professional organization devoted to management
accounting and financial management. Its goals are to help members develop both personally and professionally,
by means of education, certification, and association with other business professionals. A respected leader within
the global financial community, the IMA influences the concepts and ethical practices in management accounting
and financial management.

IT Governance Institute www.itgi.org

Established by the Information Systems Audit and Control Association and Foundation (ISACA) in 1998, the IT
Governance Institute (ITGI) exists to assist enterprise leaders in understanding and guiding the role of IT in their
organizations. ITGI helps senior executives to ensure that IT goals align with those of the business, deliver value,
and perform efficiently, while IT resources are properly allocated and its risks mitigated. Through original
research, symposia and electronic resources, ITGI helps ensure that boards and executive management have the
tools and information they need to effectively manage the IT function.
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Section 401 - The Goal - Required Financial Reports

401.01 General-use Financial Reports - The account structure must ultimately support preparation of the
required financial statements. This includes combining all funds of an organization that uses fund accounting,
and consolidating or combining affiliated organizations when appropriate. The required statements consist of a
statement of financial position, statement of financial activity, statement of changes in net assets, and statement
of cash flows. For organizations that use fund accounting, these statements will generally display the funds in
columns, as illustrated in the Appendices for the different types of organizations. Usually, there will be columns
with comparative totals for the organization as a whole for the current and prior years.

401.02 Reports for Single Funds - As building blocks for the general-use statements, the account structure
must support the preparation of the same four statements (financial position, financial activity, changes in net
assets, and cash flows) for each fund that is used. It should support the preparation of detail schedules for each
line item in those financial statements. It should also be able to generate the expanded detail of operating fund
activity illustrated by Note 18 in Appendix 17A.05. Further, as an optional report, the system should be able to
generate a schedule of activity by both object and function, as illustrated in Appendix 17E.07.

401.03 Asset and Liability Schedules - The statement of financial position normally contains a line for each
specific type of asset, liability, and net assets. Subtotals and totals are calculated for major groups of accounts.
To support this data, the account structure should provide for preparation of schedules listing the individual
accounts and balances that make up each total or sub-total. Although it should have the capability of producing
schedules for all assets and liabilities, the system should have the flexibility to allow management to produce only
selected schedules, based on the needs of management and the governing committee.

401.04 Financial Activity Schedules - The statement of financial activity contains a line for each category of
revenue, each type of expense, and each gain, loss, or transfer category. Unless country-specific standards
require a specific presentation, denominational entities can choose whether to present expenses by object or by
function. Each schedule of financial activity by object should indicate which fund or function it relates to. The
system should be able to produce a schedule of financial activity for each function, which would report beginning
balance, revenue and expense items, gains and losses, transfers, and ending balance for that function.

The connection between these schedules for individual functions and the overall statement of financial activity
is reflected in the statement of changes in net assets. To support these various types of reports, every account in

the account structure must be linked in some manner to an object as well as to a function.
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401.05 Statement of Cash Flows - The statement of cash flows is an analytical tool that focuses on receipts

and payments of cash and cash equivalents. Because it presents data that is calculated or taken from the other

financial statements, it is not generated solely from the account structure.

Section 402 - Account Structure Definitions

402.01 Rationale for Structure - Because the financial statements are compiled from the accounting ledger,
the account structure must be organized in a manner that identifies and arranges the accounts to correspond to
the required financial statements. To allow a variety of reports to be generated for management and general use,
the denomination has adopted a four-segment account structure. To ensure comparability, this four-segment
account structure is to be used by all entities.

402.02 Essential Segments - The four essential segments of the account structure are: Fund, Function,
Restriction, and Object. This Manual recognizes that various accounting software may arrange the account
structure segments in different ways. For example, the SunPlus software configured and recommended by the
GC starts with the Object (called the Class Code) and uses “analysis codes” to designate the fund, function, and
restriction segments. Other software may use a different approach, such as entering segment numbers as part of
one overall account number. Under that approach, the segments of the account number would usually be
arranged in sequence by Fund, Function, Restriction, and Object. Regardless of the software used to produce
the financial reports, the account structure must incorporate this four-segment approach.

402.03 Funds - Funds are large groups of accounts that have all the necessary elements of a self balancing
ledger; assets, liabilities, net assets, revenue, and expenses. Regardless of how many funds are used, each one
must follow the principle of being a self-balancing ledger. Some kinds of organizations use only one fund, while
others use a number of funds within the concept of fund accounting (see Section 205.01). For each fund, the
account structure should allow the entity to produce financial reports and supporting schedules as described in
Chapter 7. For entities with multiple funds, the account structure should be applied uniformly, so that they can
easily generate the general-use financial statements described in Chapter 6. For entities that have only a single
fund, the accounting software may provide for omitting the fund segment.

402.04 Functions - Functions are groups of accounts that identify and help analyze the financial activity for a
specific department, program, or cost center. Functions encompass the activity of committee-allocated funds as
well as unallocated funds and other groupings of activity as desired. Each function will contain related accounts

for beginning balance, revenue, expenses, and if applicable, transfers, which will allow the system to calculate
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each function’s ending balance. The account structure should allow the entity to produce a schedule of financial
activity for each function, as described in Chapter 7. Functions are grouped into categories that relate to specific
line items in the statement of financial activity. Functions may be added as needed, but must conform to the
categories specified in the required financial statements for each type of organization.

402.05 Restrictions - The restriction segment identifies specific purposes for financial activity and related
net asset accounts, and indicates the account is either tithe, non-tithe, or donor-restricted. (See Section 202.04
regarding the distinction between donor-restricted and committee-allocated resources.) For asset and liability
accounts, the accounting software can either omit the restriction segment or use a zero to designate such
accounts. See Chapters 6 and 15 for further discussion about how to identify these characteristics.

402.06 Objects - Objects are a means of identifying specific assets, liabilities, balances, income, expenses,
gains, losses, and transfers regardless of the fund or function they relate to. Objects may be divided into general,
specific, and sub-classifications, as necessary. The numbering of the objects has been designed to sort accounts
and produce financial reports in the required formats. By their nature, similar objects will be repeated across
different functions and funds. To prepare computer-generated reports, the object number will be either the least
significant or the most significant segment to be sorted, depending on the report desired.

The object segment uses a minimum of 3 digits, but can be expanded as needed. For accounts like cash,
investments, and receivables (if a subsidiary ledger is not used), the number would be expanded to provide
ledger accounts for each actual account within the various categories. For example, if the entity held fewer than
ten bank checking accounts, object 102 could be expanded into a range of numbers from 1021 to 1029 for the
bank accounts. If the entity held more than 100 accounts of a particular type, they would probably use at least 6
digits for each object number. For example, if the entity held investments in a large number of time deposits,
object 113 could be expanded into a range of numbers from 113001 to 113999 for long-term time deposits.
Section 403 - Account Structure Detail

403.01 Account Relationships - The number assigned to any account will determine where the balance for
that account will appear in the financial reports. Different segments of the number will determine which account
balances will be grouped together and totaled for different levels of reporting. For this reason it is important to
understand which reports are desired at each level of reporting and how they build on and reconcile to each other.
Every employee who is involved in the accounting process should have access to a printed copy of the account

structure for the organization, listing every account and its intended purpose.
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403.02 Activity Details - Financial activity is reported by either object or function, depending on the report
being produced. This means the accounting software must be able to sort and retrieve data on both paths
(objects and functions). The sort sequence for production of an account listing, a trial balance, general ledger
detail, and supporting schedules for financial activity would typically be: Fund; Function; Restriction; Object. The
sort sequence for production of the financial statements, and supporting schedules for assets and liabilities,
however, would typically be: Object; Fund; Function; Restriction.

403.03 Selection of Software To encourage uniformity and comparability, the denomination has modified a
software application (known as SunPlus) to implement this account structure, and has made that software
available to all denominational entities. Although organizations can choose to obtain other accounting software,
the GC recommends the use of SunPlus.

403.04 Segments lllustrated - The following outline defines the four segments of the account structure.
Also, for organizations that use accounting software other than SunPlus, it illustrates how the segments might be
represented by an account number. As indicated in Section 402.02, various accounting software can arrange
these segments in different ways, but the software must provide for each segment.

12.12345.1.123456 Account number; consisting of four segments, each separated by a hyphen, period, or
similar character. Each individual account will have a separate unique number.

12 XXXXX. X XXXXXX Fund; 2 digits, to separate the respective self-balancing groups of accounts. This
segment can be omitted for entities that are not required to use fund accounting.

XX. 12345 .X.XXXXXX Function; minimum of 2 digits, expandable as necessary; numbered in sequence to
group accounts according to allocated fund, department, program and support functions,
or other criteria. Numbered so that similar functions within different funds can be
combined on the same line on the financial statements.

XX XXXXX. T XXXXXX Restriction; 1 digit required, to indicate whether financial activity and net asset accounts
are restricted for the use of any particular purpose.

XX.XXXXX.X.123456 Object; minimum of 3 digits, expandable as necessary; identifying the specific account.
Numbered so that similar objects within different functions can be regrouped to provide
object totals for the organization as a whole.

The Appendices on the following pages describe this account structure in greater detail. Appendix 4A
illustrates the framework for the required account structure and the minimum level of account segments and
categories necessary to produce the required financial statements. Appendix 4B describes the way in which
SunPlus, the accounting software recommended by the GC, implements the four-segment account structure.
Appendix 4C is a sample chart of accounts that illustrates the ranges of account numbers that might be used, but
is not intended to include every possible account. It is recommended that groupings of subsidiary or related
accounts be alphabetized to facilitate accounting. To avoid potentially misleading or incorrect financial
statements, the selected ranges of numbers must conform to the required account structure framework.
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Appendix 4A - Framework for Required Account Structure

This appendix illustrates the minimum structure necessary to produce the financial statements required by this
Manual. It is understood that SunPlus and similar software may not use the full-segment account number, but will
maintain the indicated account structure and category relationships. It is also expected that accounting software
that does use a full-segment account number will apply the following illustration as the required minimum account
numbering. As long as this minimum required structure is used, accounting software can incorporate any detail or
process that accomplishes the financial reporting objectives of this Manual.

12.12345.1.123456 Account number consisting of four segments, each expandable as necessary

12 XXXXX. X XXXXXX Fund (Operating, Plant, Endowment, Annuity, etc.)

XX.12345.X.XXXXXX Function (Unallocated and Committee-Allocated Programs or Departments)
XX XXXXX. T XXXXXX Restriction (Tithe, Non-tithe, and Donor-Restricted)

XX.XXXXX.X.123456 Object (checking account, account payable, revenue, employee salary, etc.)

Minimum Account Segments and Categories

Fund Segment (Self-balancing set of accounts separated for management purposes) (2 digits)

1x Operating Fund(s) (For organizations that use fund accounting)
2x Plant Funds

3x (reserved for future use)

4x Endowment Funds

5x (reserved for future use)

6x Demand Funds

7x Charitable Gift Annuities

8x Charitable Remainder Trusts

9x Retirement Funds

Function Segment (Identifies areas of activity or specific purpose) (minimum 2 digits, expandable)

0x Undesignated (Unallocated - not yet designated for a Specific Purpose)
01 Unallocated Tithe

02 Unallocated Non-Tithe

1x-9x Designated (Allocated - Specific Purposes - Areas of Activity)
1x Program Services (Operating)

11 Church and Evangelistic Programs

12 Education Programs

13 Publishing Programs

14 Medical and Health Programs

15 Humanitarian Programs

18 Other Programs

3x General Supporting Services (Operating)

32 Conventions and Meetings

34 Employee Hospital and Health Benefit Programs

35 Employee Defined Benefit Retirement Plan Contributions
36 Fund-Raising

39 General Administration

4x Auxiliary Operations

41 Conference Auxiliary Operations

42 Educational Auxiliary Operations

7x Contingencies (Operating)

73 Investments Value Fluctuation Allocated Fund

75 Currency Exchange Fluctuation Allocated Fund

8x Independent Operations
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Appendix 4A - Framework for Required Account Structure (continued)

Function Segment (continued)

9x Non-Operating Functions

90 Investment in Plant Function

91 Unexpended Plant Capital Functions
92 Pooled Investment Functions

93 Gift Annuities Functions

94 Endowment Functions

95 Agency Functions

96 Revolving Loan Fund Functions

97 Irrevocable Trusts

98 Revocable Trusts

Restriction Segment (Identifies restriction on financial activity and net asset accounts) (1 digit)
Assets and Liabilities (Asset and liability accounts use zero as a default)

Tithe (Quasi-restricted)

Non-tithe (Unrestricted)

Temporarily Restricted (Donor Restricted for Programs or Departments)

Permanently Restricted (Donor Restricted Endowments or Similar)

O~NN=-O

Object Segment (description of the actual account) (minimum 3 digits, expandable)

ASSETS
1xx Current Assets
10x Cash and Cash Equivalents
11x Investments
119 Unrealized Appreciation (Decline) in Fair Value
120 Remittances Receivable (Tithe and Offerings)
13x Accounts Receivable (current)
14x Accrued Receivables
15x Notes and Loans Receivable (current)
16x Inventories
17x Prepaid Expenses
18x Other Assets (current)
19x Inter-Fund Receivables (current)

2xx Long-term Assets
20x Plant Assets (cost and accumulated depreciation accounts)

240 Accounts Receivable (long-term)

250 Notes and Loans Receivable (long-term)

259 Allowance for Uncollectible Notes and Loans

280 Other Long-term Assets

290 Inter-Fund Receivables (long-term)
LIABILITIES

3xx Current Liabilities

320 Remittances Payable (Tithe and Offerings)

33x Accounts Payable

34x Accrued Payables

35x Notes and Loans Payable (current)

36x Offering Funds and Agency Accounts

37x Deferred Revenue

38x Other Current Liabilities
39x Inter-Fund Payables (current)
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Appendix 4A - Framework for Required Account Structure (continued)

Object Segment (continued)

4xx Long-term Liabilities

44x Leases Payable

45x Notes and Loans Payable (long-term)
48x Other Long-term Liabilities

49x Inter-Fund Payables (long-term)

NET ASSETS
5xx Net Assets
51x Prior Year Adjustment
55x Principal Corpus
59x Suspense (Used only for importing data)

REVENUE

6xx-7xx  Revenue and Increases

60x Net Sales (including gross sales and cost of goods sold)

61x Tithe (including gross tithe and percentages passed on)

620 Academic Tuition

63x Non-tithe Offerings and Donations

65x Appropriations and Subsidies Received from SDA Organizations
66x Subsidies and Grants Received from Non-SDA Organizations
67x Direct Operating Income

71x Investment Income

711 Investment Earnings [expandable]
712 Realized Gain on Sale of Investments
715 Unrealized Gain in Fair Value of Investments

73x Irrevocable Split-Interest Agreements Additions
74x Endowment Additions

75x Currency Fluctuation Gains

76x Additions to Unexpended Plant Assets

77x Additions to Investment in Plant Assets

78x Other Income

781 Retirement Plan Contribution Income

790 Restricted Income Released

EXPENDITURES

8xx-9xx  Expenses and Deductions

80x Advertising and Selling Expenses

81x Employee Related Expenses

811 Salary and Allowances

812 Contributions Made To Retirement Plans
82x Travel Expenses

83x Appropriations Made to SDA Organizations
84x Student Grants and Scholarships

850 Other Appropriations Made

86x Program Specific Expenses

87x Administrative Expense

88x Office Expenses

89x General Expenses

90x Plant Operation and Maintenance
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Appendix 4A - Framework for Required Account Structure (continued)

Object Segment (continued)

91x Investment Deductions

912 Realized Loss on Sale of Investments

915 Unrealized Loss in Fair Value of Investments
93x Irrevocable Split-Interest Agreements Deductions
94x Endowment Deductions

95x Currency Fluctuation Losses

96x Deductions from Unexpended Plant Assets

97x Deductions from Investment in Plant Assets

98x Other Expenses

981 Retirement Plan Benefit Payments

TRANSFERS
99x Transfers
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Appendix 4B - Account Structure for Users of SunPlus Software

The SunPlus account structure consists of four essential segments, with function and object codes expandable as
necessary. The account “number” consists of the Object segment; “analysis codes” are used to select or specify
the other three segments for each transaction being entered into the accounting system. SunPlus provides for
additional optional segments for use by management when desired to produce detailed information for
management analysis.

The four essential segments are:

Object (checking account, account payable, donation revenue, employee salary expense, etc.)
Fund (Operating, Plant, Endowment, Annuity, etc.)

Function (Unallocated and Committee-Allocated Programs or Departments)

Restriction (Tithe, Non-tithe, and Donor-Restricted)

Object Segment [called the Class Code] (description of the actual account)

(minimum 3 digits required, expandable as needed)

[see Section 402.06 for a discussion of how and when to expand the object segment]
ASSETS

1xx Current Assets
100 Cash and Cash Equivalents

101 Cash on Hand [expandable]

102 Bank and Checking Accounts [expandable]

103 Savings and Interest-bearing Accounts [expandable]

104 Time Deposits - due in 3 months or less [expandable]
105 Money Market Accounts - due on demand [expandable]
106 Government Bills and Bonds - due in 3 months or less [expandable]
107 Commercial Paper Accounts [expandable]

108 Other Cash Equivalents

109 Allowance for Government Currency Restrictions

110 Investments

111 General Conference Unitized Funds

1111 Bond Fund

1112 Emerging Markets Fund

1113 Income Fund

1114 International Fund

1115 Investment Fund

1116 Large Cap Equity Fund

1117 Small Cap Equity Fund

113 Time Deposits - terms longer than 3 months [expandable]
114 Mutual Funds [expandable]

115 Government Bonds - terms longer than 3 months [expandable]
116 Corporate Bonds [expandable]

117 Equity Securities [expandable]

118 Other Investments

119 Unrealized Appreciation (Decline) in Fair Value

[expandable to provide accounts related to each group of instruments, by type, such as unitized
funds, mutual funds, bonds, stocks, etc.]

120 Remittances Receivable (Tithe and Offerings)

122 R/R: SDA Organizations

130 Accounts Receivable
The Manual requires a separate account to be established for each individual debtor, separated
into four basic groups by type of debtor.

132 A/R: SDA Organizations
For receivables from other SDA entities, SunPlus begins with the Organization Identification
Number for each entity, and then uses an analysis code to link to the specific receivable group.
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Appendix 4B - SunPlus Users - Object Segment (continued)

133 A/R: Employees
For receivables from employees, SunPlus begins with the letter “E” and uses a combination of
the first three letters of the specific employee’s last name along with the first letter of the first
name for the account number. Then it uses an analysis code to link to the specific receivable
group.

134 A/R: Students
For receivables from students, SunPlus begins with the letter “S” and uses a combination of the
first three letters of the specific student’s last name along with the first letter of the first name for
the account number. Then it uses an analysis code to link to the specific receivable group.

135 A/R: Customers
For other receivables, SunPlus begins with the letter “D” and uses the same combination of
letters from the debtor’s name as with employees or students for the account number. Then it
uses an analysis code to link to the specific receivable group.

137 Not Used by Sun (Placeholder for Vendor A/P debit balances)
138 Not Used by Sun (Other Accounts Receivable)
139 Allowance for Uncollectible Accounts

140 Accrued Receivables

141 Accrued Interest Receivable

148 Other Accrued Receivables

150 Notes and Loans Receivable (current)

152 N/R: SDA Organizations (current)

153 N/R: Employees (current)

158 Other Notes Receivable (current)

159 Allowance for Uncollectible Notes and Loans (current)
160 Inventories

162 Merchandise Inventory

165 Supplies Inventory

167 Livestock Inventory

170 Prepaid Expenses

171 Prepaid Insurance

175 Prepaid Taxes

178 Other Prepaid Expenses

180 Other Assets (current)

181 Deposits (current)

182 Disposable Assets (current)

186 Investments Held for Others (Asset)

190 Inter-Fund Receivables (current)

191 Inter-Fund Accounts Receivable (current)

197 Inter-Fund Loans Receivable (current)

2xX Long-term Assets
200 Plant Assets (net book value)

201 Land

202 Land Improvements

203 Buildings and Fixtures

204 Residences

205 Furnishings and Equipment

206 Vehicles

207 Church and School Properties (title held for local church)
208 Other Plant Assets

209 Accumulated Depreciation

209202 Land Improvements

209203 Buildings and Fixtures
209204 Residences

209205 Furnishings and Equipment
209206 Vehicles

209207 Church and School Properties

209208 Other Plant Assets
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Appendix 4B - SunPlus Users - Object Segment (continued)

240
250

252
253
258
259
280
281
282
283
284
286
288
289
290
297

3XxX
320
322
330
331

332
333
334
335
338
339
340
341
343
345
348
350
352
353
358
360
361

363

Accounts Receivable (long-term)
Notes and Loans Receivable (long-term)
Similar to accounts receivable, SunPlus uses analysis codes to link the object code to identifiers
for specific debtors.
N/R: SDA Organizations (long-term)
N/R: Employees (long-term)
Other Notes and Loans Receivable (long-term)
Allowance for Uncollectible Notes/Loans
Other Long-term Assets
Long-term Deposits
Disposable Assets (long-term)
Life Insurance Cash Surrender Value
Unconditional Irrevocable Agreements
Long-term Assets Held For Others
Other Long-term Assets
Intangibles
Inter-Fund Receivables (long-term)
Inter-Fund Loans Receivable (long-term)

LIABILITIES

Current Liabilities
Remittances Payable (Tithe and Offerings)
R/P: SDA Organizations
Accounts Payable
A/P: Creditors and Vendors
Similar to receivables, the Manual requires a separate account to be established for each
individual creditor. SunPlus begins with the letter “C” or “V” with the first three letters of the
specific creditor's name. Then it uses an analysis code to link to the specific payable group.
Not Used by SunPlus (Placeholder for SDA Organizations A/R credit balances)
Not Used by SunPlus (Placeholder for Employee A/R credit balances)
Not Used by SunPlus (Placeholder for Student A/R credit balances)
Not Used by SunPlus (Placeholder for Customer A/R credit balances)
Not Used by SunPlus (Other Accounts Payable)
Not Used by SunPlus (Placeholder for Bank Overdraft balance)
Accrued Payables
Accrued Interest Payable
Accrued Payroll
Accrued Payroll Taxes
Other Accrued Payables
Notes and Loans Payable (current)
N/P: SDA Organizations (current)
N/P: Employees (current)
Other Notes and Loans Payable (current)
Offering Funds and Agency Accounts
Offering Funds Remittance Clearing
The Manual requires the system to be able to identify and report beginning balance, receipts,
disbursements, and ending balance for each church offering fund. SunPlus starts with the
number 361, and then uses analysis codes to identify the transaction as either beginning balance,
receipt, or disbursement. It then calculates the ending balance.
Conference or Institution Agency Accounts
Similar to accounts payable, the Manual requires a separate account for each provider or
depositor of agency funds. SunPlus starts with the number 363, and then uses analysis codes to
link to an ID code or name code for the provider who directs the use of the agency account.
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Appendix 4B - SunPlus Users - Object Segment (continued)

364 Student Bank
Similar to receivables from students, the Manual requires a separate account for each student
“bank” account. SunPlus starts with the number 364, and then uses analysis codes to link to the
specific student’s last name.
368 Other Agency Accounts
For other agency accounts, the Manual requires a separate account for each provider. SunPlus
starts with the number 368, and then uses analysis codes to link to ID codes for each provider.
370 Deferred Revenue

371 Deferred Operating Income

372 Deferred Operating Donations

373 Deferred Capital Donations

380 Other Current Liabilities

381 Deposits (current)

386 Investments Held for Others (Liability)
390 Inter-Fund Payables (current)

391 Inter-Fund Accounts Payable (current)
397 Inter-Fund Loans Payable (current)

4xx Long-term Liabilities

440 Leases Payable

441 Capital Leases Payable

450 Notes and Loans Payable (long-term)
Similar to loans receivable, SunPlus uses analysis codes to link the object code to identifiers for
specific creditors.

452 N/P: SDA Organizations (long-term)
453 N/P: Employees (long-term)
458 Other Notes and Loans Payable (long-term)
480 Other Long-term Liabilities
481 Deposits (long-term)
484 Present Value Liability Split-Interest Agreements
485 Liabilities to Residual Beneficiaries Split-Interest Agreements
486 Long-term Liabilities Held For Others
490 Inter-Fund Payables (long-term)
497 Inter-Fund Loans Payable (long-term)
NET ASSETS
5xx Net Assets
50 Operating Fund Balance
5000 Retirement Fund Balance
5001 Regular Fund Balance
500100 Fund Balance
51x Prior Year Adjustment
519 Prior Year Adjustment
54x Agency/Demand
541 A/D Additions
546 A/D Withdrawals
55x Principal Corpus
551 Revocable Trust Assets Received
556 Revocable Trust Distributions
5561 Matured Trust Distributions
5563 Revocable Trust Assets Returned
5565 Payments on Behalf of Trustors

590 Suspense
599 Suspense -Used only for importing data
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Appendix 4B - SunPlus Users - Object Segment (continued)
REVENUE

6XX Revenue and Increases
600 Net Sales (including departmental sales)

601 Sales [expandable to provide individual accounts by sales product line]
603 Cost of Goods Sold [expandable to match sales detail by product line]
610 Tithe (Net)

611 Gross Tithe - Local Churches

612 Gross Tithe - Direct

616 Tithe Percentages From Lower Denominational Entities

617 Tithe Percentages To Higher Denominational Entities

619 Tithe - Non-tithe Exchange

620 Academic Tuition
630 Non-tithe Offerings and Donations

631 World Offerings Received

632 Division Offerings Received

633 Union Offerings Received

634 Conference Offerings Received

635 Local Church Offerings Received

638 Non-tithe Donations Received

650 Appropriations and Subsidies Received from SDA Organizations
651 Tithe Operating Appropriations Received

654 Non-tithe Operating appropriations Received
657 Capital Appropriations Received

658 Other Appropriations and Subsidies Received
660 Subsidies and Grants Received from Non-SDA Organizations
666 Government Appropriations Received

668 Other Appropriations Received from non-SDA Organizations
670 Direct Operating Income

671 Services Income

672 Incidental Department Sales

673 Fees Charged to Individuals

6731 School Fees (other than tuition)

6732 Campmeeting Fees

6733 Youth Camp Fees

674 Cost-sharing Charged to Church Schools

675 Finance Charge Income

676 Shipping and Handling Income

677 Rent Income

678 Other Direct Operating Income

710 Investment Income

711 Investment Earnings

712 Realized Gain on Sale of Investments

715 Unrealized Gain in Fair Value of Investments
720 Matured Deferred Gifts

722 Matured Wills

724 Matured Trusts

726 Matured Annuities

730 Irrevocable Split-Interest Agreements Additions
731 New Annuity Gift Portion

732 Annuity Adjustment from Present Value

735 New Split-Interest Agreements

736 Additions to Split-Interest Agreements

737 Split Interest Agreement Adjustment from Present Value
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Appendix 4B - SunPlus Users - Object Segment (continued)

740 Endowment Additions

741 New Endowments

745 Additions to Endowments

750 Currency Fluctuation Gains

751 General Currency Fluctuation Gains

752 Operating Appropriation Currency Fluctuation Gains

755 Capital Appropriation Currency Fluctuation Gains

760 Additions to Unexpended Plant Assets

761 Insurance Proceeds: Property Loss

762 Proceeds from Sale of Plant Assets

762245 PSPA: Equipment

766 Proceeds From Loans

768 Other Additions to Unexpended Plant Assets

770 Additions to Investment in Plant Assets

772 Donated Plant Assets

773 Value of Plant Assets Purchased

773225 Assets Acquired (25)

774 Church and School Properties Added

776 Loan Principal Reductions

778 Other Additions to Investment in Plant Assets

778225 Assets Sold Net Gain (25)

780 Other Income

781 Retirement Plan Contribution Income

7811 DB Plan - Tithe-based Contribution Revenue, by entity
7812 DB Plan - Payroll-based Contribution Revenue, by entity
7813 DB Plan - Contributions to Cover Retirement (Severance) Allowances
7814 DB Plan - Contributions for Other Types of Benefits
7815 DC Plan - Employer Basic Contribution Revenue

7816 DC Plan - Employer Matching Contribution Revenue
7817 DC Plan - Employee Voluntary Contribution Revenue

The Manual requires the system to record contribution revenue by type of contribution, and
for defined benefit plans, also by participating employer. SunPlus starts with the number for
the type of contribution, such as 7811, then uses analysis codes to link to the ID code for the

employer.
782 Gain on Sale of Other Assets
785 Ingathering Reversion
787 Donated Services
788 Miscellaneous Other Income

790 Restricted Income Released
EXPENDITURES

8xx Expenses and Deductions
800 Advertising and Selling Expenses

801 Sales Commissions

803 Bad Debts Expense

805 Shipping and Handling Expense

807 Advertising and Promotion

808 Other Advertising and Selling Expenses
810 Employee Related Expenses

811 Salary and Allowances

8111 Basic Salary and Wage Expense
8112 Basic Allowances

8113 Housing Allowance

8114 Area Travel and Telephone Allowance
8115 Retirement (Severance) Allowance

8116 Bonuses, Holiday Gift, Farewell Gift
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Appendix 4B - SunPlus Users - Object Segment (continued)

812 Contributions Made To Retirement Plans

8121 Tithe Percentage Contributions To Defined Benefit Plans
(Tithe-based contributions due to all defined benefit plans, whether the plan is active or
frozen)

8122 Payroll-based Contributions to Defined Benefit Plans
(Payroll-based contributions due to all defined benefit plans, whether the plan is active or
frozen)

8123 Employer Basic Contributions to Defined Contribution Plans

8124 Employer Matching Contributions to Defined Contribution Plans

813 Employee Moving Expenses

8131 Moving Allowance

8132 Moving Reimbursement

8133 Direct Moving Expense

814 Dependent Scholarship Expenses

815 Employee Insurance Expense

8151 Accident Insurance

8153 Survivor Insurance

8155 Long-term Disability Insurance

8157 Worker's Compensation Insurance

8159 Other Insurance

816 Health Care Expenses

817 Employee Related Taxes

818 Other Employee Related Expenses

819 Employee Related Returns

820 Travel Expenses

822 Employee Regular Travel

823 Employee Special Travel

825 Recruitment Travel

828 Other Travel

829 Employee Travel Expense Returns

830 Appropriations and Grants Made to SDA Organizations

831 Tithe Operating Appropriations Made

834 Non-tithe Operating Appropriations Made

837 Capital Appropriations Made

838 Other Appropriations Made

840 Student Grants and Scholarships

841 Scholarships Charged to Donor-restricted or to Committee-allocated Funds

842 Scholarships Charged to Endowment Income Funds

843 Scholarships Charged to Undesignated Resources

850 Other Appropriations Made
860 Program Specific Expenses

862 Public Meetings

864 Pathfinder Programs

865 Strategic Planning

867 Youth Camp Programs

868 Other Program Expenses

870 Administrative Expense

871 Auditing Expenses

872 Committees and Meetings Expenses
875 Legal Expense

876 Public Relations

878 Other Administrative Expense
880 Office Expenses

881 Office Supplies

882 Postage and Shipping

884 Printing and Copying

887 Telecommunications and Related

888 Other Office Expenses
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890 General Expenses

893 Information Systems, Services, and Support
894 Insurance, General and Liability

896 Finance Charge Expense

897 Interest Expense

898 Other General Expenses

900 Plant Operation and Maintenance

901 Rental Expense

9011 Land Rent

9012 Building Rent

9013 Equipment Rent

902 Maintenance and Repair

9022 Land Improvement Repairs

9023 Building Repairs

9025 Equipment and Vehicle Repairs

903 Depreciation Expense

903202 Land Improvements

903203 Buildings and Fixtures

903204 Residences

903205 Furnishings and Equipment

903206 Vehicles

903207 Church and School Properties

903208 Other Plant Assets

904 Property Taxes

905 Property Insurance (other than liability coverage)
906 Vehicle Expense

907 Utilities

9071 Electricity - Gas - Fuel

9072 Water - Sewer

908 Other Plant Operation Expenses

9084 Grounds-keeping Expense

9085 Janitorial and Custodial Expense

910 Investment Deductions

911 Investment Expense

912 Realized Loss on Sale of Investments

915 Unrealized Loss in Fair Value of Investments
930 Irrevocable Split-Interest Agreements Deductions
931 Annuity Distributions

932 Split-Interest Agreements Adjustment to Present Value
935 Payments to Income Beneficiaries

937 Payments to Residual Beneficiaries

940 Endowment Deductions

941 Endowment Distributions

950 Currency Fluctuation Losses

951 General Currency Fluctuation Losses

952 Operating Appropriation Currency Fluctuation Losses
955 Capital Appropriation Currency Fluctuation Losses
960 Deductions from Unexpended Plant Assets

962 Acquisition Payments

964 Mortgage Loan Principal Payments

968 Other Deductions from Unexpended Plant Assets
970 Deductions from Investment in Plant Assets

976 New Loans Obtained

977 Net Value of Plant Assets Sold

978 Other Deductions from Investment in Plant Assets
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980

981

9811
9812
9813
9814
9815
9816
9817
9818
9819

982
988
989

990
991
992
995

997

Other Expenses

Retirement Plan Benefit Payments
DB Plan - Basic Retirement Pension, by entity
DB Plan - Retirement Allowance (Severance Benefit), by entity
DB Plan - Health Care - Reimbursed Services, by entity
DB Plan - Health Care - Reimbursed Premiums (Medicare), by entity
DB Plan - Health Care - Supplemental (in lieu of reimbursed services)
DB Plan - Death or Funeral Benefit, by entity
DB Plan - Dependent Tuition Assistance (Scholarship), by entity
DB Plan - Other Miscellaneous Benefits, by entity
DC Plan - Distribution of Participant Account Balance
The Manual requires benefit payments to be recorded by type of benefit, and for defined
benefit plans, also by territory of each participating employer. SunPlus starts with the number
for the type of benefit, such as 9811, then uses analysis codes to link to the ID code for the
employer.

Loss on Sale of Other Assets

Miscellaneous Other Expenses

Inter-department Contra-account

TRANSFERS

Transfers

Distributed Overhead

Internal Tithe Exchange

Transfers To and From Other Functions
Transfers Between Functions: The Manual requires the system to identify and accumulate
transfers received apart from transfers paid out, for each inter-function transfer account. SunPlus
starts with the number 995, and then adds the function code from the other function. It then uses
analysis codes to identify the item as either a receipt or disbursement.

Transfers To and From Other Funds
Transfers Between Funds: The Manual requires the system to identify and accumulate transfers
received apart from transfers paid out, for each inter-fund transfer account. SunPlus starts with
the number 997, and then adds the fund code from the other fund. It then uses analysis codes to
identify the item as either a receipt or disbursement.
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Fund Segment (Self-balancing set of accounts separated for management purposes)
(2 digits required)

1x Operating Fund(s) (For organizations that use fund accounting)
(Required for all conferences/missions, for all colleges and universities, and for those secondary
schools that have endowment or special funds other than Plant.)

10 General Operating
(Fund code 10 will be identified as Conference Operating, College Operating, Academy Operating,
etc., depending on the type of reporting entity.)

12 Corporation/Association Operating
(Fund code 12 will be used by only those entities that have a separately incorporated legal entity,
apart from an unincorporated operating entity.)

2x Plant Fund(s)

20 Property Fund

24 Unexpended Plant

25 Investment In Plant

27 External Properties - Used by Other Entities
3x Not Used

4x Endowment Fund(s) (True / Term / Quasi)

41 True Endowments

42 Term Endowments

49 Quasi-Endowments

5x Insurance Fund(s)
6x Demand Fund(s)
61 Agency and Demand

63 Pooled Investments

65 Revolving Loan Fund

7x Charitable Gift Annuities

71 Annuity

8x Charitable Remainder Trusts

81 Irrevocable Trusts

82 Unitrusts

88 Revocable Trusts

9x Retirement Funds

91 Defined Benefit Retirement Plans
92 Defined Contribution Retirement Plans

Function Segment (Identifies areas of activity or specific purpose)

For entities in the USA, where GAAP requires expenses to be reported by program and supporting service
functions, see the illustrated Function listing in Appendix 4C.

For entities outside the USA, SunPlus has developed a Function Segment adapted to international
needs, which uses alpha-numeric codes, and is illustrated on the following pages.
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Appendix 4B - SunPlus Users - Function Segment (alpha-numeric codes)

AF

AFC

AFO

AS
ASPRESIO1
ASSECREO1
ASTREASO1
AU
AUACCOUO01
AUTREASO1
DP
DPCHILDO1
DPCOMMUO1
DPEDUCAO1
DPMINISO1
DPPHILAO1
DPPUBLIO1
DPSABBAO1
DPSTEWAO1
DPYOUTHO1
IS
ISENGLIO1
ISBIOLOO1
ISTHEOLO1
IN
INCAFETO1
INFARMO1
INMOTORO1
DS

NO

NOI

NOIBAF
NOIFAE
NOILAN
NOILIM
NOIOPA
NOIRES
NOIVEH
NOU
NOUBAF
NOUFAE
NOULAN
NOULIM
NOUOPA
NOURES
NOUVEH

ALLOCATED FUND
ALLOCATED FUND - CAPITAL
ALLOCATED FUND - OPERATING
ADMINISTRATIVE SERVICES
Presidential
Secretariat
Treasurer
ADMINISTRATIVE SUPPORT
Accounting
Treasury
DEPARTMENTAL SERVICES
Children’s Ministries
Communication
Education
Ministerial / GM
Philanthropic
Publishing
Sabbath School / PM
Stewardship / Trust
Youth / PARL / NSO
INSTRUCTIONAL SERVICES
English Department
Biology Department
Theology Department
INDUSTRIAL SERVICES
Cafeteria
Farm
Motor Pool
DEPARTMENTAL SUPPORT
NON-OPERATING FUNCTION

INVESTMENT IN PLANT

Investment in Buildings and Fixtures
Investment in Furnishings and Equipment
Investment in Land

Investment in Land Improvements
Investment in Other Plant Assets
Investment in Residences
Investment in Vehicles (if used)

UNEXPENDED PLANT CAPITAL FUNCTIONS
Unexpended for Buildings and Fixtures
Unexpended for Furnishings and Equipment
Unexpended for Land
Unexpended for Land Improvements
Unexpended for Other Plant Assets
Unexpended for Residences
Unexpended for Vehicles

PROGRAM SERVICES

CHURCH MINISTRIES

EDUCATION PROGRAMS

EVANGELISM PROGRAMS

YOUTH PROGRAMS

SUPPORT SERVICES

UNALLOCATED FUND
Unallocated Fund Non-tithe
Unallocated Fund Tithe
Unallocated Fund Unexpended Plant
Unallocated Fund Invested in Plant

SDA Accounting Manual - January 2011 — page 48
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Restriction Segment (Identifies restriction on financial activity and net asset accounts)

[SunPlus does not ask for a restriction code on asset and liability accounts.]
(1 or 2 digits, as necessary)

0 Unrestricted (Non-tithe)
01 Unallocated Non-tithe
05 Allocated Unrestricted
07 Capital Allocated

3 Tithe (Quasi-restricted)

31 Unallocated Tithe

35 Allocated Tithe

37 Capital Allocated

7 Temporarily Restricted

75 Allocated Restricted
77 Capital Allocated Restricted

9 Permanently Restricted
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12.12345.1.123456 Account humber consisting of four segments,

with function and object numbers expandable as necessary
12.xxxxx.x.xxxxxx Fund (Operating, Plant, Endowment, Annuity, etc.)
xx.12345.x.xxxxxx Function (Unallocated and Committee-Allocated Programs or Departments)
xx.xxxxx.1.xxxxxx  Restriction (Tithe, Non-tithe, and Donor-Restricted)
xx.xxxxx.x.123456 Object (checking account, account payable, revenue, employee salary, etc.)

This appendix uses bold italic font to highlight the required components of the account structure, and
then illustrates possible expanded digits as an example of account numbering that might be used. The
expanded portion of the Function segment in these account nhumbers is illustrated for entities that are
required to report activity by program and supporting service functions.

Detailed Chart of Accounts
Fund Segment (Self-balancing set of accounts separated for management purposes) (2 digits required)

1x Operating Fund(s) (For organizations that use fund accounting)
(Required for all conferences/missions, and for all colleges and universities.)
10 General Operating
(Fund code 10 will be identified as Conference Operating, College Operating, etc.)
12 Corporation/Association Operating
(Fund code 12 will be used by only those entities that have a separately incorporated legal entity,
apart from an unincorporated operating entity.)
2x Plant Funds

20 Plant Fund (for entities that use a single undivided plant fund)
24 Unexpended Plant
25 Investment In Plant

27 Properties Used by Other Entities
3x (reserved for future use)
4x Endowment Funds (True / Term / Quasi)

41 True Endowments
42 Term Endowments
49 Quasi-Endowments

5x Insurance Fund(s)
6x Demand Funds
61 Agency and Demand

63 Pooled Investments

65 Revolving Loan Fund

7x Charitable Gift Annuities

71 Annuity

8x Charitable Remainder Trusts

81 Irrevocable Trusts

82 Unitrusts

88 Revocable Trusts

9x Retirement Funds

91 Defined Benefit Retirement Plans
92 Defined Contribution Retirement Plans

Function Segment (Identifies areas of activity or specific purpose)
(minimum 2 digits required, expandable as needed)

0x Undesignated (Unallocated - not yet designated for a specific purpose)
o1 Unallocated Tithe

02 Unallocated Non-Tithe

05 Unallocated School Operating
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1x-9x Designated (Allocated - Specific Purposes - Areas of Activity)

1x Program Services (Operating)

11 Church & Evangelistic Programs

111 Pastoral and Ministerial Programs

1111 Pastors and Bible Workers

1113 Ministerial Interns

1118 Misc. Pastoral and Ministerial Programs
1119 Ministerial Administration

113 Evangelism Programs

1131 General Evangelism

1132 Child Evangelism

1133 Church Planting

1134 Health Evangelism

1136 Radio, TV, and Satellite Evangelism
1138 Misc. Evangelism

1139 Evangelism Administration

114 Church Ministries

1142 Children's Ministries

1143 Family Ministries and Administration
1144 Women's Ministries

1146 Sabbath School Ministries and Administration
1147 Stewardship Ministries

1148 Misc. Church Ministries Programs
1149 Church Ministries Administration
115 Youth Programs

1151 Pathfinders

1152 Task Force

1153 Youth Activities

1154 Youth Camps

1156 Youth Congress

1157 Collegiate Ministries

1158 Miscellaneous Youth Programs
1159 Youth Administration

116 Campground and Campmeeting

1162 Campground

1163 Campmeeting

117 Church Building and Equipment Funding
1172 Church Building Funding

1174 Church Equipment Funding

118 Misc. Church and Evangelistic Projects

119 Church Programs Administration

12 Education Programs

121 School Operation Funding

1212 Elementary Schools Operation Funding
1214 Secondary Schools Operation Funding
1217 College and University Operation Funding
122 Instructional Programs

1221 Classroom Instruction

12210 Various Departments

12229 Various Departments

1226 Library Operation

123 Instructional Support

1232 Curriculum Development

1237 Teacher Training
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124 Student Services

1241 Health Services

1242 Recreation and Entertainment
1243 Registrar's Office

1244 Student Insurance

125 Student Financial Aid

1251 Worthy Student

1253 Worthy Student - Special

1254 Student Aid and Loan Amortization
1256 Women's Ministries Scholarship
127 Education Building and Equipment Funding
1272 Elementary School Capital Funding
1274 Secondary School Capital Funding
1277 Higher Education Capital Funding
128 Misc. Education Projects

1288 Miscellaneous Educational

129 General Educ Institutional Support (Administration)
1291 Fund-Raising

1296 Plant Operation and Maintenance
1299 General Educational Administration

13 Publishing Programs

131 Adventist Book Center

133 Literature Evangelism Programs (HHES/FHES)
1331 Literature Evangelism Merchandise
1334 Literature Evangelism Personnel

135 Publishing and Printing

138 Misc. Publishing Projects

139 Publishing Administration

14 Medical and Health Programs

144 Health and Temperance Programs

1442 Health Programs

1443 Temperance Programs

1444 Temperance Rallies

1445 Home and Family Services

1447 Inner City

1449 Health and Temperance Administration
148 Misc. Medical and Health Projects

15 Humanitarian Programs

152 Community Service Programs

1522 Better Living Centers

1524 Community Service Centers

1525 Food Security (ADRA)

1527 Adventist Disaster Response and Preparedness
1529 Community Service Administration

153 Ingathering Reversion

158 Misc. Humanitarian Projects

18 Other Programs
181 ASI
183 Indirect Support Programs
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1831 Auditing Provided For Other Entities
1834 Information Systems, Services, and Support
(To be used for an ISS department that provides services to other entities)
1837 Union or Conference Publication
184 Religious Liberty Emergency
185 Miscellaneous Appropriations
1851 Miscellaneous Tithe Appropriations
1853 Miscellaneous Non-Tithe Appropriations
186 Employee Retirement Plan (Use for the plan itself)
188 Misc. Other Program Projects
1885 Mission Projects
1886 Native American Initiative
189 Other Programs Administration
1891 Agency Administration
1892 Annuity Administration
1893 Internal Auditing Administration
1894 Communications and PR Administration
1895 Religious Liberty Administration
1896 Revolving Fund Administration
1898 Trust Services Administration
3x General Supporting Services (Operating)
32 Conventions & Meetings
325 General Conference Session
34 Employee Hospital and Health Benefit Programs
35 Employee Defined Benefit Retirement Plan Contributions
36 Fund-Raising
39 General Administration
393 In-House Operations (Copy-Print Center, Security, etc.)
394 Loss Control
396 Office Operation and Maintenance
397 Administration Support
3971 Treasury and Accounting
3972 Information Systems and Services
(To be used by an ISS department that serves only the reporting entity)
3973 Human Resources
3974 Retirement Office (Liaison with Retirement Plan)
3975 Risk Management
398 Miscellaneous General Supporting Functions
3981 Library
3983 Switchboard
3984 Payroll Clearing
3985 Translation
3987 Transportation and Purchasing
3988 Grounds and Janitorial
399 Executive Administration
3991 Presidential
39910 President's Office
39911 Vice President A
39912 Vice President B
39913 Vice President C
3993 Secretariat

3995 Treasurer
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4x Aucxiliary Operations

41 Conference Auxiliary Operations

411 Health Food

4111 Health Food Company

4117 Food Store

412 Insurance Operations

4121 Accidental Death and Dismemberment
4123 Church Insurance

4125 Survivor Benefit Plan

413 Moving Van

414 Conference Vehicle Operations

415 Airplane Operations

416 Residence and Parsonage Rental

42 Educational Auxiliary Operations

421 Book Store

422 Student Housing

4221 Men's Dormitory

4223 Women's Dormitory

4227 Married Student Housing

423 Food Service

424 Education Vehicle Operations

425 Laundry

426 Staff Housing

428 Other Auxiliary

7x Contingencies (Operating)

71 Recommended Working Capital

73 Investments Value Fluctuation Allocated Fund
75 Currency Exchange Fluctuation Allocated Fund
78 Other Assets and Loans

8x Independent Operations

81 Sub-categories

9x Non-Operating Functions

90 Investment in Plant Function

901 Investment in Land

902 Investment in Land Improvements

903 Investment in Buildings and Fixtures
904 Investment in Residences

905 Investment in Furnishings and Equipment
906 Investment in Vehicles

907 Investment in Churches and Schools
908 Investment in Other Plant Assets

91 Unexpended Plant Capital Functions

911 Unexpended for Land

912 Unexpended for Land Improvements
913 Unexpended for Buildings and Fixtures
914 Unexpended for Residences

915 Unexpended for Furnishings and Equipment
916 Unexpended for Vehicles

917 Unexpended for Churches and Schools
918 Unexpended for Other Plant Assets

92 Pooled Investment Functions

921 Pooled Investment Activity

929 Securities Fluctuation: Investments
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93 Gift Annuities Functions

94 Endowment Functions

95 Agency Functions

96 Revolving Loan Fund Functions
962 Revolving Fund Activity

967 Sinking Functions

97 Irrevocable Trusts

98 Revocable Trusts

Restriction Segment (Identifies restriction on financial activity and net asset accounts)
(1 digit required) (Asset and liability accounts use zero as a default)

Assets and Liabilities

Tithe (Quasi-restricted)

Non-tithe (Unrestricted)

Temporarily Restricted (Donor Restricted for Programs or Departments)
Permanently Restricted (Donor Restricted Endowments or Similar)

O©ONNh=O

Object Segment (description of the actual account)

(minimum 3 digits required, expandable as needed)

[see Section 402.06 for a discussion of how and when to expand the object segment]
ASSETS

1xx Current Assets

10x Cash & Cash Equivalents

101 Cash on Hand [expandable]

102 Bank and Checking Accounts [expandable]

103 Savings and Interest-bearing Accounts [expandable]

104 Time Deposits - due in 3 months or less [expandable]
105 Money Market Accounts - due on demand [expandable]
106 Government Bills and Bonds - due in 3 months or less [expandable]
107 Commercial Paper Accounts [expandable]

108 Other Cash Equivalents

109 Allowance for Government Currency Restrictions

11x Investments

111 General Conference Unitized Funds [expandable]

1111 Bond Fund

1112 Emerging Markets Fund

1113 Income Fund

1114 International Fund

1115 Investment Fund

1116 Large Cap Equity Fund

1117 Small Cap Equity Fund

113 Time Deposits - terms longer than 3 months [expandable]
114 Mutual Funds [expandable]

115 Government Bonds - terms longer than 3 months [expandable]
116 Corporate Bonds [expandable]

117 Equity Securities [expandable]

118 Other Investments

119 Unrealized Appreciation (Decline) in Fair Value

[expandable to provide accounts related to each group of instruments, by type, such as unitized
funds, mutual funds, bonds, stocks, etc.]
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120 Remittances Receivable (Tithe and Offerings)

122 R/R: SDA Organizations

13x  Accounts Receivable
The Manual requires a separate account to be established for each individual debtor, separated
into four basic groups by type of debtor. This can be done within the general ledger, using
ranges of numbers as follows, or within a subsidiary ledger, using control accounts as follows.

132 A/R: SDA Organizations (control account related to a subsidiary ledger)
1321 to 132999 accounts for individual SDA entities (if no subsidiary ledger is used)
133 A/R: Employees (control account related to a subsidiary ledger)

1331 to 133999 accounts for individual employees (if no subsidiary ledger is used)
134 A/R: Students (control account related to a subsidiary ledger)

1341 to 134999 accounts for individual students (if no subsidiary ledger is used)
135 A/R: Customers (control account related to a subsidiary ledger)

1351 to 135999 accounts for individual customers (if no subsidiary ledger is used)
137 Reserved as a Placeholder for Vendor A/P debit balances

138 Reserved for Other Accounts Receivable

139 Allowance for Uncollectible Accounts

14x  Accrued Receivables

141 Accrued Interest Receivable

148 Other Accrued Receivables

15x Notes and Loans Receivable (current)

152 N/R: SDA Organizations (current)

153 N/R: Employees (current)

158 Other Notes Receivable (current)

159 Allowance for Uncollectible Notes and Loans (current)

16x Inventories

162 Merchandise Inventory

165 Supplies Inventory

17x Prepaid Expenses

171 Prepaid Insurance

175 Prepaid Taxes

178 Other Prepaid Expenses

18x Other Assets (current)

181 Deposits (current)

182 Disposable Assets (current)

186 Investments Held for Others (Asset)

19x Inter-Fund Receivables (current)

191 Inter-Fund Accounts Receivable (current)

197 Inter-Fund Loans Receivable (current)

2xx Long-term Assets

20x Plant Assets (cost and accumulated depreciation accounts)

201 Land

202 Land Improvements

203 Buildings and Fixtures

204 Residences

205 Furnishings and Equipment
206 Vehicles

207 Church and School Properties (title held for local church)
208 Other Plant Assets

209 Accumulated Depreciation
2092 Land Improvements
2093 Buildings and Fixtures
2094 Residences

2095 Furnishings and Equipment
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2096 Vehicles
2097 Church and School Properties
2098 Other Plant Assets

240 Accounts Receivable (long-term)
250 Notes and Loans Receivable (long-term)

252 N/R: SDA Organizations (long-term) (control account if a subsidiary is used)
2521 to 252999 accounts for individual SDA entities (if no subsidiary ledger is used)
253 N/R: Employees (long-term) (control account if a subsidiary is used)
2531 to 253999 accounts for individual employees (if no subsidiary ledger is used)
258 Other Notes and Loans Receivable (long-term)
259 Allowance for Uncollectible Notes and Loans
280 Other Long-term Assets
281 Long-term Deposits
282 Disposable Assets (long-term)
283 Life Insurance Cash Surrender Value
284 Unconditional Irrevocable Agreements
285 Intangibles
290 Inter-Fund Receivables (long-term)
297 Inter-Fund Loans Receivable (long-term)
LIABILITIES

3xx Current Liabilities

320 Remittances Payable (Tithe and Offerings)

322 R/P: SDA Organizations

33x Accounts Payable
The Manual requires a separate account to be established for each individual creditor, using
either the general ledger or a subsidiary ledger.

331 A/P: Creditors and Vendors (control account related to a subsidiary ledger)
3311 to 331999 accounts for individual creditors and vendors (if no subsidiary ledger is used)
332 Reserved for SDA Organizations A/R credit balances

333 Reserved for Employee A/R credit balances

334 Reserved for Student A/R credit balances

335 Reserved for Customer A/R credit balances

338 Reserved for Other Accounts Payable

339 Reserved for Bank Overdraft balance

34x Accrued Payables

341 Accrued Interest Payable

343 Accrued Payroll

345 Accrued Payroll Taxes

348 Other Accrued Payables

35x Notes and Loans Payable (current)

352 N/P: SDA Organizations (current)

353 N/P: Employees (current)

358 Other Notes and Loans Payable (current)

36x Offering Funds and Agency Accounts

361 Offering Funds Remittance Clearing [expandable]

The Manual requires the system to be able to identify and report beginning balance, receipts,
disbursements, and ending balance for each church offering fund. To do that, the software might
establish a suitable range of humbers between 3611 and 361999.

363 Conference and Institution Agency Accounts [expandable]
Similar to accounts payable, the Manual requires a separate account for each provider or
depositor of agency funds. To do that, the software might establish a suitable range of numbers
between 3631 and 363999.
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364 Student Bank [expandable]
Similar to receivables from students, the Manual requires a separate account for each student
“bank” account. To do that, the software might establish a suitable range of numbers between
3641 and 364999.

368 Other Agency Accounts [expandable]
For other agency accounts also, the Manual requires a separate account for each provider or
depositor.

37x Deferred Revenue

371 Deferred Operating Income

372 Deferred Operating Donations

373 Deferred Capital Donations

38x Other Current Liabilities

381 Deposits (current)

386 Investments Held for Others (Liability)

39x Inter-Fund Payables (current)

391 Inter-Fund Accounts Payable (current)

397 Inter-Fund Loans Payable (current)

4xx Long-term Liabilities

44x Leases Payable

441 Capital Leases Payable

45x Notes and Loans Payable (long-term)

452 N/P: SDA Organizations (long-term) (control account if a subsidiary is used)

4521 to 452999 (accounts for individual SDA entities if no subsidiary ledger is used)

453 N/P: Employees (long-term)

458 Other Notes and Loans Payable (long-term)

48x Other Long-term Liabilities

481 Deposits (long-term)

484 Present Value Liability Split-Interest Agreements

485 Liabilities to Residual Beneficiaries Split-Interest Agreements

49x Inter-Fund Payables (long-term)

497 Inter-Fund Loans Payable (long-term)

NET ASSETS

5xx Net Assets

500 Net Assets

51x Prior Year Adjustment

519 Prior Year Adjustment

55x Principal Corpus

551 Revocable Trust Assets Received

556 Revocable Trust Distributions

59x Suspense

599 Suspense - Used only for importing data
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REVENUE
6xx-7xx  Revenue and Increases

60x Net Sales (including departmental sales and cost of goods sold)

601 Sales
[expandable to provide individual accounts by sales product line]
603 Cost of Goods Sold

[expandable to match sales detail by product line]
61x Tithe (including gross, percentages, and net)

611 Gross Tithe - Local Churches

612 Gross Tithe - Direct

616 Tithe Percentages From Lower Denominational Entities
617 Tithe Percentages To Higher Denominational Entities
619 Tithe - Non-tithe Exchange

620 Academic Tuition
63x Non-tithe Offerings and Donations

631 World Offerings Received

632 Division Offerings Received

633 Union Offerings Received

634 Conference Offerings Received

635 Local Church Offerings Received

638 Non-tithe Donations Received

65x  Appropriations and Subsidies Received from SDA Organizations
651 Tithe Operating Appropriations Received

654 Non-tithe Operating Appropriations Received
657 Capital Appropriations Received

658 Other Appropriation and Subsidies Received
66x  Subsidies and Grants Received from Non-SDA Organizations
666 Government Appropriations Received

668 Other Appropriations Received from non-SDA Organizations
67x Direct Operating Income

671 Services Income

672 Incidental Department Sales

673 Fees Charged to Individuals

6731 School Fees (other than tuition)

6732 Campmeeting Fees

6733 Youth Camp Fees

674 Cost-sharing Charged to Church Schools

675 Finance Charge Income

676 Shipping and Handling Income

677 Rent Income

678 Other Direct Operating Income

71x Investment Income

711 Investment Earnings [expandable]

712 Realized Gain on Sale of Investments

715 Unrealized Gain in Fair Value of Investments
73x Irrevocable Split-Interest Agreements Additions
731 New Annuity Gift Portion

732 Annuity Adjustment from Present Value

735 New Split-Interest Agreements

736 Additions to Split-Interest Agreements

737 Split Interest Agreement Adjustment from Present Value
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Appendix 4C - Other Software Users - Object Segment (continued)

74x Endowment Additions

741 New Endowments

745 Additions to Endowments

75x Currency Fluctuation Gains

751 General Currency Fluctuation Gains

752 Operating Appropriation Currency Fluctuation Gains
755 Capital Appropriation Currency Fluctuation Gains
76x Additions to Unexpended Plant Assets

761 Insurance Proceeds: Property Loss

762 Proceeds from Sale of Plant Assets

763 Donations for Plant Asset Acquisition

768 Other Additions to Unexpended Plant Assets
77x Additions to Investment in Plant Assets

772 Donated Plant Assets

773 Value of Plant Assets Purchased

774 Church and School Properties Added

776 Loan Principal Reductions

778 Other Additions to Investment in Plant Assets
78x Other Income

781 Retirement Plan Contribution Income

78111 to 7811999 DB Plan - Tithe-based Contribution Revenue, by entity

78121 to 7812999 DB Plan - Payroll-based Contribution Revenue, by entity

78131 to 7813999 DB Plan - Contributions to Cover Retirement (Severance) Allowances

78141 to 7814999 DB Plan - Contributions for Other Types of Benefits

7815 DC Plan - Employer Basic Contribution Revenue

7816 DC Plan - Employer Matching Contribution Revenue

7817 DC Plan - Employee Voluntary Contribution Revenue
The Manual requires contribution revenue to be recorded by type, and for defined benefit
plans, also by participating employer. Objects 7811, 7812, 7813, and 7814 might be
expanded to 5 or 6 digits, based on how many participating employers there were.

782 Gain on Sale of Other Assets
785 Ingathering Reversion

787 Donated Services

788 Miscellaneous Other Income

790 Restricted Income Released
EXPENDITURES
8xx Expenses and Deductions

80x Advertising and Selling Expenses

801 Sales Commissions

803 Bad Debts Expense

805 Shipping and Handling Expense

807 Advertising and Promotion

808 Other Advertising and Selling Expenses
81x Employee Related Expenses

811 Salary and Allowances

8111 Basic Salary and Wage Expense
8112 Housing Allowance

8113 Area Travel and Telephone Allowance
8114 Bonuses, Holiday Gift, Farewell Gift

8115 Retirement (Severance) Allowance
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Appendix 4C - Other Software Users - Object Segment (continued)

812 Contributions Made To Retirement Plans

8121 Tithe Percentage Contributions To Defined Benefit Plans, whether plan is active or frozen)
8122 Payroll-based Contributions to Defined Benefit Plans, whether the plan is active or frozen)
8123 Employer Basic Contributions to Defined Contribution Plans
8124 Employer Matching Contributions to Defined Contribution Plans
813 Employee Moving Expenses

8131 Moving Allowance

8132 Moving Reimbursement

8133 Direct Moving Expense

814 Dependent Scholarship Expenses

815 Employee Insurance Expense

8151 Accident Insurance

8152 Survivor Insurance

8153 Long-term Disability Insurance

8154 Worker's Compensation Insurance

816 Health Care Expenses

817 Employee Related Taxes

818 Other Employee Related Expenses

819 Employee Related Returns

82x Travel Expenses

822 Employee Regular Travel

823 Employee Special Travel

825 Non-employee Travel

829 Employee Travel Expense Returns

83x  Appropriations Made to SDA Organizations

831 Tithe Operating Appropriations Made

834 Non-tithe Operating Appropriations Made

837 Capital Appropriations Made

838 Other Appropriations Made

84x Student Grants and Scholarships

841 Scholarships Charged to Donor-restricted or to Committee-allocated Funds
842 Scholarships Charged to Endowment Income Funds

843 Scholarships Charged to Undesignated Resources

850 Other Appropriations Made
86x Program Specific Expenses

864 Pathfinder Programs

867 Youth Camp Programs

87x Administrative Expense

871 Auditing Expenses

872 Committees and Meetings Expenses
875 Legal Expense

876 Public Relations

878 Other Administrative Expense

88x Office Expenses

881 Office Supplies

882 Postage and Shipping

884 Printing and Copying

887 Telecommunications and Related
888 Other Office Expenses

89x General Expenses

893 Information Systems, Services, and Support
894 Insurance, General and Liability

896 Finance Charge Expense

897 Interest Expense

898 Other General Expenses
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Appendix 4C - Other Software Users - Object Segment (continued)

90x Plant Operation and Maintenance

901 Rental Expense

9011 Land Rent

9012 Building Rent

9013 Equipment Rent

902 Maintenance and Repair

9022 Land Improvement Repairs

9023 Building Repairs

9025 Equipment and Vehicle Repairs

903 Depreciation Expense

9032 Land Improvements

9033 Buildings and Fixtures

9034 Residences

9035 Furnishings and Equipment

9036 Vehicles

9037 Church and School Properties

9038 Other Plant Assets

904 Property Taxes

905 Property Insurance (other than liability coverage)
906 Vehicle Expense

907 Utilities

9071 Electricity - Gas - Fuel

9072 Water - Sewer

908 Other Plant Operation Expenses

9084 Grounds-keeping Expense

9085 Janitorial and Custodial Expense

91x Investment Deductions

911 Investment Expense

912 Realized Loss on Sale of Investments

915 Unrealized Loss in Fair Value of Investments
93x Irrevocable Split-Interest Agreements Deductions
931 Annuity Distributions

932 Split-Interest Agreements Adjustment to Present Value
935 Payments to Income Beneficiaries

937 Payments to Residual Beneficiaries

94x Endowment Deductions

941 Endowment Distributions

95x Currency Fluctuation Losses

951 General Currency Fluctuation Losses

952 Operating Appropriation Currency Fluctuation Losses
955 Capital Appropriation Currency Fluctuation Losses
96x Deductions from Unexpended Plant Assets

962 Acquisition Payments

964 Mortgage Loan Principal Payments

968 Other Deductions from Unexpended Plant Assets
97x Deductions from Investment in Plant Assets

976 New Loans Obtained

977 Net Value of Plant Assets Sold

978 Other Deductions from Investment in Plant Assets

98x Other Expenses
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Appendix 4C - Other Software Users - Object Segment (continued)

981 Retirement Plan Benefit Payments
98111 t0 9811999 DB Plan - Basic Retirement Pension, by entity
98121 to 9812999 DB Plan - Retirement Allowance (Severance Benefit), by entity

98131 to 9813999 DB Plan - Health Care - Reimbursed Services, by entity

98141 to 9814999 DB Plan - Health Care - Reimbursed Premiums (Medicare), by entity

98151 to 9815999 DB Plan - Health Care - Supplemental (in lieu of reimbursed services)

98161 to 9816999 DB Plan - Death or Funeral Benefit, by entity

98171 to 9817999 DB Plan - Dependent Tuition Assistance (Scholarship), by entity

98181 to 9818999 DB Plan - Other Miscellaneous Benefits, by entity

9819 DC Plan - Distribution of Participant Account Balance
The Manual requires benefit payments to be recorded by type of benefit, and for defined
benefit plans, also by territory of each participating employer. Objects 9811, 9812, 9813,
9814, 9815, 9816, 9817, and 9818 might be expanded to 5 or 6 digits, based on how many
participating employers there were.

982 Loss on Sale of Other Assets
988 Miscellaneous Other Expenses
TRANSFERS
99x Transfers
991 Distributed Overhead
992 Internal Tithe Exchange
995 Transfers Sent To Other Functions [expandable]
996 Transfers Received From Other Functions [expandable]

Transfers Between Functions: The Manual requires the system to identify and accumulate
transfers received apart from transfers paid out, for each inter-function transfer account. Objects
995 and 996 could be expanded to 4, 5, or 6 digits in a number of ways. The Manual
recommends that they be expanded to 6 digits, with the extra 3 digits being the function code for
the other function involved in the transaction.

997 Transfers Sent To Other Funds [expandable]

998 Transfers Received From Other Funds [expandable]
Transfers Between Funds: The Manual requires the system to identify and accumulate transfers
received apart from transfers paid out, for each inter-fund transfer account. Objects 997 and 998
could be expanded to 4 or 5 digits in a number of ways. The Manual recommends that they be
expanded to 5 digits, with the extra 2 digits being the fund code for the other fund involved in the
transaction.
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Section 501 - Introduction

501.01 Cycle of Activity
501.02 Office Organization and Control
501.03 Schedule of Operations

Section 502 - The Nature of Accounting Records

502.01 Origin of Information

502.02 Source Documents

502.03 Committee Authorized Transactions
502.04 Specific Journals

502.05 General Journal

502.06 General Ledger

Section 503 - Handling Current Transactions

503.01 Recording Transactions
503.02 Posting the Ledgers
503.03 Computerized Information Systems

503.04 Division of Functions
Section 504 - Completing the Accounting Cycle

504.01 Preparation for Financial Statements
504.02 Closing Entries for the Period

Section 505 - Reconciliations

505.01 Need for Reconciliation

505.02 Reconciliation of Equipment Records

505.03 Bank Reconciliations

505.04 Accounts Receivable Subsidiary Reconciliation
505.05 Inter-Fund Transactions

505.06 Avoiding Trouble
Section 506 - Review and Compilation
506.01 Review of Adjustments
506.02 Trial Balance Review
506.03 Compilation of Financial Statements
Section 507 - Preparing for the Annual Audit
507.01 CFO and Auditor Work Together
507.02 Auditor’s Opinion on the Financial Statements
507.03 Auditor’s Report on Internal Control
507.04 Closing Process Not to be Delayed
Appendix 5A - How To Reconcile A Bank Balance

Appendix 5B - How To Reconcile Receivable and Payable Accounts

Appendix 5C - Checklist For End-of-Period Closing Procedures
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Section 501 - Introduction

501.01 Cycle of Activity - Every organization has a normal cycle of activity that is generally repeated each
month and each year. For most entities, that cycle involves many routine transactions as well as a number of
non-routine transactions. One goal of the accounting system is to capture the routine as well as non-routine
transactions and then record and report them in an accurate, timely, and efficient manner.

501.02 Office Organization and Control - Because recorded transactions must be summarized for each
accounting period, the work flow during the period should be organized so that summarizing and reporting is as
problem-free as possible. While this Manual highlights year-end procedures, most of them will also be employed
each month in the production of interim financial reports.

If written job descriptions are used, each individual will know what his/her responsibilities are. There should
be no overlapping of responsibility and no procedures which have not been specifically assigned. For example,
the cashier will generate daily totals of cash credits which will be recorded in various accounts. Other accounting
personnel will verify the total credits recorded in these accounts with the daily cash total furnished by the cashier.
Each office procedure or function should be specifically assigned and all such procedures should be coordinated.

501.03 Schedule of Operations - To produce timely reports, the CFO or office manager should have a
schedule of all tasks that must be performed each month and assigned dates on which each task should be
completed. Some procedures are performed daily and should be kept current at all times. Other items can be
performed several days before the close of the fiscal period. The CFO can establish the earliest date desirable
and request that certain reports from other departments or from outside entities be received by that date. The
task schedule should be in writing and should be communicated to all accounting personnel.

Section 502 - The Nature of Accounting Records

502.01 Origin of Information - An accounting entry is the record of an event. The basis for the record is the
fact that something has happened or has the right to occur. Sometimes that event involves persons or firms
outside the organization; sometimes it relates to duties of employees of the organization; frequently it has to do
with transactions between the recording entity and other denominational entities. Also, there are events, such as
depreciation, which are internally generated, but events nevertheless, which must be recorded.

502.02 Source Documents - Every accounting entry will be the result of a document either received from
outside the organization or prepared within the organization. It may be communicated on paper, in electronic

form, or by some other medium. This supporting document may be an invoice, a debit or credit voucher, a letter
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of authorization, a journal voucher, or a copy of a check. In any case, every entry should have a supporting
document that explains the nature of the event and the amounts involved. All transactions, except those which
are purely routine, should be authorized by a responsible person, and the authorization should be documented. It
is not ordinarily appropriate for the accountant on his/her own initiative to approve vouchers for entry.

502.03 Committee-Authorized Transactions - Many transactions are recorded as the result of specific
actions voted by the governing committee or other authorized committee. For example, appropriations to
affiliated entities, or certain special allowances given to employees, are commonly approved by committee.
Whenever entries are recorded for such transactions, a copy of the committee action should be attached to the
voucher, or the voucher should include a reference to the committee action, citing action number, date, and page
number of the minute book.

502.04 Specific Journals - The first recording of an accounting event is on a chronological basis. Events
are recorded as they occur, in either a general journal or specific journals for designated types of transactions,
such as cash receipts, cash disbursements, sales, purchases, payroll, and so on. There is no rule as to which
journals are required; a journal should be developed for any class of transactions which are numerous enough to
justify the use of a separate record.

For example, a payroll journal is usually essential in any entity that employs a large number of people.
Similarly, a retail store would find a sales journal essential. Each journal should be organized so that a balanced
journal entry can be extracted from it. For example, a cash receipts journal will contain information for a debit to
cash, and one or more credits to other appropriate accounts totaling up to the same amount as the debit.

502.05 General Journal - Even when special journals are used for similar types of transactions, there will
always be infrequent or unique transactions for which a general journal will be used. Especially in denominational
entities, much of the inter-organization business is done through the use of debit and credit vouchers. The
general journal commonly holds these vouchers, and is the source of the accounting entries which they support.
The document itself, either a debit or credit voucher from another entity, or a voucher prepared within the office
that originated the transaction, would constitute the journal entry. The journal vouchers must be numbered, and a
continuous numerical sequence must be maintained. Then every journal number must be accounted for.

The document representing the journal voucher must state clearly what the journal entry is: which accounts
are debited, which accounts are credited, and the amount. If the document itself does not clearly express the

reason for the entry, then an adequate explanation should be written on the document by the person who
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authorizes the entry. Finally, all journal entries except those which are strictly routine should bear the approval of
an appropriate individual. The authority for approval of entries of certain types, or within certain monetary limits,
should be indicated in the individual’s job description.

502.06 General Ledger - The journal entry process records groups of transactions of a similar nature - cash
receipts, cash disbursements, etc. - chronologically. The general ledger then takes all of these entries and sorts
them, not by type of transaction, but by the nature of the asset, liability, income, or expense accounts affected.
This process of posting transactions from the journals to the general ledger simply assembles all the transactions
under various financial statement groupings. Each of the journal entries is a balanced transaction, so when they
are transferred to the general ledger, it too will be in balance.

It is imperative that every transaction recorded in the specific or general journals is posted to the general
ledger, whether individually, simultaneously, or in batch totals. It is also strongly recommended that the general
ledger detail include cross-reference to the journal voucher number and the source document number. Some
computerized accounting systems may use a system-generated sequential transaction number as the primary
reference for transactions. This is acceptable as long as the general ledger detail includes cross-reference to the
sequential transaction number and indicates the type of transaction. No entry should ever be made to the general
ledger unless it has first been recorded, or is simultaneously recorded, in one of the accounting journals.

Section 503 - Handling Current Transactions

503.01 Recording Transactions - In planning the work flow, the CFO needs to consider whether to record
routine transactions daily, or accumulate such transactions and record them either individually or in summary at
the end of the month. Sometimes, although daily recording may take more time overall, the advantage of
eliminating a task from the peak work-load at the end of the month may justify such a use of additional time.

Cash receipts should be entered immediately to achieve the objectives of daily cash balancing and daily intact
deposit of funds. Similarly, cash disbursements should be entered at timely intervals to help generate information
about the status of the bank account balance.

Routine billings for various transactions relating to churches, schools, students, and employees should not be
accumulated, but should be handled currently whenever possible. Regular monthly charges, usually billed as of
the end of the month, can sometimes be prepared in advance of that date. Every task done before month-end will
alleviate the peak-load pressure and make it easier to complete the accounting and reporting cycle.

503.02 Posting the Ledgers - For entities that use a manual or mechanical accounting process, much of
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what has already been said about the recording of transactions applies equally to the posting process. Generally,
by using special journals for cash receipts, cash disbursements, and certain routine and repeating billing
transactions, etc., the posting of totals to the general ledger accounts can be deferred until the end of the month
without adding too much to the closing work load. However, the individual transactions affecting subsidiary ledger
accounts should be posted as frequently as possible; daily posting of such transactions is recommended.

503.03 Computerized Information Systems - Similar principles as discussed in the preceding paragraphs
apply to a computerized information system, and in some instances are even more important. Recording and
posting are usually handled as a single operation, and the computer software performs such tasks as producing
customer billings, updating the accounts receivable ledger, and updating the general ledger control accounts.
The idea of daily or frequent recording is applicable to computerized data entry as much as it is to manual or
mechanical processes.

Because the recording, posting, and updating is done electronically, it does not automatically leave the kind of
paper record which is necessary for accounting support. It is imperative that every transaction processed
through the computer be documented in a report produced at the time the transaction is processed. For example,
if cash receipt credits are being entered and posted to the ledger accounts, a printout should be produced at the
close of each processing run showing receipt number, name and/or number of account credited, the amount
credited, and the total credits posted with a corresponding debit to the cash account.

The same sort of information should be produced for every transaction batch or other form of data entry that
is processed. The computer printout should be in sufficient detail and form to represent a balanced accounting
entry. It is not sufficient that the printout show only totals updated on general ledger accounts or only individual
debit or credit postings to detail accounts without a total entry to balance the debits or credits as a group. The
raw data should be totaled in the originating department, and the predetermined totals should be compared after
computer processing with the totals generated by the computer system.

503.04 Division of Functions - Section 302.09 discussed the internal control concept of segregation of
duties. Whenever the accounting function employs enough people, it is important that the duties and the work-
flow be assigned so that no individual handles a transaction from its inception to its conclusion. For example, the
cashier should not also be assigned the duty of posting cash receipt credits to accounts receivable. The
individual who prepares the disbursement checks and accumulates the supporting documentation should not also

record and post the related accounting entries.
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If one individual handles the same group of figures several times (for example, if that person prepared billings,
postings, statements, and reconciliations), there is a strong tendency to see the same figure for a given
transaction every time, even though the original recognition of that figure may have been wrong. For example, a
debit entry of 387.78 may be erroneously recognized as 837.78 the first time through; if the same person handles
the same transaction in other contexts, human tendency will be to repeat the error. One objective of internal
control is not solely to detect errors but to prevent them from occurring.
Section 504 - Completing the Accounting Cycle

504.01 Preparation for Financial Statements - The whole purpose of the accounting process is to produce
financial information which management can use to evaluate past operations, determine present position, and
make wise decisions for the future. If the data going into the financial statements is incomplete or inaccurate,
then the statements themselves will not be as useful. Completing the accounting cycle involves careful review of
all the basic data, adjustment of those items which need to be corrected or more exactly defined, and
determination that the financial data are internally consistent.

504.02 Closing Entries for the Period - An examination of certain general ledger accounts will reveal that
adjustments need to be made at the end of the accounting period. The following paragraphs discuss some of the
situations which require attention before compilation of the financial statements.

Accrued Interest Receivable and Payable. Interest on loans receivable and loans payable accrues at the

stated rate with the passage of time. Interest on loans is usually paid on dates other than the last day of a fiscal
period. Adjusting entries must be made to recognize the expense or the revenue from the date of last payment to
the closing date of the period. The entry for interest accrued on Loans Receivable is to debit Accrued Interest
Receivable and credit Interest Income, and for interest accrued on Loans Payable is to debit Interest Expense
and credit Accrued Interest Payable. If the organization holds interest-bearing investment instruments, the
accrued interest at the closing date will be recognized in a similar manner. An entry can be made to reverse
these adjusting entries on the first day of the new fiscal period. Then, as it is received, interest can be credited
entirely to the income account; and would not need to be divided between current earnings and the receivable.

Accrued Payroll Expense. For organizations that pay employees weekly or biweekly, there can be one to

thirteen days from the end of the last pay period to the statement of financial position date. An adjusting entry
must be made to accrue the amount of payroll costs for this portion of a pay period as a liability and an expense.

Accrued Vacation and Sick Time. Accounting principles require a liability to be accrued for compensation for
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future absences if (a) the employer's obligation is attributable to employee services already rendered, and (b) if
the employee's right to such compensation either vests or accumulates. Vested means an employer must pay
even if the individual terminates employment. Accumulate means unused benefits earned may be carried forward
to subsequent periods. In denominational organizations, a liability must be recorded each year-end for
accumulated vacation benefits for employees. No accrual is required for non-vesting accumulating rights to
receive sick pay benefits.

Allowance for Uncollectible Accounts. Receivables in many organizations are confined to employees or other

denominational entities, and it is not ordinarily necessary to recognize an element of doubtful collectibility.
Schools and sales organizations carry other receivables, though, and sometimes even a denominational
receivable may turn out to be uncollectible. The CFO should review the receivables at or near the close of the
fiscal period, and if a reasonable possibility of uncollectibility exists, it should be recognized. If the Allowance
account is not enough, it should be increased by debiting Uncollectible Accounts Expense and crediting
Allowance for Uncollectible.

Deferred Revenue - Rental Properties. Many organizations rent properties to employees or others. Where

such rentals are on a month-to-month basis, simply recording the rent for the current month reflects the actual
condition. If, however, rent is collected in advance (either the common first-and-last-month arrangement or
advance payment of several months' rent), part of the rent so paid is revenue for the current period, and the
remainder is unearned revenue (a liability) at the closing date.

The accounting entries follow a similar pattern to that illustrated above. If the original credit was to the
revenue account, that account must be decreased (debited) and the Deferred Revenue account increased
(credited) to reflect the amount of revenue attributable to future periods. If the original credit was to the Deferred
Revenue account, the procedure is reversed, debiting the Deferred Revenue and crediting a current revenue
account for the amount attributable to the current period. A similar process would be applied to rental expenses,
if any, such as utilities, that apply to a time period which overlaps the end of the fiscal period.

Depreciation. Section 1303 discusses depreciation accounting in detail. The depreciation entries at the close
of the year should be adjusted or modified so that the total depreciation recorded for the year agrees with the total
depreciation computed on all property, plant, and equipment owned. If monthly depreciation entries are made on
an estimated basis, the final entry for the year must be modified so that the total for the year will agree with the

asset detail records.
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Fair Value of Investments. Section 1004 discusses the standards for recognition of unrealized gains or losses

arising from the change in fair value of marketable investments. An entry is necessary to adjust the valuation
account related to the asset group so that the net carrying value of the investment portfolio as a whole will equal
fair value at the financial statement date. When fair value for the whole portfolio exceeds cost, the valuation
account is debited and an unrealized gain is recognized. When fair value for the whole portfolio is less than cost,
the valuation account is credited and an unrealized loss is recognized. lllustrative entries for this subject are
given in Appendix 10A.

Imprest or Petty Cash. As discussed in Chapter 9, an organization should count its imprest or petty cash at

the end of each month. Many organizations “replenish” their petty cash at the end of each month, so that the
amount of cash actually on hand will equal the stated imprest amount in the ledger account. However, it is not
unusual for the petty cash to have not been replenished right at the end of the month. If this is the case, then
there will be some amount of paid out vouchers on hand, and the actual cash on hand will be less than the
maximum imprest amount. If this is the case, an adjustment should be recorded to charge appropriate expense
accounts and reduce the petty cash account in the ledger so it will be equal to the actual cash on hand at the
statement of financial position date.

Inventory. The method of recording inventory balances on hand varies. Either the original debit at the time of
purchase was to an inventory account, so the year-end balance will represent both inventory used or sold and
inventory still on hand; or the original debit was to an expense account so that the expense at year-end
represents both used and unused inventory. The same may apply if the organization uses a postage meter; the
unused balance in the postage meter represents a prepaid expense at the end of the period, and the prepaid
amount should be carried as an asset. The journal entries to make these adjustments will follow a similar pattern
as illustrated below for prepaid insurance. If the original debit was to expense rather than to the asset, the
adjustment will be to credit the expense account and debit the asset account for the unused portion. See Chapter
12 for discussion about the physical count of inventory on hand at the statement of financial position date.

Maintenance Contracts. Equipment maintenance contracts frequently run for a period of a year or more, and

the contract dates rarely coincide with the closing dates of the organization's fiscal period. Here again, it is
necessary to recognize a portion of the total payment as expense in the current period and the remainder as a
Prepaid Expense attributable to future periods. The adjusting entries will follow the pattern of those described for

prepaid insurance.
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Prepaid Insurance. Some organizations debit the Prepaid Insurance account when the premium is paid, while

others debit an expense account. Either one is acceptable as an interim procedure, but both will require an
adjustment at the close of the fiscal period. The premium payment will usually apply to portions of two fiscal
periods. At the closing date a portion of the payment will represent expired coverage while the remainder is still
unexpired or prepaid. If the original debit was to Prepaid Insurance (an asset), an adjustment must be made to
remove the expired portion from the asset account and record it as an expense. If the original debit was to
Insurance Expense, an adjustment must be made to remove the unexpired portion from the expense account and
record it as an asset.

Section 505 - Reconciliations

505.01 Need for Reconciliation - An essential step before preparing the financial statements is to reconcile
various general ledger accounts with supporting information from other sources. This includes reconciliation of
bank accounts and receivable and payable accounts. These reconciliations should be performed on a
monthly basis, not delayed until the close of the fiscal year. Because of the volume of transactions in either
the bank accounts or the receivable and payable accounts, reconciling the accounts each month helps to identify
errors or inconsistencies so that timely corrections can be made. If reconciliations are delayed, the volume of
business to be reviewed makes the reconciliation process a huge task, and may impact the reliability of the
financial reports.

505.02 Reconciliation of Equipment Records - A possible exception to the requirement for monthly
reconciliations is the equipment ledger, which is a detail ledger supporting the general accounts for equipment
and furnishings and for accumulated depreciation. In this case the volume of transactions is usually not large,
and an annual reconciliation may in most instances be sufficient. Included in the reconciliation of accumulated
depreciation will be the final annual adjustment for depreciation mentioned in Section 1303.

505.03 Bank Reconciliations - All bank checking accounts, for all funds of the organization, should be
reconciled monthly with the statements received from the bank. This will include not only the general operating
bank account, but bank accounts used for payroll and other purposes as well. In accordance with the internal
control process of segregating duties, the reconciliations should be prepared by an individual who is not
responsible for deposits or withdrawals from the bank account or for maintaining the related accounting records.
See Appendix 5A for a checklist of how to prepare a bank reconciliation.

505.04 Accounts Receivable Subsidiary Reconciliation - The reconciliation of subsidiary ledgers, such as
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those that can be maintained for accounts receivable, brings two records (the subsidiary ledger and the control
account) into agreement. For those entities that use subsidiary ledgers, it is a process of determining that all
entries made to the subsidiary ledger are reflected in the control account and that all entries in the control account
are reflected in the related subsidiary ledger accounts. When the control account balance agrees with the total of
the balances in the subsidiary ledger, no further work is necessary. When the control account does not agree
with the subsidiary ledger, they must be reconciled. See Appendix 5B for further guidance on reconciliations.

505.05 Inter-Fund Transactions - Entities that use fund accounting commonly have numerous transactions
between funds, as well as balances receivable and payable between funds. Each fund is a self-balancing,
independent ledger, and if amounts are paid from one set of accounts to another which must later be repaid, the
entry in one fund must be balanced by a similar entry in the related fund. Obviously, if one fund shows a
receivable from another, the second fund must show a payable to the first, in the same amount. For the whole
organization, the total of all inter-fund receivables should equal the total of all inter-fund payables. Discrepancies
between these “Due to” and “Due from” accounts will result in line items in the statement of financial position that
do not properly net to zero. To avoid this problem, all inter-fund receivables and payables should be reconciled
before preparing the financial statements, following the illustration in Appendix 5B.

505.06 Avoiding Trouble - When the process illustrated in Appendix 5B is performed, any discrepancies
between the accounts being reconciled will be identified, and adjustments will be recorded to bring the accounts
into agreement. The time and effort needed to recheck transactions can be minimized by following two steps:

1. Ensure that transaction totals or batch totals entered in one subsidiary ledger or account agree

with the amount entered in the related general ledger account; and

2. Reconcile all related ledgers and accounts every month.

Section 506 - Review and Compilation

506.01 Review of Adjustments - Another important step before preparing the financial statements is a
careful review of the account balances to determine that all necessary adjustments have been made. Many
accountants find it effective to maintain a list of necessary adjustments, revising and extending the list through the
fiscal period as situations arise which indicate the need for pre-closing adjustments. This checklist can then be
followed in preparing adjustments and making the final trial balance review.

506.02 Trial Balance Review - In addition to reviewing adjustments, the overall trial balance should be
reviewed for reasonableness and internal consistency. Obviously, a trial balance should be in balance. The net

increase or decrease from all the financial activity accounts should agree with the cumulative difference between
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current and prior year of all the statement of financial position accounts. The beginning net assets accounts
should agree with the final net assets from the prior year audited financial statements. If there are any significant
differences in the distribution between current and long-term receivables or payables for the current year
compared to prior year, there should be reasonable explanations for such differences. Similarly, if there are
significant variances between any account this year versus last year, there should be an explanation available.
For organizations that use fund accounting, this review process should be done for each fund before they can be
combined into the overall financial statements.

506.03 Compilation of Financial Statements - When all the reviewing has been done, a complete printing
should be obtained of the pre-closing trial balance, and the general ledger detail should either be printed or
copied to a computer backup file. In some computerized accounting applications, a reprint of the current period's
financial activity cannot be obtained once the activity has been “closed” into net assets and recording for the next
period has begun. Then the formal financial statements can be compiled, whether they are produced from the
accounting software, prepared manually from the final trial balance, or produced in some other manner.

Section 507 - Preparing for the Annual Audit

507.01 CFO and Auditor Work Together - The CFO and the auditor have separate roles, of course, but
they are both involved in preparing information that supports the work of the church. If the year-end adjusting and
closing procedures outlined earlier have been properly completed, the records will be ready for the auditor’s visit
without any special effort. The CFO and the District Director of GCAS (or the external auditor, where applicable)
can then coordinate the schedule of the audit. The sooner the audit is completed, and the auditor’s opinion is
rendered on the financial statements, the sooner they can be published and distributed.

507.02 Auditor’'s Opinion on the Financial Statements- The CFO should understand the purpose of an
audit, and what the auditor is looking for as the records, the accounting system, and the activities of the
organization are examined. The auditor’'s examination leads to the expression of an opinion on the financial
statements for the period under review. The following points are a summary of the “standards of reporting”
required of all professional auditors. The examination enables the auditor to:

o Stgtg whether the financial statements are prepared in conformity with generally accepted accounting

Fdrtlanncztli?;/e;.rcumstanoes in which such principles have not been consistently observed in the periods presented.

Assume, in the absence of a statement to the contrary, that informative disclosures are reasonably adequate.

Express an opinion regarding the financial statements taken as a whole, or assert that such an opinion cannot
be expressed, with reasons therefore.
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507.03 Auditor’'s Report on Internal Control - Although this Manual discusses the importance of internal
control, it is noted that the auditor’s opinion on the financial statements does not say anything specific about
internal control. This does not mean internal control is unimportant; in fact, the internal control process has a
direct impact on the scope of the auditor’'s examination. In some cases, internal control may be so deficient that
the auditor will be unable to express an opinion on the financial statements. If so, the deficiency and its impact on
the scope of the auditor’'s work must be mentioned in the auditor’s report as the reason for a disclaimer of opinion.
In addition, auditing standards require the auditor to communicate to management (which includes the CFO, other
officers, and the governing committee) about any significant deficiencies or material weaknesses observed in the
internal control process. This is ordinarily done in the auditor’s “audit communication letter.”

507.04 Closing Process Not to be Delayed - The outlined procedures for adjusting and closing the financial
records should be followed by individuals under the direction of the CFO without waiting for the auditor’s visit.
Scheduling pressures in the auditor’s office can make it impossible for auditors to reach every organization in their
territory immediately following the close of the fiscal period. Organizations should not delay the start of recording
transactions for the new year just because they might be waiting for the audit of the prior year. The closing
procedures should be followed as outlined, and drafts of the financial statements should be prepared in good form
as promptly as possible. If the auditor notifies the CFO that there will be a delay in the completion of the audit,
the CFO may wish to produce formal financial statements without waiting for the auditor’s opinion. If that is done,

every page of the financial statements should be conspicuously marked, “Unaudited.”



Chapter 5 - The Accounting Cycle SDA Accounting Manual - January 2011 — page 76

Appendix 5A - How To Reconcile A Bank Balance (a step-by-step outline)

1.

Open and inspect the contents of the statement of account received from the bank.

a. Compare all canceled checks and copies of debit memos against the bank statement.

b. Compare the amounts shown on the bank statement against the amount written on the check itself.

c. Be aware that banks post their entries from the magnetic ink amount imprinted in the lower right-hand
corner of the check, not from the amount typed or written on the check.

Sort the returned checks in numerical order, keeping debit and credit memos separate.

Compare both the check number and the amount on each returned check against:
a. last month's bank reconciliation, which listed outstanding checks at the end of last month, and
b. against the current check disbursements journal, which lists all checks written during the current month.

Compare deposits recorded by the bank against:
a. deposits in transit at the end of last month as shown on last month's reconciliation, and
b. deposits recorded in the current month's cash receipts journal.

Compare debit and credit memos from the bank against the receipts and disbursements journals.

a. Such items typically include returned checks, service charges, and interest charges.

b. Returned checks may already have been entered as disbursements in the accounting system.

c. Service charges and other credits by the bank may not have been entered in the accounting records.

Begin with the final balance on the bank statement, and calculate an adjusted bank balance.

Add any deposits not credited by the bank.

Deduct all checks outstanding (recorded by the organization, but not cleared through the bank).

Include from last month's reconciliation those checks which were outstanding and still have not cleared.
Include from the current month's disbursements journal all checks written which have not yet cleared.

The balance per bank statement, plus deposits not entered by the bank, minus checks written but not
cleared by the bank, equals the adjusted bank balance.

®aoow

Begin with the final bank balance according to the ledger, and calculate an adjusted ledger balance.

a. Add any credit memos from the bank which have not previously been entered.

b. Deduct any debit memos from the bank which have not already been entered.

c. The balance per ledger, plus bank credits not entered in the ledger, minus bank debits not entered in the
ledger, equals the adjusted ledger balance.

Step 6 above has corrected the bank statement balance by including all entries made by the organization
which have not yet been recorded by the bank. Step 7 above has corrected the ledger balance to include
all entries made by the bank which have not yet been recorded by the organization.

If the adjusted balance from Step 6 is not the same amount as the adjusted balance from Step 7, the
difference must be determined.

a. Review last month's bank reconciliation to see that

b. any deposits in transit have since been entered by the bank,

c. all outstanding checks are either checked off as cleared or carried over to the current reconciliation, and

d. all debit and credit memos shown on last month's reconciliation as un-entered have either been entered
in the current month's business or are carried over to the current reconciliation.

e. Then review current period transactions to determine that

i. all entries made by the bank have either been recorded, or are included in the reconciliation, and
ii. all entries recorded in the ledger are either on the bank statement, or included in the reconciliation.

10. After the reconciliation is completed, the preparer should make sure that journal entries are prepared to

record any un-entered bank debits or credits.

See the following page for a sample bank reconciliation form, illustrating the result of the above steps.
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Appendix 5A - lllustrated Bank Reconciliation Form

Local Conference/Field of Seventh-day Adventists

Bank Reconciliation - 30 April 20X1

National Bank, account # 01-2345-67
Branch located in (name of city and country); account held in (indicate which currency)

Balance from Bank Statement, 30 April 20X1 116,844.85
Add: Deposits made by us but not yet recorded by bank:

30 April 20X1 12,410.91
Subtract: Outstanding checks, written by us but not yet recorded by bank:

date of check name of payee amount

18 February 20X1 Timothy Alexander 1,546.89

21 March 20X1 Martha Elizabeth 1,798.44

25 April 20X1 Citywide Security Service 9,800.00

29 April 20X1 State Electric Company 10,543.27

Total outstanding checks (23.688.60)

Adjusted Bank Balance 105,567.16
Balance from General Ledger, 30 April 20X1 105,311.99

Add: Bank credits (additions to account) not yet recorded by us:
Interest earned on account for April 505.17

Subtract: Bank debits (charges on account) not yet recorded by us:
Bank fee for processing foreign currency (250.00)

Adjusted Ledger Balance 105,567.16
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Appendix 5B - How To Reconcile Receivable and Payable Accounts

5B.01 Introduction - As discussed in Section 505, reconciliations need to be made between control and
subsidiary accounts, between various funds of entities that use fund accounting, and between the reporting entity
and other denominational entities. The reconciliation format illustrated in this appendix uses a common approach
that can be applied to any of these types of reconciliations.

5B.02 Reconciliation Between Entities - One of the prominent features of our denominational environment
is the use of debit and credit vouchers to reflect charges and credits between various entities. The nature and
volume of these vouchers raises an obvious question. At the end of an accounting period, what really is the
balance receivable from or payable to another specific denominational entity?

Each entity has a balance in its ledger, but at any given time there may be a number of vouchers which one of
the entities has generated but which the other entity has not yet received, or has received but has not yet
recorded. Consequently, at any given time, it is possible that neither the reporting entity’s ledger nor the other
entity’s ledger reflects the actual balance.

What is needed is to reconcile the records of each entity to the other. The purpose of a reconciliation is to
identify differences, if any, between the entities’ balances, and to prompt the reporting entity to make journal
entries to correct its own balance.

Reconciliations should be performed every month, so that unresolved matters do not become so old
or so humerous that the process becomes burdensome or the balance becomes misleading.

5B.03 lllustrated Reconciliation - The illustrated reconciliation form is organized in a columnar format, with
debit and credit columns for the reporting entity’s details on the left, debit and credit columns for the other entity’s
details on the right, and description columns in the center. This reconciliation format is used with minor variations
throughout the denomination.

The reconciliation displayed on the following pages illustrates accounts between a Local Conference or Field
and its respective Union Conference or Mission. The illustration consists of four separate documents:

1. the Local Conference general ledger account detail for the Union receivable for the current month,

2. the Union Conference statement of account with the Local Conference for the current month,

3. the Local Conference reconciliation from the previous month (August, for illustration), and
4. the Local Conference reconciliation for the current month (September, for illustration).
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5B.04 Step-by-Step Process - Preparing a reconciliation involves the following steps:

1. Enter the reporting entity’s ledger balance at the top of the left-hand columns. Enter the other entity’s
statement balance at the top of the right-hand columns.

2. Compare the prior month’s reconciliation to the general ledger detail and to the other entity’s statement of
account for the current month.

a. Look for items on the prior month’s reconciliation that have not been posted or cleared in the current
month’s general ledger or other entity statement of account.

b. If there are any old items that are still not cleared, enter them in the current month’s reconciliation
form, in the same manner as they appeared in the prior month’s reconciliation.

C. Include dates, document reference numbers, and descriptive details for each item.

3. Compare the current month’s general ledger detail from the reporting entity with the current month’s
statement of account from the other entity.

a. Look for any items in the other entity’s statement of account that are not in the general ledger detail.
If there are any, enter them in the left-hand columns under the reporting entity’s balance.

b. Look for any items in the general ledger detail that are not in the other entity’s statement of account.
If there are any, enter them in the right-hand columns under the other entity’s balance.

C. Include dates, document reference numbers, and descriptive details for each item.

4. Add up the amounts in each column, including the beginning balance, to get sub-totals in each set of debit
and credit columns.

5. Calculate the difference between the debit sub-total and the credit sub-total for each entity. Enter this
difference on the next line under the column sub-totals.

a. If all un-posted transactions have been entered in the reconciliation, this “difference” will be
the same amount for the reporting entity as it is for the other entity. This amount represents the
reconciled balance receivable or payable between the entities.

The illustrated reconciliation on the following pages applies this step-by-step process.
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5B.05 lllustrated general ledger detail for the reporting entity

LOCAL CONFERENCE OR FIELD

ACCOUNT RECEIVABLE FROM UNION CONFERENCE OR MISSION

FOR THE MONTH OF SEPTEMBER 20X1

Date
31-8-20X1
1-9-20X1
1-9-20X1
1-9-20X1
20-8-20X1
1-9-20X1
28-8-20X1
1-9-20X1
12-8-20X1
2-9-20X1
12-9-20X1
16-9-20X1
14-9-20X1
15-9-20X1
17-9-20X1
18-9-20X1
19-9-20X1
21-9-20X1
5-9-20X1
6-9-20X1
22-9-20X1
23-9-20X1
29-9-20X1

Reference Debit
Balance

108119 108,785.00
109218

81-5108 60.40
108707 4,325.10
81-5216 14,230.00
108941 9,016.80
109323

108457

108460 751.80
81-6005

109821

81-6089

81-6102 6,562.20
109840

81-6178 16,945.00
81-6192 11,751.40
81-6205 1,037.30
108470

108472 6,051.80
81-6207 20,000.00
81-6309

81-6383

Credit

75,220.90

80,000.00
278.50

3,017.20
11,980.00
4,028.10

13,872.50

11,328.10

15,638.20
184.50
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Balance
48,185.30
156,970.30
81,749.40
81,809.80
86,134.90
100,364.90
109,381.70
29,381.70
29,103.20
29,855.00
26,837.80
14,857.80
10,829.70
17,391.90
3,519.40
20,464.40
32,215.80
33,253.10
21,925.00
27,976.80
47,976.80
32,338.60
32,154.10
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5B.06 lllustrated statement of account from the other entity
UNION CONFERENCE OR MISSION

STATEMENT OF ACCOUNT WITH LOCAL CONFERENCE OR FIELD
FOR THE MONTH OF SEPTEMBER 20X1

Date Reference Debit Credit Balance
31-8-20X1 Balance (175,658.50)
1-9-20X1 109218 75,220.90 (100,437.60)
1-9-20X1 81-5108 60.40 (100,498.00)
29-7-20X1 81-3501 184.70 (100,682.70)
1-9-20X1 81-5216 14,230.00 (114,912.70)
8-3-20X1 81-4141 1,086.30 (113,824.40)
18-8-20X1 81-4702 15,842.00 (97,984.40)
1-9-20X1 109323 80,000.00 (17,984.40)
28-8-20X1 81-5010 8,718.70 (26,703.10)
2-9-20X1 108460 751.80 (27,454.90)
1-9-20X1 109341 108,785.00 (136,239.90)
15-9-20X1 109713 15,424.70 (151,664.60)
16-9-20X1 109821 11,980.00 (139,684.60)
15-9-20X1 81-6102 6,562.20 (146,246.80)
17-9-20X1 109840 13,872.50 (132,374.30)
20-9-20X1 81-6192 11,751.40 (144,125.70)
18-9-20X1 109911 1,098.20 (145,223.90)
5-9-20X1 108470 11,328.10 (133,895.80)
21-9-20X1 110051 437.10 (133,458.70)
6-9-20X1 108472 6,051.80 (139,510.50)
21-9-20X1 110052 604.50 (138,906.00)
22-9-20X1 81-6207 20,000.00 (158,906.00)
23-9-20X1 81-6309 15,638.20 (143,267.80)
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5B.07 lllustrated reconciliation form - prior month

RECONCILIATION OF ACCOUNTS

Between LOCAL CONFERENCE or FIELD and UNION CONFERENCE or MISSION

For the Month of August 20X1

Local Conference

Union Conference

Debit Credit Date Reference |Description Debit Credit
48,185.30 31-8-20X1 Balance Per Ledger 175,658.50
Union vouchers not yet
entered by Local:
1,798.40 21-7-X1 107812 |Reimbursed expense
108,785.00 1-8-X1 108119 |August appropriation
278.50] 12-8-X1 108457 |Supplies delivered
4,325.10 20-8-X1 108707 |Reimbursement sent
9,016.80 28-8-X1 108941 |Funds transferred
Local vouchers not yet
entered by Union:
20-6-X1 81-2143 [Reimbursement billed 4,198.50
29-8-X1 81-3501 ([Correct July ret. ben. 184.70
3-8-X1 81-4141 [Materials sent 1,086.30
18-7-X1 81-4702 ([Seminar expenses 15,842.00
28-8-X1 81-5010 |Funds transferred 8,718.70
172,110.60 278.50 Sub-totals 16,928.30| 188,760.40
171,832.10 Reconciled Balance 171,832.10
172,110.60 172,110.60 Column Totals 188,760.40[ 188,760.40

DATE RECONCILED

15 September, 20X1

RECONCILED BY

Senior Accountant




Chapter 5 - The Accounting Cycle

SDA Accounting Manual - January 2011 — page 83

5B.08 lllustrated reconciliation form - current month

RECONCILIATION OF ACCOUNTS

Between LOCAL CONFERENCE or FIELD and UNION CONFERENCE or MISSION

For the Month of September 20X1

Local Conference

Union Conference

Debit Credit Date Reference |Description Debit Credit
32,154.10 30-9-20X1 Balance Per Ledger 143,267.80
Union vouchers not yet
entered by Local:
1,798.40 21-7-X1 107812 |Reimbursed expense
108,785.00 1-9-X1 109341 |Sept. appropriation
15,424.70 15-9-X1 109713 |Evangelism subsidy
1,098.20 18-9-X1 109911 |Adjust exchange rate
431.70] 21-9-X1 110051 |Supplies delivered
604.50] 22-9-X1 110052 |Supplies delivered
Local vouchers not yet
entered by Union:
20-6-X1 81-2143 |Reimbursement billed 4,198.50
12-9-X1 81-6005 |TF adjusted by audit 3,017.20
14-9-X1 81-6102 [Materials sent 4,022.70
18-9-X1 81-6178 |Retirement benefits 16,945.00
21-9-X1 81-6205 [Reverse duplicate JV 1,037.30
29-9-X1 81-6283 [Materials sent 184.50
159,260.40 1,036.20 Sub-totals 7,224.40| 165,448.60
158,224.20 Reconciled Balance 158,224.20
159,260.40( 159,260.40 Column Totals 165,448.60( 165,448.60

DATE RECONCILED

18 October, 19x1

RECONCILED BY

Senior Accountant
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5B.09 Analyzing the Reconciliation

Completing the reconciliation form, as illustrated in the preceding pages, only identifies which transactions result
in the differences between the two balances being reconciled. The final necessary step is to analyze those
differences and determine what action to take to resolve them.

The illustrated reconciliation indicates that the total reconciling difference amounts to 158,218.80. A review of the
reconciling items reveals that a large portion of the total is from one transaction, reference #109341 for
108,785.00. A review of the prior month reconciliation indicates that this same amount was included as a
reconciling item there also. Further review of the posting dates reveals that this is a recurring item that is
recorded at the beginning of each month by the other entity, but is not recorded until the beginning of each
following month by the reporting entity. To resolve this apparent timing difference, inquiry should be made of the
other entity to clarify the nature of the item. If it is an appropriation that is approved to be paid by the other entity
in the month they recorded it, the amount should be accrued in the same month by the reporting entity. When the
accrual for the receivable is recorded in the same month as the accrual for the payable, the item will no longer
appear as a reconciling item.

Review of the remaining reconciling items reveals that most are identified as current month transactions, but that
two items are two or three months old. The current items can be expected to be recorded during the next month’s
processing, and as long as their descriptions appear routine, no further action need be taken at this time. The two
old items, however, should be researched to determine why they have not been recorded.

Assume, for illustration, that item #107812 on 21-7-X1 for 1,798.40 is a credit voucher from the other entity to
reimburse the reporting entity for an expense. Assume also, that the reporting entity has not recorded the item
because the employee in charge of the matter claims the amount should be 4,214.50. The reporting entity should
ensure that all supporting documentation is assembled, then provide that information to the other entity, and
request an adjustment to the credit voucher so that it equals the correct amount. When the other entity responds
and issues a corrected voucher, the reporting entity can record it, and the item will not appear on the following
month’s reconciliation.

Now assume, for illustration, that item #81-2143 on 20-6-X1 for 4,198.50 is a debit voucher billing the other entity
for reimbursement of an expense. Assume also, that the other entity has now informed the reporting entity that
the item does not meet the criteria for such reimbursement. The reporting entity should prepare a journal voucher
to reverse the debit in the receivable account and record the item as either an expense or a reduction in accrued
revenue (depending on what account was credited when the receivable was debited originally). When this entry
canceling the original charge is recorded, this item, too, will disappear from the following month’s reconciliation.

As indicated in this illustration, it is not enough simply to identify the reconciling items. Any transaction which
dates back beyond the current month should be investigated. As a result of such investigation, both parties to the
transaction should record an appropriate entry which will remove the item from future reconciliations.
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5B.10 Possible Reasons For Reconciliation Differences

When a discrepancy is revealed by a reconciliation, the nature of the problem must be determined, and adjusting
entries must be recorded to balance the accounts. This is true whether the reconciliation is between a subsidiary
ledger and a general ledger or between inter-fund or inter-entity receivable and payable accounts. If the balances
being reconciled do not agree, the only effective way to locate the discrepancy is to compare the actual
transactions that have been recorded in each account. Following are some common reasons for discrepancies
between related ledgers or accounts.

Receivable subsidiary ledger total greater than general ledger control account total:

1. Debits were recorded in a subsidiary account but were not included in the income journal or batch totals
posted to the control account.

2. Cash payments were recorded in the control account but were not recorded in any account in the subsidiary
ledger.

3. A general journal entry credited the control account, but no corresponding entry or entries were recorded in
individual accounts in the subsidiary ledger.

4. Asto 1, 2, or 3 above, entries were recorded, but in incorrect amounts.
5. Anindividual account in the subsidiary ledger or the control account was incorrectly totaled.

General ledger control account total greater than receivable subsidiary ledger total:

1. Debits were recorded in the control account from journal or batch totals but were not recorded in any
subsidiary accounts.

2. Cash credits were recorded in subsidiary accounts in excess of amounts recorded in the control account from
the cash receipts journal.

3. An entry was recorded in an individual account in the subsidiary ledger, but no corresponding entry was
recorded in the control account.

4. Asto 1,2 or 3 above, entries were recorded, but in incorrect amounts.
5. An individual account in the subsidiary ledger or the control account was incorrectly totaled.

Inter-fund or Inter-organization receivable different from corresponding payable balance:

A loan or advance from one entity to another is recorded as a receivable by the provider, but is recorded as an
appropriation or subsidy rather than as a payable by the recipient.

Payment of an expense by one fund or entity on behalf of another fund or entity is recorded as a receivable by the
paying fund or entity, but is not recorded at all by the benefitting fund or entity.

A transfer of resources from one fund to another is recorded as expense in the sending fund, but is recorded as a
transfer and a payable by the receiving fund.

Subsidy revenue is recorded as a receivable in one accounting period by the intended recipient, but is not
recorded as a payable by the provider, but only as expense when paid in a subsequent accounting period.
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Appendix 5C - Checklist For End-of-Period Closing Procedures

The following suggested procedures can be used to help ensure that all potential non-routine matters are
considered in the process of closing the accounting records at the end of each accounting period. The CFO of
each entity should be alert to other matters that may not be listed here.

a

Accrued Interest Payable - Adjust the interest payable and interest expense accounts so that the liability
account includes interest payable on long-term debt from the date of last payment to the end of the current
accounting period.

Accrued Interest Receivable - Adjust the interest receivable and interest income accounts so that the asset
account includes interest receivable on investment securities and on loans receivable from the date of last
receipt to the end of the current accounting period.

Accrued Payroll and Related Expense - Adjust the accrued payroll and payroll expense accounts so that
the liability account equals employee earnings from the end of the last pay period to the end of the current
accounting period.

Accrued Vacation Time - Adjust the accrued vacation and expense accounts so that the liability account
includes all employee vacation time that has been earned or approved but not yet taken.

Allowance for Uncollectible Receivables - Adjust the allowance and expense accounts, if necessary, so
that net accounts receivable do not exceed the amount likely to be collected.

Bank Reconciliations - Reconcile every bank account to the corresponding bank statement.

Deferred Revenue - If rent or other income was received in advance for future periods, adjust the deferred
revenue and income accounts so that the liability account includes the unearned portion.

Fair Value of Investments - Adjust the investment valuation and unrealized gain or loss accounts so that the
carrying value of marketable investments as a group (actual cost for the group combined with the valuation
account) equals their fair value at the end of the current accounting period.

Imprest/Petty Cash - Adjust the petty cash and expense accounts so that the asset account equals only the
actual cash on hand at the end of the current accounting period.

Inventory - Adjust the inventory and expense (or cost of goods sold) accounts so that the asset account
includes only the items that are still owned at the end of the current accounting period.

Maintenance Contracts - Adjust the prepaid expense and general expense accounts so that the asset
account includes the unexpired portion of equipment maintenance contract payments.

Plant Asset Records and Depreciation Expense - Review the plant asset records to ensure that all
acquisitions, additions, disposals, and deletions during the year have been recorded in the general ledger,
and in the plant asset subsidiary ledger if there is one. If a plant asset subsidiary ledger is used, reconcile it
to the corresponding general ledger control accounts. Adjust the accumulated depreciation and depreciation
expense accounts so that the contra-asset and expense accounts agree with the plant asset detail records.

Prepaid Insurance - Adjust the prepaid insurance and insurance expense accounts so that the asset account
includes only the unexpired portion of paid premiums.

Reconciliation of Control Account to Subsidiary - If a subsidiary ledger is used for accounts receivable,
reconcile it to the general ledger control account.

Reconciliation of Receivable From / Payable To Other SDA Entities - Reconcile every account receivable
from and payable to other SDA entities with the records of the other entity.
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Section 601 - Introduction

601.01 Required Financial Statements - Section 202 introduced the required financial statements, and
distinguished between general-use statements on which the auditor expresses an opinion and reports for
individual funds prepared by management for internal use. International GAAP requires the following to be
included in any general-use financial statements, which are intended to focus on the organization as a whole:

Statement of Financial Position
Statement of Financial Activity
Statement of Changes in Net Assets
Statement of Cash Flows

Notes to the Financial Statements

601.02 Application to Complex Entities - For conference-type entities in the global environment, general-
use statements are usually identified as “combined” statements, because they reflect multiple funds, such as one
or more operating funds and one or more plant funds. These statements could also include multiple commonly-
controlled entities, such as a conference/mission and its related property-holding corporation. See Section 607
for further discussion about consolidating the financial statements with those of other affiliated entities. In addition
to these general-use statements, organizations using fund accounting will prepare supplementary statements for
each fund for management purposes, and will include relevant detailed schedules.

There is an exception to the concept of combining the various funds into general-use financial statements;
that is for retirement funds. Typically, the retirement funds are administered by the GC divisions, or in some
cases by union conferences. Historically, some divisions included the retirement fund along with the operating
and plant funds in their combined financial statements. However, because retirement funds represent resources
that have been set aside for the future benefit of specified groups of employees (which implies a trust or fiduciary
relationship), GAAP requires separate financial statements and unique reporting standards for retirement plans.
See Chapter 19 for further guidance on financial statements for retirement plans.

601.03 Comparative Statements - International GAAP requires general-use financial statements to include
comparative data. The statement of financial position will include the year-end balances for both the current and
prior year-end. Similarly, the statements of financial activity and changes in net assets will include amounts for
both the current and previous years. GAAP also requires comparative information in the notes wherever such
data will make the note disclosures more informative. When comparative statements are presented, it is not
necessary to provide an additional statement for the current year alone.

601.04 Notes and Supporting Schedules - Financial statements, on their face, do not present all the
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desired information and must be supplemented by notes. For example, consider long-term liabilities. The
statement of financial position indicates the amount, but does not disclose the terms of repayment, interest rate,
security for the liability, or a schedule of maturities. Additional data must be presented in notes to the financial
statements to make them more informative. It is essential that each note be cross-referenced by number in the
statement to which it relates. Notes are to be considered an integral part of the financial statements.

An Organization Description and a Summary of Significant Accounting Policies should always precede the
notes or be presented as Note 1. Remaining notes embody the disclosures necessary to make the statements
informative and understandable. Summarized notes are presented with the general-use statements, while
detailed schedules are submitted in support of any individual fund statements, as illustrated in Appendix 17B.
Obviously, there will be some duplication between the notes to the financial statements and the data presented in
supporting schedules, but the schedules are in greater detail than the notes.

601.05 Interim Statements - The required notes to the financial statements apply primarily to the year-end
statements. Frequently, management may exclude from interim statements some of the data about significant
accounting policies or some of the narrative details from the notes. As directed by the governing committee or
designated sub-committee, management decides how much data to place in interim statements to ensure that
adequate information is available to the readers of those statements to help them make sound financial decisions.

601.06 Readiness for Preparation - Before the financial statements are prepared, the checklist outlined in
Appendix 5C should be used to ensure that all necessary adjustments have been made and that the completed
trial balance contains valid information for the preparation of the statements.

601.07 Internal Consistency - The financial statements combine to form a unit. Each one presents an
aspect of a complete story of operations and financial position. Special caution must be exercised to ensure that
the statements tie together. If the statement of financial position shows a given total for net assets, the statement
of changes in net assets should show the same totals. The statement of cash flows should show the same net
change in cash and cash equivalents as is reported in the comparative statement of financial position. And of
course, supporting schedules should support; the total of each of these schedules must agree with the related
figure shown in the basic financial statement.

601.08 lllustrative Specimen Statements - The remainder of this chapter will explain general-use financial
statements in greater detail. lllustrative financial statements are presented in Appendices for each major type of

entity, and may represent combinations of various fund groupings. Statements and supporting schedules of
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individual funds will be discussed in Chapter 7. In this chapter and the next, the reader should combine the
discussion with reference to the illustrative financial statements in the Appendices for each type of entity.

Section 602 -Statement of Financial Position

602.01 The Heading - The statement of financial position presents a picture of the assets, liabilities, and net
assets at a particular point in time. As an example, look at Appendix 17A.01. The heading includes (a) name of
the organization, (b) title of the statement, and (c) the dates. For the statement of financial position, the dates are
specific: 31 December 20X1 and 20X0. Because this is a comparative statement, the dates of both years must
be shown. It would be wrong to show the date line as “Years ended 31 December 20X1 and 20X0,” which refers
to a period of time rather than a specific date.

602.02 Body of the Statement - The statement of financial position is presented in the “report form.” Assets
are listed first (classified as current and other) with a sub-total for current and a total for all assets. Liabilities are
listed next (classified as current and other) with sub-totals for current and for total liabilities. Net assets are listed
last (classified as unallocated, allocated, and restricted) with a sub-total of all net assets. A total of liabilities and
net assets combined is presented last. Total assets must equal total liabilities plus net assets.

602.03 Total Columns - Note that the “Total” columns at the extreme right of the statement represent, in
most cases, the cross-total of each line. The asterisks in the total columns are explained by a note at the foot of
the statement indicating that inter-fund borrowing amounts have been eliminated.

602.04 Reference to Notes - In all cases where one of the notes to financial statements presents additional
data or clarifying explanations, the line item in the statement of financial position is referenced to that note. Each
of the statements should include a sentence at the bottom to say, “Notes to the Financial Statements are an
integral part of this statement.” This is to put the reader on notice that the financial statements are not complete
unless they are read in conjunction with the notes.

602.05 Note Disclosures - Section 606 discusses the disclosures embodied in the notes. To make the
financial statements understandable, it is essential that the related notes disclose appropriate detail. Examples
would include an analysis of investments including cost, fair value, and unrealized appreciation or decline; the
various types of accounts receivable and related allowances; details of terms and maturities of long-term
liabilities; and details of receivables and payables from related parties.

602.06 Sequence of Preparation - The discussion of the financial statements in this chapter assumes that

organizations that use fund accounting will transfer amounts from individual fund financial statements to
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appropriate columns in the statements for the whole organization. The individual statements for each fund
(discussed in Chapter 7) must be prepared first so that essential data from them may be transferred to the
columnar arrangement in the combined statements.

602.07 Fund Group Statements - As noted in Section 601.07, a general-use statement of financial position
with amounts from all funds is supplemented by groupings of similar funds in separate statements. The groupings
are largely self-explanatory. Operating Funds include all those funds which are available for normal operating
purposes; other Funds are those which must be held for specific purposes. Tracing items from any of these
group statements to the combined amounts in the general-use statement will demonstrate that individual items
are transferred intact from the group statement to the general-use statement.

Section 603 - Financial Activity

603.01 General Observations - Financial activity is reported in two complementary formats.

The Statement of Financial Activity focuses on types of activity, and for entities that use fund accounting,
presents total activity within each fund (see Appendix 17A.02). This statement presents separate columns for
each fund, a total column for the current year's activity, and a total column for the previous year, and lines for
each type of activity (revenue, expense, transfers, etc.).

The Statement of Changes in Net Assets focuses on the activity within each unallocated or allocated function
(see Appendix 17A.03). This statement presents separate columns for each type of activity (revenue, expense,
transfers, balance), and lines for each unallocated and allocated function.

Note that the date line of the heading is not the same as for the statement of financial position. Because
these statements present activity over a period of time, the proper wording is “Years Ended 31 December 20X1
and 20X0.” For interim period statements, it is not correct for the date line to read “For the Period Ended. . .” The
length of the reporting period must be defined; for example, “For the Six Months Ended . . .”

603.02 Statement of Financial Activity - This statement, designed particularly for not-for-profit
organizations, includes not only the operating revenues and operating expenses, but also nonoperating revenues
and expenses, and transfers between funds and between functions, if applicable. The statement concludes by
combining the previous year-end net assets for each fund group with the net increase or decrease in the
individual fund for the current period, resulting in the final net assets at the end of the reporting period. Briefly, the
statement embodies all activities of a financial nature, for all funds of the organization. See Section 702.05 for

further discussion about grouping activity.
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603.03 Fund Group Statements - As in the case of the statement of financial position, the statement of
financial activity is presented first for all funds, then when applicable for specific fund groupings, such as
Operating Funds, Plant Funds, or All Funds Other than Operating and Plant Funds. In each case, the statements
for the whole organization represent a combination of all the line item amounts from each of the individual fund
statements. See Chapter 7 for discussion of individual fund statements.

603.04 Reference to Notes - When line items in the statement of financial activity are explained in more
detail in notes to financial statements, it is important that the face of the statement carry a cross-reference to the
particular note involved. Also, the statement should include a sentence at its close, as in the statement of
financial position to say, “Notes to the Financial Statements are an integral part of this statement.”

603.05 Internal Consistency - The data reported in the individual fund statements must be consistent with
data reported in the statements of the whole organization. The combining process involves simply transferring
line items from each of the individual funds to the columnar arrangement of the whole organization’s statement.
Also, it is essential that the final net assets (shown as the last line of the statement of financial activity) agree with
the “Total Net Assets” line of the statement of financial position.

603.06 Statement of Changes in Net Assets - This statement is designed to present summarized activity for
each unallocated and allocated function of the organization. The revenue, expense, transfers, and balances are
displayed in columns, and there is a line for each unallocated function, such as tithe or non-tithe, and each
allocated and/or restricted function, such as evangelism, contingency, exchange fluctuation, etc. The net
increase or decrease for the year, and the ending net assets, for the organization as a whole should be the same
in this statement as in the statement of financial activity. The ending balances in total unallocated and total
allocated and/or restricted functions should agree with the same amounts in the statement of financial position.
Section 604 - Statement of Cash Flows

604.01 Introduction - The statement of cash flows focuses on gross “inflows” and “outflows” of cash. It
classifies these inflows and outflows as either operating, investing, or financing activity. The statement concludes
by showing the beginning and ending balances of cash and cash equivalents. Refer to Section 901.02 for a
definition of cash and cash equivalents. lllustrative statements of cash flows can be found in the appendices for
each type of organization.

604.02 Operating Activity - Cash flows from operating activity consist of all receipts and payments that

relate to the regular, ongoing operations of the organization. Operating cash flows include any activity that does
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not meet the definition of investing or financing activity. The definition of operating activity, for cash flows, is not

the same as the definition of operating income and expense used on the statement of changes in net assets.

Following are examples of cash flows from operating activities.

Receipts for sales of goods or services

Interest and dividends received (not restricted to long-term purposes)

Most cash contributions received (those not restricted to long-term purposes)
Receipts for settlement of lawsuits

Proceeds of insurance settlements (for claims such as theft or liability) other than those related to
investing or financing activity (such as claims for building damage)

Refunds from regular suppliers

Payments to suppliers and vendors, taxes, duties, fines, fees, penalties, refunds
Contributions to other not-for-profit organizations

Payments to employees

Interest paid on all indebtedness

Student financial aid payments

Payments to settle lawsuits

604.03 Investing Activity - Cash flows from investing activity consist of receipts and payments that relate to

investment in debt or equity securities, loans receivable, and purchase or sale of land, buildings, and equipment.

Following are examples of cash flows from investing activities.

Receipts from sale of marketable debt or equity securities

Receipts from liquidating dividends or other returns of investment on marketable securities
Receipts from sale of land, buildings, and equipment

Receipts from insurance on losses to land, buildings, and equipment

Collections on loans receivable, including employee loans

Receipts from sale of works of art or historical treasures

Payments to acquire marketable debt or equity securities

Payments to acquire land, buildings, and equipment

Payments for loans to other organizations or individuals, including employee loans
Purchases of works of art or historical treasures

604.04 Financing Activity - Cash flows from financing activity consist of receipts and payments that relate to

borrowing money and repaying principal, and contributions that are restricted to use for long-term purposes.

Following are examples of cash flows from financing activities.

Contributions received that are restricted for long-term purposes, such as permanent or term
endowments, purchases of land, buildings, and equipment, or revolving student loan funds

Interest, dividends, and other investment income that by donor stipulation must be re-invested in
endowments

Investment income that by agreement must be held to make payments to beneficiaries of life income
funds

Interest income that must be re-invested in revolving loan funds

Proceeds from issuing notes, mortgages, or other short- or long-term borrowing

Repayments of principal on debt

Payments to beneficiaries under life income agreements

Refunds to donors of gifts that were limited to long-term purposes

604.05 Noncash Activities - The following kinds of activity do not represent inflows or outflows of cash, but
must be disclosed either on the face of the financial statements or in the notes.
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Gifts of securities that are held for long-term investment

Donated services that create long-term assets (such as donated labor on construction of buildings)
Gifts of long-lived assets, whether for use or for ultimate sale

Acquisition of assets by assuming liabilities, such as through capital leases

Refinancing or renegotiation of long-term debt

604.06 Preparation of Statement of Cash Flows - The Statement of Cash Flows must be prepared through
calculation, rather than just printing selected accounts from the ledger. Appendices 6A and 6B are step-by-step
worksheets to guide in preparation of the statement of cash flows. Appendix 6A uses amounts from the financial
statements at Appendix 17A, and Appendix 6B uses amounts from the financial statements at Appendix 17D.
Section 605 - Schedule of Working Capital and Liquidity

605.01 Nature of the Schedule - A schedule of working capital and liquidity is not required for adequate
disclosure by generally accepted accounting standards. However, denominational working policy recommends
that organizations maintain certain minimum amounts of working capital. Therefore, this Manual requires all
denominational organizations to include such a schedule as part of the notes to the financial statements.
Appendix 17A.05, Note 20 illustrates a working capital and liquidity schedule that conforms to the intent of the
working policy. Notice that the schedule reflects totals for the organization as a whole, not just for an operating
fund. These totals are then used for comparison with the previous year and for evaluation of the financial position
of the organization.

605.02 Working Capital Schedule - Working capital equals current assets minus current liabilities. By

Unless otherwise required by local Accounting Standards.
definition, current assets and current liabilities include only accounts that are held for operating purposes. The
minimum recommended by policy varies by type of organization. The working capital schedule has three parts:

1. Computation of the amount of actual working capital,

2. Computation of the minimum amount recommended by policy, and

3. Comparison of the actual amount with the recommended amount.

The results of this comparison are reported two ways:
A. The amount of difference between actual and recommended working capital, and
B. The ratio of actual to recommended working capital, stated as a percentage.

605.03 Liquidity Schedule - Liquid assets, for purposes of this schedule, are defined as cash, certain
investments, church remittance receivables collected within one month after year end, and accounts receivable
from senior organizations. In the case of a local conference/mission/field, this would include amounts due from
the union conference/mission or the General Conference/Division. Commitments, for purposes of this schedule,

are defined as current liabilities plus all allocated net assets that are not offset by specifically identified cash or

investments. The liquidity schedule has three parts:
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1. Computation of the amount of liquid assets,

2. Computation of the amount of commitments, and

3. Comparison of the amount of liquid assets to the amount of commitments.

The results of the comparison are reported two ways:

A. The amount of difference between liquid assets and commitments, and

B. The ratio of liquid assets to commitments, stated as a percentage.
Section 606 - Notes to Financial Statements

606.01 The Purpose of Notes - The data on the face of the financial statements tells only a part of the story
of the operations and financial condition of the organization. Questions are naturally raised as individuals read
those statements. What are the basic accounting and reporting procedures used? What non-monetary details
may help to explain the reported amounts? The first assumption is that the general-use financial statements are
prepared and distributed to communicate information to a broad spectrum of interested readers. Therefore, all
data and facts necessary to make the information useful and understandable must be included.

606.02 Adequate Disclosure - GAAP requires certain minimum disclosures, and then leaves it to
management judgment to decide what additional information needs to be included for the notes to be reasonably
adequate. Generally, it can be said that no questions of material significance should be left without an answer,
either in the statements or in the notes which are an integral part of the financial statements.

606.03 Required Notes - Sections 202.01 and 601.04 mentioned that the financial reports must include an
organization description and summary of significant accounting policies, usually as Note 1. Every entity is
confronted with various options in the application of GAAP: methods of depreciation, valuation of certain assets,
methods of consolidation or combination, etc. To help the reader understand the significance of the data, it is
necessary to disclose the choices the organization has made and the accounting policies it has followed.

Note 1 discloses general information, identifies types of related parties, and describes basic accounting
principles. For denominational entities whose activity involves transactions in multiple currencies, these
disclosures should include identification of the reporting currency of the financial statements and the exchange
rate used between that currency and the US Dollar. Detailed information supporting specific amounts in the
financial statements should be held for presentation in subsequent notes after Note 1.

GAAP requires disclosure of the following information:

For all organizations:

4 Organization Description - This identifies the entity, describes its principal programs and major sources of

revenue, and briefly describes the types of related parties the entity is associated with. [lt is usually the first
part of Note 1: see Appendix 17A.05, Note 1 as an example.]
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4 Accounting Policies - This describes the significant principles used and how they are applied. [lt is usually
either the last part of Note 1 or the first part of Note 2: see Appendix 17A.05, Note 2.]

4 Financial Statement Issue Date (disclosure of the date the financial statements were authorized to be
issued, which individuals or group authorized their issuance, and whether that body has authority to amend
the financial statements at any later date. [see Appendix 17A.05, note 2)]

4 Compensation of Administrative Employees - This discloses a total for all compensation paid to executive
officers, vice-presidents, and governing committee members who are employees, as a group, separate from
compensation paid to all other employees. [See Appendix 17A.05, Note 19.]

4 Retirement Plan - This is a brief description of retirement plan(s) the organization contributes to, the total
contributions made to the plan(s) during the reporting period, and disclosure about minimum funding required
for future obligations. [See Appendix 17A.05, Note 20.]

For organizations that have balances in the following types of accounts:

¢ Investments - other than cash and cash equivalents - This discloses the cost, fair value, and unrealized
appreciation or decline by type of instrument. [See Appendix 17A.05, Note 4.]

4 Accounts and Loans Receivable and Payable with Related Parties - This includes the balances at the
reporting date for each type of related party, whether the balances are secured, the terms of repayment, and
the amounts of significant transactions with those parties. [See Appendix 17A.05, Notes 5, 6, 10, 12.]

4 Land, Buildings, and Equipment - This includes cost, accumulated depreciation, and current period
changes and depreciation expense by type of asset. [See Appendix 17A.05, Note 8.]

4 Notes and Loans Payable - This discloses current and long-term portions, total balance, and payment terms
for each account, and the amount of principal due in each of the next 5 years. [Appendix 17A.05, Note 12.]

¢ Contingent Liabilities - This is a brief description of the organization’s exposure to certain types of potential
liability. [See Appendix 17A.05, Note 13.]

606.04 Other Note Disclosures - This Manual differentiates between notes to the financial statements which
are an integral part of the general-use financial statements and supporting schedules which accompany the
individual fund statements. It is not necessary that information contained in the supporting schedules be repeated
in full detail in the notes, but required data may be summarized in the notes.

606.05 Specimen Notes to Financial Statements - Specific examples of the notes for accounting policies
and other matters are given in the Appendices for each type of organization. Except as noted earlier, the
specimen notes are generally not obligatory, nor are they intended to be complete. Each organization should use
the illustrated notes as a guide, and tailor them to fit the needs of their governing committee.

Section 607 - Consolidation of Organizations (International Standard)

607.01 Professional Guidance - International GAAP classifies certain affiliated entities as either

“subsidiaries” or “associates,” based on the degree of control or influence the reporting entity has over the other

organization. International GAAP defines these and related terms as follows.
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Control - the power to govern the financial and operating policies of an enterprise so as to obtain benefits
from its activities. Control can be achieved by either:

(1) ownership of a majority portion of the other entity’s net assets,
(2) the power to appoint or remove a majority of the other entity’s governing body, or
(3) the power to cast a majority of the votes at meetings of the other entity’s governing body.

Subsidiary - an enterprise that is controlled by another entity (known as the parent), using the preceding
definition of control.

Significant Influence - the power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of an
investee but not control over those policies. Significant influence can be achieved by either financial
investment or by representation on the other entity’s governing committee.

Associate - an enterprise in which an investor has significant influence, but which is not a subsidiary. An

organization may exercise significant influence because it has representation on another entity’s

committee, but unless it also has a financial investment in that other entity, the other entity is not an

“associate” for purposes of this standard.

Equity Method of Accounting - The investment in another entity is initially recorded at cost in the financial

statements of the investor. The carrying amount is then increased or decreased in each subsequent

period to recognize the investor’s share of increases or decreases in the other entity’s net assets.

607.02 Accounting for Investments in Subsidiaries - Generally, a parent entity is required to issue
consolidated financial statements that include all subsidiaries that it controls. Uniform accounting policies should
be used for each entity that is included in a consolidated financial statement. Any balances and transactions
between entities in the group should be eliminated in the consolidated totals. There are two exceptions.

The first exception is a subsidiary for which control is only temporary because the parent intends to dispose of
the subsidiary in the near future. The parent should account for such a subsidiary using the general principles of
accounting for investments (an asset at fair value), as discussed in Chapter 10.

The second exception is a parent whose debt or equity instruments are not traded on an open market (such
as a not-for-profit entity). Such a parent may choose whether to issue consolidated statements or unconsolidated
parent-only statements. When a parent entity issues separate unconsolidated financial statements, those
statements are to include any investment in subsidiaries, but the parent may choose to account for them using
either cost, the equity method of accounting, or as “available for sale” assets.

Further, GAAP neither prescribes nor prohibits a separate statement for a subsidiary by itself.

607.03 Accounting for Investments in Associates - If an entity has control over one or more subsidiaries
as well as financial investment in one or more associates, and the investor entity also issues consolidated
financial statements, the consolidated financial statements are to use the equity method of accounting to report

any investment in the associates. Whether an entity has subsidiaries or not, if it issues separate (unconsolidated)

financial statements for itself, those separate financial statements are to include any investment in associates, but
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may choose to account for them using either cost, the equity method, or as “available for sale” assets.

607.04 Examples of Application - It is apparent that the requirement to consolidate will rest heavily on the
circumstances of each case. It will be vital to examine the constitution and by-laws of both the reporting entity
and the affiliated enterprise to see how they compare to the definitions of control and influence. Appendix 6E is a
flowchart that may help in analyzing the relationships between entities.

Control by financial investment. If one entity purchases the assets of another, or appropriates funds to
acquire the assets or set up the operations of another, that would be evidence of control by investment.

Control by voting majority. If an organization’s constitution or bylaws grant authority for another entity to
appoint a majority of the members of the organization’s governing committee, that would be evidence of control,
regardless of whether the other entity made any financial investment in the organization.

Secondary schools. Although school facilities are typically owned by a local conference or field, control of a
school can come from a conference/field, a union, or a local church congregation or group of congregations.
Schools whose governing committees are appointed by a union or conference should be consolidated in general-
use financial statements of the parent entity. However, schools whose governing committees are appointed by
one or more local congregations would not be consolidated with either the local church or the conference.

Colleges and universities. Most colleges and universities are established by GC divisions, but are operated
by governing committees whose members are appointed by a number of entities, such as the division and union
territories that are served by the school. As a result, most colleges and universities would not be controlled by a
single other entity, and would not have to be consolidated with any other entity.

Retail Book Centers. Most book centers are operated so closely by conferences/fields that they are more like
departments of the larger entity. Unless they have a separate governance structure, they should be included in
the financial statements of the larger entity, as just one of its departments or segments.

Clinics and health care facilities other than hospitals. Many forms of clinics and other health care facilities are
operated by both hospitals and unions or conferences. Health care facilities other than hospitals are rarely
operated as separate entities. A health care facility other than a hospital should usually be consolidated with the
union, conference, or hospital that controls that facility, if majority control comes from a single other entity.

Industry enterprises. Industry enterprises can be operated by a variety of other denominational organizations.
If there is majority control by one other entity, the industry should be consolidated with it, but if the industry is

operated under shared oversight from two or more other entities, it would most likely not be consolidated.
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6A.01 Step by Step Process - For illustration, this appendix uses financial data from Appendix 17A.

Step 1: Gather Information

To prepare a statement of cash flows for the organization as a whole, first gather the following sources of
information for each fund (that is, operating fund, plant fund, other fund, if any, etc.):

¢ Comparative statements of financial position,

4 Statement of financial activity,

¢ Transaction data from the general ledger, and

4 Detail records for investments, property, loans, appropriations, and exchange gains and losses.

Step 2: Calculate change in cash and cash equivalents

¢ Compute the increase or decrease in the cash balance from last year to the current year.
e The statement of cash flows will reconcile to this amount after all operating, investing, and financing
transactions have been identified.

Step 3: Prepare a cash flows worksheet:

A worksheet format similar to that illustrated in Appendices 6A.03 and 6A.04 can be used to identify the amounts
that should be reported in the statement of cash flows and supplemental data.
¢ To make it easier to identify the various necessary components and amounts, prepare these worksheets for
each fund individually, and then combine the results.
4 List all balances from the statement of financial positions for the current and prior years.
¢ Calculate the changes in the balances from prior year to current year.
4 Identify the gross cash flows, and any non-cash transactions, for all of the noncurrent assets and liabilities.
e The identified components should explain the entire change in each of the balances.
e For example, the net increase in plant assets of 1,470,420 consists of several components:
» Addition of equipment purchased 1,700,429,
» Removal of assets sold: Cost 100,674; Accumulated depreciation 50,674, and
» Noncash items: Depreciation expense 180,009.
4 Identify the transaction as either operating, investing, or financing activities.

Step 4: Reconcile the total change in net assets to cash flows from operating activities

4 Use the net increase (decrease) for the year from the statement of activity as the starting point.
¢ Make appropriate adjustments to reconcile the change in net assets to the net cash used or provided by
operating activities. Use the data generated from the worksheets, as illustrated on pages 4 and 5.
4 Look at those items on the cash flows worksheet marked operating, and incorporate those transactions.
e Add or deduct those items that are noncash transactions.
» Depreciation and amortization
o |If there were any contributions or investment income that were restricted by donor stipulations to long-
term purposes, they are to be reported as cash flows from financing activities.
» These items would be included in the net increase (decrease); so they must be subtracted from the
operating activity section to reconcile cash flows from operating activities.
» Contribution and investment records will probably be the best source for identifying these
transactions.
e Add or deduct items that are related to investing or financing activities, or to exchange gain or loss.
» One of these adjustments will be the net depreciated value of plant assets sold, if any.
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6A.01 Step by Step Process - (continued)

Step 4: Reconcile the change in net assets to cash flows from operating activities (continued)

e Add or deduct the changes in balances of current asset and current liability items.
» Increases of current asset items represent an outflow of cash.
— Accounts receivable increased for transactions for which no payment has been received yet.
» Decreases in current asset accounts provide cash.
— Inventory or prepaid expense was used up during the current year.
» Decreases of current liability items represent outflows of cash.
— More accounts payable were paid than were accrued.
» Increases in current liabilities represent inflows or conservation of cash.
— More accounts payable were accrued than were paid.

Step 5: Determine the cash flows from investing and financing activities

4 Review items in the cash flows worksheet that are marked as investing and financing activities.
4+ Investing activities are usually the result of changes in noncurrent assets, other than operating items.
e Purchases and sales of investments
e Purchases and sales of land, buildings, and equipment
e Giving loans to individuals or other entities, and
¢ Receiving payments on loans receivable.
¢ Financing activities are usually the result of changes in liabilities, other than operating items.
e Proceeds from borrowing on long-term debt
e Proceeds from inter-fund borrowing
e Payments made to lenders on long-term debt
e Cash received for creation of endowment funds
¢ Exchange gain or loss: International accounting principles require the exchange gain or loss on foreign
currency transactions to be reported on a separate line apart from the cash flows of operating, investing, or
financing activity.

Step 6: Reconcile the change in balances of cash and cash equivalents for the period to the cash
provided or used by operating activities, investing activities, and financing activities

¢ Calculate the sum of cash flows provided or used by operating activities, investing activities, financing
activities, and exchange gain or loss, if any.

4 The net total of these four sums should agree to the change in cash and cash equivalents for the period.

4 Reconcile cash at the beginning of the period to cash at the end of the period on the face of the statement of
cash flows.

Step 7: Disclose supplemental data

¢ Disclose data about noncash investing and financing activities along with the statement of cash flows. This
includes such items as donated equipment, or donated labor on construction of assets.

¢ Disclose cash payments, if any, for interest expense and income taxes paid and refunded during the period.
¢ Do notinclude interest on borrowing between funds within the Organization.
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6A.02 Reconciling Iltems for Computing Operating Cash Flow

These are examples of items that are either added back to or deducted from the change in net assets in order to
reconcile to the net cash provided or used by operating activities.

Additions Deductions
Items That Do Not Result from Cash Receipts and Disbursements
Depreciation expense

Items That Are Related to Investing or Financing Activities

Loss on sale of plant assets Gain on sale of plant assets

Net realized and unrealized loss on investments Net realized and unrealized gain on investments

Purchase of works of art, historical treasures, Contributions restricted to long-term investment
and similar assets if not capitalized or purchase of long-lived assets

Changes in Current Assets and Liabilities

Decrease in receivables Increase in receivables

Decrease in inventories and prepaid Increase in inventories and prepaid
Decreases in other current assets Increase in other current assets
Increase in accounts payable Decrease in accounts payable
Increase in refundable advances Decrease in refundable advances
Increases in other current liabilities Decreases in other current liabilities
Reminders

¢ The starting point of the reconciliation from change in net assets to cash flows from operating activities is the
“net increase (decrease) for the year” from the statement of financial activity.

¢ Unique to the cash flows of not-for-profit organizations are cash flows from contributions. Cash flows that
result from gifts restricted by the donor for long-term purposes are financing cash flows. Other contributions
are operating cash flows.

4 Also unique to not-for-profit organizations are noncash contributions such as gifts of long-lived assets,
consumable assets, and donated services that create nonfinancial assets. These transactions need to be
evaluated to determine if they require disclosure or result in adjustments to changes in net assets.

4 Avoid mis-classification within the three types of cash flows. Cash flows from operating may not necessarily
correspond to a particular organization's definition of “operations.”

4 Investment income is not an “investing” activity, but rather part of operations. This includes interest earned
on loans receivable.

¢ Generally, cash flows should be reflected at their gross amount instead of netting related inflows and
outflows. For example, do not combine loans given with payments received, which would then report only the
net increase or decrease in the ending balance of loans receivable. Instead, loans given to others should be
listed separately from payments received on loans receivable.

¢ The change in accounts receivable is computed using the amount net of the allowance for uncollectible
accounts when reconciling between change in net assets and operating cash flows.

4 Losses on sales of assets are added back to (and gains are subtracted from) the increase (decrease) for the
year to arrive at cash flows from operations. The proceeds of such sales are reported as cash flows from
investing activities.
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6A.03 Worksheet for Analysis of Changes in Account Balances (all funds combined)
Year Ended 31 December 20X1 (using balances from Appendix 17A)

Assets
Cash and Equivalents
Investments

Accounts Receivable
Cash Held for Agency
Notes Receivable, Current
Inventory and Prepaid
Inter-fund Receivable

(eliminated in totals)
Plant Assets

Notes Rec. - Long-term
Nonoperating Investments

Total Assets

Liabilities
Accounts Payable
Notes Payable, Current
Offering & Agency Funds
Notes Payable, Long-term
Inter-fund Payable

(eliminated in totals)

Total Liabilities

Net Assets
Unallocated Tithe
Unallocated Non-tithe
Allocated Funds
Unexpended Plant
Net Invested In Plant
Total Net Assets
Total Liab. and Net Assets

Current Prior Net
Year Year Change
1,702,642 1,599,670 102,972
8,458,661 5,840,869 2,617,792
12,182,294 11,042,572 1,139,722
546,956 672,581 -125,625
886,033 750,000 136,033
241,995 337,914 -95,919
2,000 20,000 -18,000
3,975,856 2,505,436 1,470,420
4,276,542 5,803,827 -1,527,285
1,245,890 41,235 1,204,655
33,516,869 28,594,104 4,922,765
955,057 820,057 -135,000
697,450 435,456 -261,994
7,200,452 4,526,233 -2,674,219
5,140,744 5,375,000 234,256
2,000 20,000 -18,000
13,993,703 11,156,746 -2,836,957
3,041,556 3,280,762 -239,206
3,462,935 3,067,025 395,910
7,798,929 8,522,900 -723,971
1,243,890 61,235 1,182,655
3,975,856 2,505,436 1,470,420
19,523,166 17,437,358 -2,085,808
33,516,869 28,594,104 -4,922,765

1
(
2,674,219 (
(

Inflow
102,972 (1p)
316,179 (1b)

-136,033 (1))
95,919 (1g)
18,000 (1n)

50,000 (2f)
180,009 (2b)

1,777,285 (1j)

135,000 (1h
261,994 (11
1i
1l

—_ = = =

238,006

Outflow

2,800,000 (1
133,971 (

1,139,722

125,625

]
(
(

1
1

c
d

f
i

1,700,429 (2g)

250,000 (1k)
1,158,765 (2¢)
45,890 (2c)

472,262 (1m)
18,000 (2h)

Type of
Activity

NC

NC/O

NC

NC/O

m O m O

NC/O

LEGEND: TYPES OF ACTIVITIES

O - Operating

| - Investing
F - Financing

NC - Non-cash
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6A.04 lllustrated Transactions, by Fund (using balances from Appendix 17A)
Year Ended 31 December 20X1

1. Operating Fund:

Total exchange gain in plant fund. 11,489
Net increase from cash flows other than rollover of investments. 45,890

a. Net decrease for the year: Starting point for cash flow statement. 567,267
b. Cash received from maturity of investments. 316,179
c. Cash used to purchase new investments. 2,800,000
d. Unrealized gain in market value of investments. 133,971
e. Donations restricted to long-term operating purposes, if any.
f. Increase in accounts receivable. 1,139,722
g. Decrease in inventories and prepaid expense. 95,919
h. Increase in accounts payable. 135,000
i. Increase in offering and agency funds (net effect; 2,799,844):
Change in agency cash (546,956 - 672,581) = Decrease 125,625
Change in agency liability (7,200,452 - 4,526,233) = Increase 2,674,219
j- Cash received in payments on operating notes receivable. 1,641,252
k. Cash used to issue new notes receivable. 250,000
[.  Cash received from new operating borrowing. 500,000
m. Cash used to make payments on operating debt. Principal 472,262; Interest 305,595
n. Net cash paid on inter-fund borrowing. 18,000
0. Total exchange gain in operating fund. 30,072
p. Increase in cash and cash equivalents: Ending point for cash flow statement. 102,972
2. Plant Fund:
a. Increase in net assets: Starting point for cash flow statement. 2,653,075
b. Non-cash transaction; depreciation expense. 180,009
c. Unrealized gain in market value of plant fund investments. 45,890
d. Cash received as donations or appropriations that are restricted to plant fund acquisitions. Such items
would be subtracted from operating activity and inserted into financing activity. 2,535,441
e. Cash used to purchase non-operating investments. 1,158,765
f. Sale of assets. Proceeds 50,000; Cost 100,674; Accum. Depr. 50,674; Net Gain -0-
g. Cash used to purchase land, buildings, and equipment. 1,700,429
h. Net cash received on inter-fund borrowing. 18,000
i.
j-
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6A.05 lllustrated Statement of Cash Flows

Year Ended 31 December 20X1 (using balances from Appendix 17A)

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net Increase (Decrease) from Financial Activity
Adjustments to eliminate non-cash items:
Depreciation expense
(Gain) Loss on sale of assets
Unrealized (gain) loss in value of investments
Adjustments to re-classify non-operating items:
Appropriations and donations for plant fund
Total exchange (gain) or loss
Increase in accounts receivable (net)
Decrease in inventories and prepaid expenses
Increase in accounts payable
Increase in offering and agency funds (net)
Cash provided (used) by operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities:
Proceeds from maturity of investments
Purchase of investments
Principal payments received on notes receivable
New notes receivable issued
Proceeds from sale of plant assets
Purchase of plant assets
Cash provided (used) by investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from external borrowing
Principal payments made on long-term debt
Proceeds (payments) from internal borrowing
Appropriations and donations for plant fund
Cash provided (used) by financing activities
Exchange Gain or (Loss) on Foreign Currency

Net increase (decrease) in cash and equivalents

Cash and equivalents at beginning of the year
Cash and equivalents at end of the year

Supplemental data: Interest paid on long-term debt

SDA Accounting Manual — January 2011 — page 105

Operating Plant Total lllustrated
Fund Fund 20X1 Transaction
(567,267) 2,653,075 2,085,808 1a +2a
180,009 180,009 2b
0 0 2f
(133,971) (45,890) (179,861) 1d + 2¢
(2,535,441) (2,535,441) 2d
(30,072) (11,489) (41,561) 10 +2i
(1,189,722) (1,189,722) 1f
95,919 95,919 1g
135,000 135,000 1h
2,799,844 2,799,844 1i
1,159,731 240,264 1,399,995
316,179 316,179 1b
(2,800,000) (1,158,765) (3,958,765) 1c + 2e
1,641,252 1,641,252 1j
(250,000) (250,000) 1k
50,000 50,000 2f
(1,700,429) (1,700.429) 29
(1,092,569) (2,809,194) (3.901.763)
500,000 500,000 1l
(472,262) (472,262) im
(22,000) 22,000 0 in +2h
2,535,441 2,535,441 2d
5,738 2,557,441 2,563,179
30,072 11,489 41,561 10 + 2i
102,972 0 102,972 1
1,599,670 0 1,599,670
1,702,642 0 1,702,642
305,595 0 305,595 im
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6B.01 Step by Step Process - For illustration, this appendix uses financial data from Appendix 17D.

Step 1: Gather Information

To prepare a statement of cash flows for the organization as a whole, first gather the following sources of
information for each fund (that is, operating, plant, etc.):

¢ Comparative statements of financial position,

4 Statement of changes in net assets,

¢ Transaction data from the general ledger, and

¢ Detail records for contributions, investments, and property.

Step 2: Calculate change in cash and cash equivalents

¢ Compute the increase or decrease in the cash balance from last year to the current year.
e The statement of cash flows will reconcile to this amount after all operating, investing, and financing
transactions have been identified.

Step 3: Prepare a cash flows worksheet:

A worksheet format similar to that illustrated in Appendices 6B.03 and 6B.04 can be used to identify the amounts
that should be reported in the statement of cash flows and supplemental data.
¢ To make it easier to identify the various necessary components and amounts, prepare these worksheets for
each fund individually, and then combine the results.
4 List all balances from the statements of financial position for the current and prior years.
¢ Calculate the changes in the balances from prior year to current year.
4 Identify the gross cash flows, and any non-cash transactions, that caused the increases and decreases for all
of the noncurrent assets and liabilities.
e The identified components should explain the entire change in each of the balances.
e For example, the net increase in plant assets of $1,289,475 consists of several components:
»  Addition of equipment purchased $473,907,
» Removal of assets sold: Cost $39,854; Accumulated depreciation $16,402, and
» Noncash items: Depreciation expense $365,980; Donated plant assets $1,205,000.
4 Identify the transaction as either operating, investing, or financing activities.

Step 4: Reconcile the total change in net assets to cash flows from operating activities

¢ Use the total change in net assets from the statement of activities as a starting point.
¢ Make the appropriate adjustments to reconcile the change in the net assets to net cash used or provided by
operating activities. Use the data generated from the worksheets, as illustrated on pages 4 and 5.
4 Look at those items on the cash flows worksheet marked operating, and incorporate those transactions.
¢ Add or deduct those items that are noncash transactions.
» Depreciation and amortization
e Contributions and investment income that are restricted by donor stipulations to long-term purposes are
to be reported as cash flows from financing activities.
» These items are included in the change in net assets; so they must be subtracted from the operating
activity section to reconcile cash flows from operating activities.
» Contributions and investment records will probably be the best source for identifying the cash and
noncash flows from these transactions.
e Add or deduct items that are adjustments related to investing or financing activities.
» One of these adjustments will be the net increase (decrease) to net assets of the annuity fund. The
components of this net amount will usually include cash as well as non-cash transactions.
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6B.01 Step by Step Process - (continued)

Step 4: Reconcile the change in net assets to cash flows from operating activities (continued)

e Add or deduct the changes in balances of current asset and current liability items.
» Increases of current asset items represent an outflow of cash.
— Purchase of inventory or prepayment of insurance
» Decreases in current asset accounts provide cash.
— Maturity of investments
» Decreases of current liability items represent outflows of cash.
— More accounts payable were paid
» Increases in current liabilities represent inflows or conservation of cash.

Step 5: Determine the cash flows from investing and financing activities

4 Review items in the cash flows worksheet that are marked as investing and financing activities.
4 Investing activities--usually the result of changes in noncurrent assets, other than operating flows.
e Purchases and sales of investments and land, buildings, and equipment are examples of cash flows from
investing activities.
¢ Financing activities--usually the result of changes in liabilities, other than operating items.
e Proceeds from borrowing on long-term debt
e (Cash received for creation of endowment funds
e In Step 3, contributions and investment income were subtracted from the change in net assets in the
operating activities section so they could be reclassified as cash flows from financing activities.

» Report the cash portion of those transactions as financing inflows.

» In this example, to arrive at net cash used by operating activities, $434,000 of cash contributions
restricted for long-term purposes ($354,000 plant fund and $80,000 endowment fund) was subtracted
from the operating activities section and added to the financing activities section.

» Another rule for cash flows from financing is that amounts received from new gift annuity and split-
interest agreements are to be reported at the gross cash received, not the contribution or net gift
portion. This example illustrates $126,901 cash received, $217,644 marketable securities received,
$218,695 related liabilities incurred, and $125,850 in contribution revenue.

Step 6: Reconcile the change in balances of cash and cash equivalents for the period to the cash
provided or used by operating activities, investing activities, and financing activities

¢ Calculate the sum of cash flows provided or used by operating activities, investing activities, and financing
activities.

4 The net total of these three sums should agree to the change in cash and cash equivalents for the period.

4 Reconcile cash at the beginning of the period to cash at the end of the period on the face of the statement of
cash flows.

Step 7: Disclose supplemental data

4 Disclose data about noncash investing and financing activities along with the statement of cash flows. This
includes such items as donated equipment, or donated labor on construction of assets.

4 Disclose cash payments, if any, for interest expense and income taxes paid and refunded during the period.
¢ Do not include interest on borrowing between funds within the Organization.
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6B.02 Reconciling Iltems for Computing Operating Cash Flow

These are examples of items that are either added back to or deducted from the change in net assets in order to
reconcile to net cash provided or used by operating activities.

Additions Deductions
Items That Do Not Result from Cash Receipts and Disbursements

Depreciation expense
Actuarial adjustment on annuities

Items That Are Related to Investing or Financing Activities

Loss on sale of plant assets Gain on sale of plant assets

Net realized and unrealized loss on investments Net realized and unrealized gains on investments

Purchase of works of art, historical treasures, Contributions restricted to long-term investment
and similar assets if not capitalized or purchase of long-lived assets

Changes in Current Assets and Liabilities

Decrease in receivables Increase in receivables

Decrease in inventories and prepaid Increase in inventories and prepaid
Decreases in other current assets Increase in other current assets
Increase in accounts payable Decrease in accounts payable
Increase in refundable advances Decrease in refundable advances
Increases in other current liabilities Decreases in other current liabilities
Reminders

¢ The starting point of the reconciliation from change in net assets to cash flows from operating activities is the
“change in total net assets” from the statement of activities.

¢ Unique to the cash flows of not-for-profit organizations are cash flows from contributions. Cash flows that
result from gifts restricted by the donor for long-term purposes are financing cash flows. Other contributions
are operating cash flows.

4 Also unique to not-for-profit organizations are noncash contributions such as gifts of long-lived assets,
consumable assets, and donated services that create nonfinancial assets. These transactions need to be
evaluated to determine if they require disclosure or result in adjustments to changes in net assets.

4+ Avoid mis-classification within the three types of cash flows. Cash flows from operations may not necessarily
correspond to a particular organization's definition of “operations.”

4 Investment income is not an “investing” activity, but rather part of operations. This includes interest earned
on loans receivable.

¢ Generally, cash flows should be reflected gross instead of net.

4 The change in accounts and contributions receivable is computed using the amount net of the allowance for
uncollectible accounts when reconciling between change in net assets and operating cash flows.

¢ Losses on sales of assets are added back to the change in net assets to arrive at cash flows from operations.
Any gains on sales of assets must be used as reductions. The proceeds of the sale are reported as investing
cash flows.
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6B.03 Worksheet for Analysis of Changes in Account Balances (all funds combined)
Year Ended December 31, 20X1 (amounts in thousands - using balances from Appendix 17D)

Current Prior Net Type of
Assets Year Year Change Inflow Outflow Activity
Cash and Equivalents 1,179 579 600 600 (1m)
Investments 526 541 (15) 15 (1b) NC/O
Accounts Receivable 426 414 12 12 (1d) 0]
Cash Held for Agency 57 50 7 7 (19)
Notes Receivable, Current 18 16 2 2 (11) I
Inventory and Prepaid 16 17 (1) 1 (1e) 0]
Plant Assets 12,287 10,998 1,289 366 (2b) 1,205 (2d) NC/O
40 (2f) 16 (2f) NC/O
474 (29) F
Notes Rec. - Long-term 86 51 35 9 (1h) 44 (1) I
Nonoperating Investments 671 255 416 292 (2e) I
(Plant, Endow., Agency) 125 (3d,9) F
Split-interest Agreements 1,526 1,674 (148) 60 (3e) 165 (3f) I
(Annuity, Trust) 18 (3h,i) I
217 (3j) 225 (3m,n) F
53 (3c) NC
Total Assets 16,792 14,595 2,197
Liabilities
Accounts Payable 261 356 (95) 95 (1f) 0]
Notes Payable, Current 60 16 44 44 (1i) F
Oper. Fd. Agency Accts. 57 50 7 7 (19) 0]
Notes Payable, Long-term 258 18 240 256 (1i) 16 (1k) F
Non-oper. Notes Payable 80 0 80 80 (2i) F
Split-Interest Liabilities 1,275 1,470 (195) 219 (3j) 118 (3b) NC
296 (30) NC
Agency Fund Liability _ 77 _ 32 _45 45 (39) F
Total Liabilities 2,068 1,942 126
Net Assets
Unrestricted Unallocated 290 308 (18)
Unrestricted Allocated 1,736 1,119 617
Unrestricted in Plant 12,099 10,997 1,102
Temporarily Restricted 499 209 290 LEGEND: TYPES OF ACTIVITIES
Permanently Restricted 100 20 80 O - Operating
Total Net Assets 14724 12,653 2,071 | - Investing
F - Financing
Total Liab. and Net Assets 16,792 14,595 2,197 NC - Non-cash
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6B.04 lllustrated Transactions, by Fund (using balances from Appendix 17D)
Year Ended December 31, 20X1

1. Operating Fund:

. Increase in net assets: Starting point for cash flow statement. $541,014.

Unrealized loss in market value of investments. $15,272.

Donations restricted to long-term purposes reclassified as non-operating. $434,000.
Increase in accounts receivable. $11,754.

Decrease in inventories and prepaid expense. $747.

Decrease in accounts payable. $95,503.

Increase in trust/agency accounts (cash and liability). $7,199.

Cash received in payments on operating notes receivable. $9,293.

Cash received from new operating borrowing. $300,000.

Net cash paid on inter-fund borrowing. $97,143.

Cash used to make payments on operating debt. Principal $15,909; Interest $2,862.
Cash used to issue new notes receivable. $46,000.

m. Increase in cash and cash equivalents: Ending point for cash flow statement. $607,216.

~T T S@moo0Tw

2. Plant Fund:

Increase in net assets: Starting point for cash flow statement. $1,341,006.
Non-cash transaction; depreciation expense. $365,980.

Cash received as donations restricted to plant acquisition. $354,000.

Cost of church and school properties added. $1,205,000.

Cash used to purchase non-operating investments. $292,367.

Sale of assets. Proceeds $41,865; Cost $39,854; Accum. Depr. $16,402; Net Gain $18,413.
Cash used to purchase plant assets. $473,907.

Increase in non-operating accounts payable. $1,903.

Cash received from new plant borrowing. $80,000.

Net cash received on inter-fund borrowing. $158,933.

T Tse@moeoooTw

3. Other Funds:
a. Increase in net assets: Starting point for cash flow statement. Annuity, $83,864; Trust, $25,000;
Endowment, $80,000; Total, $188,864.
Actuarial adjustments to decrease present value liability of split-interest agreements. $119,407.
Unrealized loss in market value of investments held for split-interest agreements. $52,853.
Cash received as donations restricted to endowment. $80,000.
Cash received from maturity of non-operating (annuity) investments. $60,000.
Cash used to purchase new non-operating investments. $164,571.
Increase in Agency Fund liability to depositors. $45,000.
Cash received in payments on non-operating accrued interest receivable. $3,189.
Cash received in payments on non-operating notes receivable. $14,850.
Gross amounts from new split-interest agreements. Cash $126,901; Marketable Securities $217,644;
NPV Liability $218,695; Contribution or Gift Portion $125,850.
Net cash paid on inter-fund borrowing. $61,790.
Investment income on assets held for split-interest agreements. $123,059, all received in cash.
. Payments to income beneficiaries: Annuity, $18,722; Trust $59,916.
Distributions from matured agreements: total $144,811; all paid in cash.
Annuity: To Operating, $36,345; To Other Beneficiaries, $35,000
Trust: To Operating, $58,466, To Other Beneficiaries, $15,000
0. Non-cash decrease in conditional split-interest agreements. $296,263.

T Tse@Teoo0o
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Appendix 6B - How To Prepare A Statement Of Cash Flows (USA Model)

6B.05 lllustrated Statement of Cash Flows
Year Ended December 31, 20X1 (using balances from Appendix 17D)

Total lllustrated
Cash flows from operating activities: 20X1 Transaction
Increase (Decrease) in net assets 2,070,884 1a+2a+3a
Adjustments to eliminate non-cash items:
Depreciation expense 365,980 2b
(Gain) Loss on sale of assets (18,413) 2f
Cost of church and school properties added (1,205,000) 2d
Unrealized (gain) loss in fair value of investments 15,272 1b
Adjustments to reclassify non-operating items:
Annuity Fund net (increase) decrease to net assets (83,864) 3a
Trust Acctng Fd net (increase) decrease to net assets (25,000) 3a
Contributions restricted for non-operating purposes (434,000) 1c
Increase in accounts receivable (net) (11,754) 1d
Increase in agency cash (7,199) 19
Decrease in inventories and prepaid expenses 747 1
Decrease in accounts payable (95,503) 1f
Increase in trust and agency accounts 7,199 19
Net cash provided (used) by operating activities 579,349
Cash flows from investing activities:
Proceeds from maturity of investments 60,000 3e
Purchase of investments (456,938) 2e+3f
Proceeds from sale of plant assets 41,865 2f
Purchase of plant assets (473,907) 29
New notes receivable issued (46,000) 11
Principal payments received on notes receivable 24,143 1h+3i
Net cash provided (used) by investing activities (850,837)
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from external borrowing 380,000 1i+2i
Proceeds (payments) from internal borrowing 0 1j+2j+3k
Increase (decrease) non-operating accounts payable 1,903 2h
Total cash received from new split-interest agreements 126,901 3j
Non-operating restricted investment income 123,059 3l
Payments to annuitants (18,722) 3m
Payments to income beneficiaries (59,916) 3m
Distributions from matured split-interest agreements (144,811) 3n
Donations restricted for long-term purposes 434,000 2c+3d
Principal payments made on long-term debt (15,909) 1k
Increase (decrease) Agency Fund liability to depositors 45,000 39
Net cash provided (used) by financing activities 871,505
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 600,017 im
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 579.417
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 1,179,343

Supplemental data: Interest paid on long-term debt 2,862 1k
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Appendix 6C - Country-specific Report Format (USA Standard)
6C.01 Required Financial Statements - Generally, the guidance in Chapter 6 applies to all entities world-
wide. USA GAAP requires not-for-profit entities to separate net assets further into three classes: unrestricted,
temporarily restricted, or permanently restricted, based on the absence or presence of donor restrictions. USA
GAAP requires the financial statements to report expenses according to functional classifications, such as
identified programs and supporting services, rather than by their natural object. Appendix 17C illustrates the
most basic GAAP requirements, in the context of a two-fund conference. Appendix 17D illustrates a
recommended expansion of fund accounting for a complex, multi-fund conference.
General-use financial statements in the USA, illustrated in Appendices 17C and 17D, are to include the following:
Statement of Financial Position
Statement of Changes in Net Assets
Statement of Cash Flows
Notes to the Financial Statements
The statements may be “combined” that is, a combination of two or more commonly controlled entities, such
as a conference and its related corporation, or an academy and its related independent operation (if both are
controlled by the same entity). See Appendix 6D for further discussion about consolidations. Voluntary health
and welfare organizations are required to prepare an additional statement that reports expenses by their
functional and natural classifications in a matrix format. An example of this kind of statement can be found at
Appendix 17E.07. In addition, organizations that use fund accounting will prepare supplementary statements for
each fund for management purposes, and will include relevant detailed schedules.
6C.02 Additional Note Disclosures - USA GAAP includes the required note disclosures discussed in

Sections 606.03 and 606.04. USA GAAP also requires note disclosures for the following types of accounts:

¢ Temporarily Restricted Net Assets (brief description of restricted purposes and balances held for each one,
if any) [ see Appendix 17D.13, note 17]

¢ Permanently Restricted Net Assets (brief description of restricted purposes and balances held for each
one, if any) [see Appendix 17D.13, note 18]

4 Fair Value Inputs for Assets and Liabilities (for all assets and liabilities recognized at fair value, on either a
recurring or non-recurring basis, disclosure of the sources of information used to determine fair value,
separated between “level 1, level 2, and level 3” inputs) [see Appendix 17D, note 4]

¢ Endowment Agreements (included in Note 1: the organization’s interpretation of state law regarding
classification of permanently restricted net assets and preservation of endowment principal; and included
either in Note 1 or elsewhere in the notes: the composition of endowment net assets, the beginning and
ending net assets, and the related activity) [see Appendix 17D, notes 1m to 1p and 19]

4 Split-interest Agreements (summary of accounting principles for such agreements, changes in value of
investments, gift portion of new agreements, gain or loss on investments, changes in liabilities during the
year, and balances of liabilities) [see Appendix 17D, notes 1j, 14, 15, & 16]
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¢

Subsequent Event Evaluation Date (disclosure of the date through which management has evaluated
subsequent events for inclusion in the financial statements or notes, and identification of whether that date is
the date the statements were issued or were available to be issued) [see Appendix 17D, note 1(a)]

Contingent Liabilities and Concentrations of Risk (brief description of exposure to certain types of risks)
[see Appendix 17D, note 23]

6C.03 Schedule of Working Capital and Liquidity - The discussion about the schedule of working capital

and liquidity in Section 605 applies to entities in the USA, except for the following changes.

(A) For entities that use fund accounting with multiple funds, the schedule can include separate columns for
the operating funds, before the comparative columns for the organization as a whole.

B) For the schedule of liquidity, commitments are defined as current liabilities, plus net assets allocated for
capital purposes, plus temporarily restricted net assets that are not covered by specifically identified
noncurrent assets.

6C.04 Statement Format for Colleges and Universities - This Manual does not include illustrated financial

statements for colleges and universities within the USA. The North American Division has chosen to follow the

existing guidance in the manual prepared by the National Association of College and University Business Officers

(NACUBO). All denominational colleges and universities in the USA should follow the NACUBO manual for

accounting and financial reporting.
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Appendix 6D - Consolidation of Organizations (USA Standard)

6D.01

Professional Guidance - Standards for consolidation of not-for-profit organizations in the United

States are contained in SOP 94-3. Following is the basic text of SOP 94-3, including paragraph reference. In

addition, to make it easier to follow, Appendix 6F presents this guidance in a flowchart.

Conclusions

3.

This SOP provides guidance for reporting (a) investments in for-profit majority-owned subsidiaries, (b)
investments in common stock of for-profit entities wherein the not-for-profit organization has a 50
percent or less voting interest, and (c) financially inter-related not-for-profit organizations.

Whether the financial statements of a reporting not-for-profit organization and those of one or more
other entities should be consolidated, whether those other entities should be reported using the equity
method, and the extent of the disclosure that should be required, if any, should be based on the
nature of the relationships between the entities.

Investments in For-Profit Majority-Owned Subsidiaries

5.

Not-for-profit organizations with a controlling financial interest in a for-profit entity through direct or
indirect ownership of a majority voting interest in that entity should follow the guidance in FASB
Statement 94, in determining whether the financial position, results of operations, and cash flows of
the for-profit entity should be included in the not-for-profit organization's financial statements.

Investments in Common Stock - 50 Percent or Less Voting Interest

6.

Investments in common stock of for-profit entities wherein the not-for-profit organization has 50
percent or less of the voting stock in the investee should be reported under the equity method,
subject to the exception in paragraph 7 of this SOP.

Some AICPA audit guides applicable to some not-for-profit organizations permit investment portfolios
to be reported at market value. Not-for-profit organizations that choose to report investment portfolios
at market value in conformity with the AICPA audit guides may do so instead of applying the equity
method to investments covered by paragraph 6 of this SOP.

Financially Interrelated Not-For-Profit Organizations

8.

10.

11.

12.

Not-for-profit organizations may be related to one or more other not-for-profit organizations in
numerous ways, including ownership, control, and economic interest.

As discussed in paragraphs 10-13, the various kinds and combinations of control and economic
interest result in various financial reporting.

Not-for-profit organizations with a controlling financial interest in another not-for-profit organization
through direct or indirect ownership of a majority voting interest in that other not-for-profit organization
should consolidate that other organization, unless control is likely to be temporary or does not rest
with the majority owner, in which case consolidation is prohibited.

In the case of control through a majority ownership interest by other than ownership of a majority
voting interest, as discussed in paragraph 10, or control through a majority voting interest in the board
of the other entity, combined with an economic interest in other such organizations, consolidation is
required, unless control is likely to be temporary or does not rest with the majority owner, in which
case consolidation is prohibited.

Control of a separate not-for-profit organization in which the reporting organization has an economic
interest may take forms other than majority ownership or voting interest. For example, control may be
through contract or affiliation agreement. In circumstances such as these, consolidation is permitted
but not required, unless control is likely to be temporary, in which case consolidation is prohibited.
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6D.01 - Professional Guidance (USA Standard) (continued)

12. (continued) If the reporting organization controls a separate not-for-profit organization through a form
other than majority ownership or voting interest and has an economic interest in that other
organization, and consolidated financial statements are not presented, notes to the financial
statements should include the following disclosures:

* ldentification of the other organization and the nature of its relationship with the reporting
organization that results in control

Summarized financial data of the other organization, including:

- Total assets, liabilities, net assets, revenue, and expenses

- Resources that are held for the benefit of the reporting organization or that are under its
control

The disclosures set forth in FASB Statement No. 57, Related Party Disclosures

13. In the case of control and an economic interest, the presentation of consolidated financial statements,
as discussed in paragraph 11, or the disclosures, as discussed in paragraph 12, are required. The
existence of control or an economic interest, but not both, precludes consolidation, except as stated
in the next sentence, but requires the disclosures set forth in FASB Statement No. 57. Entities that
otherwise would be prohibited from presenting consolidated financial statements under the provisions
of this SOP, but that currently present consolidated financial statements in conformity with the
guidance in SOP 78-10, may continue to do so.

14. If consolidated financial statements are presented, they should disclose any restrictions made by
entities outside of the reporting entity on distributions from the controlled not-for-profit organization to
the reporting organization and any resulting unavailability of the net assets of the controlled not-for-
profit organization for use by the reporting organization.

Glossary

Control. The direct or indirect ability to determine the direction of management and policies through
ownership, contract, or otherwise.

Economic Interest. An interest in another entity that exists if (a) the other entity holds or utilizes
significant resources that must be used for the unrestricted or restricted purposes of the not-for-profit
organization, either directly or indirectly by producing income or providing services, or (b) the reporting
organization is responsible for liabilities of the other entity. Following are examples of economic interests:
*  Other entities solicit funds in the name of and with the expressed or implied approval of the reporting
organization, and substantially all of the funds solicited are intended by the contributor or are
otherwise required to be transferred to the reporting organization or used at its discretion or direction.

A reporting organization transfers significant resources to another entity whose resources are held for
the benefit of the reporting organization.

A reporting organization assigns certain significant functions to another entity.

A reporting organization provides or is committed to provide funds for another entity or guarantees
significant debt of another entity.

Majority voting interest in the board of another entity. For purposes of this SOP, a majority voting
interest in the board of another entity is illustrated by the following example. Entity B has a five-member
board, and a simple voting majority is required to approve board actions. Entity A will have a majority
voting interest in the board of entity B if three or more entity A board members, officers, or employees
serve on or may be appointed at entity A's discretion to the board of entity B. However, if three of entity
A's board members serve on the board of entity B but entity A does not have the ability to require that
those members serve on the entity B board, entity A does not have a majority voting interest in the board
of entity B.
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6D.02 Definition Examples - Control: If a conference committee has authority to direct that a separately
organized book center will not carry certain types of merchandise, that is likely to be considered control. If the
conference committee has authority to close the book center, control exists.

Economic Interest: Academies serve to advance the religious education of the youth of the conference and to
evangelize youth who are not yet church members. Most academies and some separately organized book
centers receive significant operating and/or capital appropriations from conferences. Many conferences have
significant receivables from academies and/or book centers. These are indicators of economic interest.

Majority voting interest in the board: If the conference committee has authority to appoint the majority of
academy board members, the conference has majority voting interest in the board of the academy. In contrast, if
the constituency of the conference appoints a majority of the academy board, the conference does not have
majority voting interest in the board of the academy (even if the same individuals are also members of the
conference committee). If the same constituency elects both the conference committee and the academy board,
both organizations are commonly controlled and exempt from the requirement to consolidate.

6D.03 Application - It is apparent that the requirement to consolidate will rest heavily on the circumstances
of each case. It will be vital to examine the constitution and by-laws of both the reporting entity and the related
entity to see how they compare to the definitions of control, economic interest, and majority voting interest in the
board. The following paragraphs discuss how these rules may apply to denominational organizations. The
accompanying flowchart, Appendix 6F, taken from SOP 94-3, should also help in this analysis.

6D.04 Adventist Book Centers - It should be recognized that book centers vary in size and operating
structure. Some book centers do not have any separate organizational structure, but are just a department of a
conference. Those that have a separate structure must be analyzed individually to decide whether to consolidate
with the conference. If all three conditions are met (control, economic interest, and board membership) the book
center must be consolidated on the conference financial statement. If control and economic interest exist, but not
majority board membership, consolidation is permitted but not required. In this case, if not consolidated,
extensive disclosures are required in the notes to the conference financial statement.

6D.05 Academies - Historically, conferences have provided substantial financial support for academies.
This alone, however, does not mean that consolidation is required. Academies exhibit a greater variety of size
and structure than book centers do. Many academies receive economic support and management input from
constituent churches in addition to influence from the conference. It is possible that in these cases, the

conference does not have the degree of control or economic interest that would require consolidation. As with
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book centers, each academy will have to be analyzed individually to determine if consolidation is required.

6D.06 Literature Evangelism Organizations - Like book centers, some literature evangelism organizations

vary in size and organizational structure. The current structure of each of these entities will have to be analyzed.
If a union, publishing house, or conference has a relationship with a literature evangelism organization that
satisfies the criteria of control, economic interest, and board membership, they will have to be consolidated with
the controlling organization.

6D.07 College Industries - Some colleges operate commercial industries through wholly-owned for-profit

corporations. As quoted earlier, SOP 94-3 indicates that not-for-profit organizations in this situation are subject to
FASB Statement 94. Each college will have to analyze its situation to determine if its industry should be
consolidated with the college financial statement. The following are excerpts from Statement 94.

101. There is a presumption that consolidated statements are more meaningful than separate
statements and that they are usually necessary for a fair presentation when one of the
enterprises in the group directly or indirectly has a controlling financial interest in the other
enterprises.

102.  The usual condition for a controlling financial interest is ownership of a majority voting interest,
and, therefore, as a general rule ownership by one enterprise, directly or indirectly, of over fifty
percent of the outstanding voting shares of another enterprise is a condition pointing toward
consolidation. . . A majority-owned subsidiary shall not be consolidated if control is likely to be
temporary or if it does not rest with the majority owner (legal reorganization or. . . governmentally
imposed uncertainties).

103.  All majority-owned subsidiaries--all companies in which a parent has a controlling financial
interest through direct or indirect ownership of a majority voting interest--shall be consolidated,
except those described in the last sentence of paragraph 102.

6D.08 Retirement and Nursing Centers - Some denominational organizations are affiliated in one way or

another with retirement or nursing centers. In each of these cases, the constitutions and bylaws of these
organizations will have to be analyzed to determine if they meet the criteria for consolidation. In this type of entity,
there may also be need for legal counsel to clarify relationships between organizations.

6D.09 Colleges and Universities - Union Conferences and/or the General Conference have historically

exercised varying degrees of control over colleges and universities. Each of these relationships will have to be
analyzed in light of SOP 94-3, to determine whether consolidation will be required.

6D.10 Included, Combined, or Consolidated? - Most of the questions about grouping financial statements

of related organizations will involve entities within a conference territory. Most entities or activities will conform to
one of the following three scenarios:

A department or function that should be included within the overall financial statements of an entity;

A separately organized or managed entity that is controlled by another, and should be consolidated with it; or
Two separate entities that are commonly controlled, and may elect to combine their financial statements.
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To simplify the following illustrations, we will use the terms ABC and XYZ, but be aware that various types of
entities could be organized in a way to fit each of the three scenarios.

Department or Function - If ABC has no separate organizational structure, and is closely managed or directed
by the governing body of XYZ, it would be defined as just a department or function of XYZ. Such a
conclusion would be indicated if, for example, ABC’s manager reported to and received direction from
XYZ's committee, or if decisions related to ABC were discussed and acted upon during specified periods
of XYZ’s committee meeting. If this were the case, the accounts and activity of ABC should be included
within the financial statements of XYZ as just another fund or operating segment. This would comply with
the principles of FAS 117 for reporting on the organization as a whole. Inclusion of ABC in XYZ's
financial statements would not in itself result in the statements being referred to as either “combined” or
“consolidated.”

Directly Controlled - If ABC has a separate organizational structure that is actively managed by a separate
committee, but a majority of the members of that committee are appointed by XYZ’s committee, ABC
would be defined as a related organization that is controlled by XYZ. If in addition to this control, XYZ has
an economic interest in ABC, the accounts and activity of ABC should be consolidated with XYZ to get
general-use financial statements of XYZ. This would comply with the principles of SOP 94-3 for related
organizations. As an alternative, if XYZ did not need general-use financial statements, and did not wish
to consolidate the accounts and activity of ABC, it could issue unconsolidated parent-only financial
statements that would be limited to distribution within the denomination. At the same time, separate
financial statements could be issued for ABC, identifying it as a subsidiary of XYZ.

Commonly Controlled - If ABC and XYZ are separate entities, but their separate controlling committees are
elected by the same constituent body, then ABC and XYZ would be defined as commonly controlled
entities. In this case, ABC and XYZ would not be required to consolidate under SOP 94-3, but would be
permitted to be combined under other accounting principles. Combined financial statements are
permitted if they are likely to be more meaningful than separate statements. Putting two or more
commonly controlled entities together would result in combined financial statements.
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Appendix 6E - Consolidation Decision Tree for Related Not-for-Profit Organizations
(International Model)

Start with Definitions:
RE = Reporting Entity
OO = Other Organization

\ 4

Does RE own a majority financial
interest in either the net assets or the Yes
capital stock of O0?

[
>

v

v No Consolidate RE (as the parent)

with OO (as the subsidiary).
Does RE have the authority to appoint
a majority of the members of the Yes If RE's debt or equity instruments are not

governing committee of OO? traded on an open market, RE can choose to
issue either consolidated or unconsolidated

\ 4

financial statements.

No
\4

A

Does RE have the authority to cast a
majority of the votes at meetings of Yes
the governing committee of OO?

\ 4

No

\4

Does RE have significant influence

through financial investment (but not OO is an associate of RE. If RE issues
majority ownership) in the net assets Yes | consolidated statements, account for OO
or capital stock of OO? g using the equity method. If RE does not issue

consolidated statements, account for OO

using either cost, equity method, or as an
available for sale asset.
No

\ 4

Does RE have significant influence

through representation, but not Yes Do not consolidate. Disclose existence and
majority control, over the governing g nature of the relationship and significant
committee of OO? transactions between RE and OO.
No
\ 4

No disclosures required.
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Appendix 6F - Consolidation Decision Tree for Related Not-for-Profit Organizations (USA Model)

Start with Definitions:
RE = Reporting Entity
OO = Other Organization

\4

Does RE have a majority voting
interest because it owns a majority of Yes Consolidate.
the capital stock of OO?

\ 4

No

\ 4

Does RE have an economic interest in
OO, or does RE have decision- No Do not consolidate.
making control over OO?

\ 4

Yes
\4
Does RE have both an economic Disclose existence and nature of the
interest and decision-making control No . relationship and significant transactions
over 00? "|  between the entities.
Yes
\ 4
Does RE own a majority of OQO's Consolidate. Eliminate balances and
capital stock, or does RE have the Yes transactions between the entities. Disclose
right to appoint a majority of OO's g existence and nature of the relationship
governing committee? between the entities.
No
\ 4

Consolidation is permitted but it is not

required.
v Disclose existence and nature of the
relationship, transactions between entities,
Are statements consolidated? No . and provide summarized financial data

including total assets, liabilities, net assets,

Yes revenues and expenses, and resources held
v for the benefit or under the control of the

reporting entity.

Disclose existence and nature of the

relationship.
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Section 701 - Introduction

701.01 Individual Funds Involved - As mentioned in Section 205.01, conferences and missions, colleges
and universities, and some academies use fund accounting. (For organizations that do not use fund accounting,
refer to the general guidance in Chapter 6, and the illustrated financial statements in Chapters 20 to 23.) For
entities that use fund accounting, as mentioned in Sections 202.01, 602.07, and 603.03, their general-use
financial statements represent the accumulation of data from the financial reports of all their individual funds. This
chapter addresses the format and content of individual fund financial reports prepared for management use in
multi-fund entities.

701.02 Statements Presented - For each fund, this chapter will focus on the basic financial reports: report
of financial position, report of financial activity, and report of cash flows. Funds that are complex, like a
conference operating fund, with numerous allocated sub-funds, will also use a report of changes in net assets.
For every set of single fund financial reports, there will be supporting schedules with additional detail.

Obviously, there will be some duplication between the single fund reports and the general-use statements.
For example, the Operating Fund Report of Financial Activity will look much like the Operating Fund detail note
included in the general-use financial statements (compare Appendix 17B.02 with 17A.05, Note 18). Similarly, the
Operating Fund Report of Changes in Net Assets will repeat the Operating Fund detail from the general-use
statement of changes in net assets (compare Appendix 17B.03 with 17A.03).

701.03 Supporting Schedules - Sections 601.03 and 601.04 discuss the distinction between notes which
are part of general-use financial statements, and supporting schedules which are in more detail and accompany
the individual fund reports prepared for use by management. This chapter includes guidance about the
supporting schedules related to individual fund reports. Line items in the financial reports of each fund are cross-
referenced by number to the supporting schedules that contain the related detailed information. This cross-
referencing is essential to enable the readers to find their way through what is unavoidably a large amount of
detail.

701.04 Need for Grouping of Funds - A comprehensive picture of the organization as a whole requires a
general-use financial statement that includes all the funds in use by the entity. However, management may find it
useful to prepare financial reports that combine certain closely related funds. The compilation of such group
reports must come after the preparation of the individual reports for each fund. It would involve simply arranging

data from the individual fund reports in columnar form, and cross-adding each line to arrive at totals for all funds
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presented in the particular group report. As is customary in combinations, inter-fund receivables and payables
are eliminated in stating the totals. Only those inter-fund items relating to the funds in the particular grouping
are eliminated.

Section 702 - Operating Fund

702.01 Scope of the Fund - The operating fund, as the title indicates, receives and administers all operating
income of the organization. It retains, invests, and disburses the funds in accordance with the financial plan of the
organization in compliance with denominational working policy. It handles the transfer of funds to senior
organizations according to policy, and disburses funds required for operating functions. One part of the
administration of this fund involves transfer of resources between funds. The following explanations of reports
and schedules will apply to the operating funds of each type of organization. For illustration, the following
sections refer to the sample financial reports for a conference operating fund (Appendix 17B).

702.02 Report of Financial Position - Each operating fund that presents separate financial reports will
include a report of financial position. Although presented for a single fund, the general content of the report of
financial position will be the same as described at Sections 602.01 to 602.03 for general-use financial statements.
As discussed in Chapter 15, the report of financial position displays net assets according to their character as
either unallocated tithe, unallocated non-tithe, or allocated. Line items in the report of financial position are
identified with a cross-reference to the respective supporting schedules.

702.03 Supporting Schedules - The supporting schedules to the report of financial position consist of
expanded detail listing each individual account within certain summarized groups of accounts. Supporting
schedules should be prepared for only those line items that are complex enough to need more detail, or which are
of interest to the organization's governing committee. The following observations are made to illustrate certain
possible schedules, and are not intended to illustrate all the schedules that an entity’s governing committee may
desire.

S-1 Cash and Equivalents - A schedule for cash and equivalents would include a detailed listing of all

individual accounts held at banks and other financial institutions. If applicable, the schedule should include
maturity dates and rate of return on time deposits.

S-3 Accounts Receivable - The primary detail in this schedule is a series of listings of amounts receivable

from affiliated entities and individuals. In contrast to the general-use financial statement notes, which only

summarize receivables by category, this operating fund schedule for management purposes contains disclosure
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by name of each entity and individual with a receivable balance.

S-2 Investments - A listing of investments by type of instrument makes it possible to compare actual

experience and current position with counsel from advisors and with denominational policy. If the investments
include time deposits, the schedule should disclose their respective maturity dates and rates of return. Note that
the valuation account for unrealized appreciation or decline in fair value is listed separately from the historical cost
for each type of instrument, and that the summary of investment return shows gains and losses apart from
interest and dividends.

S-4 Loans Receivable - The schedule for loans receivable lists each borrower, and groups them by type of

loan. For each loan, it also indicates whether it is secured, what the interest rate is, and how frequent the
required payments are supposed to be. For the group as a whole, the schedule indicates the allowance for
uncollectible accounts and the current portion.

S-8 Offering Funds and Agency Accounts - If there are relatively few offering and agency accounts, this

schedule will be essentially just a copy of the data that is displayed as a note in the general-use statements (see
Appendix 17A.05, Note 11). However, if there are a large number of accounts, and the general-use note lists only
summarized sub-totals, then this schedule would list each account within those totals.

S-9 Loans Payable - The schedule for loans payable is arranged in the same manner as the schedule for

loans receivable (details by name, type, and terms). In addition, it indicates the total amount due in principal
payments over each of the next five years.

S-11 Working Capital and Liquidity - If desired, a schedule can be included to report denominational working

capital and liquidity for the operating fund. As with the general-use financial statement notes, even when
presenting this information for the operating fund alone, inter-fund receivable and payable balances should be
eliminated before calculating actual working capital.

702.04 Reports of Financial Activity - Similar to the general-use financial statements, the Operating Fund
reports are presented in two formats. The Operating Fund Report of Financial Activity displays sub-fund data in
columnar array. The Operating Fund Report of Changes in Net assets displays sub-fund data in rows. (See
Appendix 17B.02 and 17B.03)

702.05 Reporting Details - The Operating Fund Report of Financial Activity presents data in the same
sequence as in the general-use statement of financial activity: earned income (from regular operations), operating

expenses, operating appropriations, capital activity, transfers, and increase (decrease) to net assets. Also note
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the columns presented: tithe fund, non-tithe fund, allocated funds, current period actual, current period budget,
and prior period actual. As with the statement of financial position, certain items are cross-referenced to
supporting schedules. The Operating Fund Report of Changes in Net Assets displays a separate line for each
unallocated and allocated sub-fund, with columns presenting revenue, expense, and transfers.

702.06 Budget Comparison - In accordance with denominational working policy and with good
management practice, this Manual requires the unaudited annual financial statements of the organization as a
whole to include a budget comparison. Further, whenever financial reports are presented for one fund, or a group
of funds less than the whole entity, this Manual requires the budget comparison to be included. (See Appendix
17B.) This Manual does allow the audited annual financial statements to omit the budget column. Chapter 8
discusses the responsibility of management to prepare and operate under a budget approved by the governing
committee, and offers guidance on how to develop a budget.

702.07 Supporting Schedules - As with the report of financial position, supporting schedules for the report
of financial activity should be presented for complex or significant areas. The following observations are made to
illustrate certain possible schedules, and are not intended to illustrate all the schedules that an entity’s governing
committee may desire. All of the schedules for financial activity display the same data columns as the overall
report; but the line items are separated and grouped by type of activity.

S-15 Tithe Income - Typically, this schedule reports the amount of tithe revenue received from each affiliated

organization within the reporting entity’s territory. It could also include as a separate sub-section any special tithe-
sharing or direct tithe revenues.

S-17 Other Operating Income - This schedule would be used to explain any significant items of revenue other

than the primary source of revenue, such as income from fees or sales.

S-18 Employee-related Expense - The schedule for employee-related expense should include sub-totals for

each major component; beginning with salaries and wages, and listing every major type of employee-related
allowances and benefits. It should include a separate line for any contributions made to defined contribution
retirement plans, or to government-mandated retirement plans, if any. It should also include a separate line for
any payroll-related taxes levied on the employer by government agencies.

S-19 Administrative & General Expense - This schedule reports sub-totals of significant groupings of general

expense. It would also include a separate line for any contributions made to denominational defined benefit

retirement funds. The amount of detail and the level of grouping is flexible, and should be prepared in a manner



Chapter 7 - Single Funds of a Multi-fund Entity SDA Accounting Manual — January 2011 — page 127
that meets the needs of the governing committee.

S-20 Departmental Expense - As with the other categories, this schedule should include the level of detail

desired by management and the governing committee, to be able to analyze the activity of major departments.

S-21 Other Operating Expense - The schedule of other operating expense would include items related to the

entity’s physical facilities, as well as expenses charged directly to allocated sub-funds.

S-22 Tithe Appropriations Received - Tithe appropriations received would be listed according to their nature

as either regular or special appropriations, and according to their source as either the next higher denominational
entity or an other denominational entity.

S-23 Tithe Appropriations Disbursed - Tithe appropriations disbursed would be listed according to the

affiliated entities that were the recipients of the appropriations.

S-24 Non-tithe Appropriations Received - As with tithe appropriations received, this schedule would list non-

tithe appropriations received according to their nature and source.

S-25 Non-tithe Appropriations Disbursed - As with tithe appropriations disbursed, this schedule would list non-

tithe appropriations disbursed according to the recipients.

702.08 Report of Cash Flows - Guidance on how to prepare a statement of cash flows is presented in
Appendix 6A. The operating fund report of cash flows is illustrated in Appendix 17B.04.
Section 703 - Plant Fund

703.01 Preliminary Observations - For all entities, whether they use fund accounting or not, the basic
concepts of accounting for land, buildings, and equipment are discussed in Chapter 13. Appendices 13B, 13C,
and 13D contain illustrated accounting entries for various transactions under single fund and multiple-fund
accounting formats. The Plant Fund uses distinct accounts to allow separate accounting for resources that are
available for future acquisitions and resources that have been spent to acquire plant assets. For reporting
purposes, when fund accounting is used, these accounts are usually combined into one Plant Fund column in an
organization’s general-use financial statements, as illustrated in Appendix 17A, but the assets, liabilities, and net
assets of each sub-fund, if used, may be reported in separate columns in any single report for just the Plant Fund.

703.02 Scope of the Fund - The unexpended plant fund assets typically consist of cash, investments,
accounts receivable, and amounts due from other funds. Its revenue will consist of direct donations for plant fund
purposes, revenue from investments, and transfers from other funds for depreciation funding and future plant

asset acquisition. Its disbursements generally will be for acquisition of plant assets and for repayment of debt
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attributable to plant assets. The net invested in plant fund assets consist of the long-lived assets owned by the
entity, depreciation and disposition of those assets, and any related debt.

703.03 Report of Financial Position - Because all resources of the Plant Fund are held for long-lived
purposes, the unexpended plant fund report of financial position lists all its cash, investments, and other assets as
noncurrent. Similarly, any accounts payable for transactions in process will be listed as noncurrent liabilities. The
unexpended plant net assets consist of one or more possible components. Any unspent resources that have
been allocated and transferred from operating funds will be reported as unrestricted allocated net assets. Any
unspent donations that have been restricted to plant fund use will be reported as restricted net assets.

The assets of the net invested in plant fund are reported on the face of the report of financial position as a
single line representing the total net depreciated value of the various categories of long-lived assets. Supporting
schedules provide additional detail by each class of asset. The net invested in plant sub-fund reports all debt
related to plant assets. A portion of the total is due within the next year, but as it will be paid from unexpended
plant funds, not from operating funds, it is not divided as to current and long-term on the face of the report of
financial position. The net assets of the net invested in plant sub-fund will be the organization’s equity in its plant
assets.

703.04 Reports of Financial Activity - As with operating fund activity, the plant fund activity is presented in
two reports. The report of financial activity presents activity with an emphasis on the type of activity (see
Appendix 17A.02). The report of changes in net assets presents data with an emphasis on the activity of each
fund, sub-fund, and account (see Appendix 17A.03). Donations, appropriations, and investment-related activity
are reported as revenue, and depreciation is reported as expense. Any gain or loss on the sale of plant assets is
reported as a separate item of activity.

703.05 Transfers - There are two types of transfers in the Plant Fund. First, all payments to acquire plant
assets are recorded as transfers between the unexpended and the net invested funds. This is because they
represent use of resources already on hand, merely converting them from liquid assets to long-lived assets.
Second, all committee allocated resources from the operating fund, for depreciation funding, future asset
acquisitions, and debt service, are recorded as transfers from the operating fund to the plant fund.

703.06 Net Assets - In order to preserve the identity of the net assets of the two sub-funds, separate
computations are made to arrive at the year-end balance of net assets for unexpended plant and for net invested

in plant. These individual components of net assets are reported in the report of changes in net assets, and the
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totals agree with the amounts in the report of financial position.

703.07 Schedule of Activity by Asset Class - As discussed in Section 1304.01, the balances for cost,
accumulated depreciation, additions, and deletions for each plant asset are typically accumulated in a subsidiary
ledger. As illustrated in Note 8 in Appendix 17A.05, this information is greatly condensed for presentation in the
general-use financial statements. That note reports sub-totals for cost, accumulated depreciation, current
depreciation expense, additions, and deletions, for each general category of plant assets. That note represents
the minimum level of detail required by international GAAP. For management purposes, whenever a separate
financial report is desired for the plant fund, a supporting schedule should be prepared to display whatever degree
of detail the governing committee wants. Such a schedule would typically contain more detail than the general-
use note, but less detail than the entire plant asset subsidiary.

703.08 Schedule of Net Assets by Source - If the unexpended plant net assets consist of a significant
number of either committee-allocated or donor-restricted sub-funds, a schedule may be prepared to show the
related detail for management purposes. This schedule would use the same format as the statement of changes
in net assets, but would simply expand the number of lines to include each sub-fund and account rather than

group totals as presented in the general-use statement.
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Appendix 7A - Balances and Activity Reported by Program or Function (USA Model)

7A.01 Operating Fund Report of Financial Position - A complete statement of financial position in
conformity with USA GAAP would include all funds of the entity. However, for management purposes, it is usually
helpful to prepare a separate financial report for each fund. Appendix 17E.O01 illustrates an Operating Fund
Report of Financial Position. The concepts illustrated in that appendix apply not only to an operating fund but to
each fund for which a single fund financial report is presented.

Although presented for a single fund, the general content of this report will be the same as described at
Section 602 and Appendix 6C for general-use financial statements. As discussed in Appendices 6C and 15A, the
statement of financial position displays net assets according to their character as either unrestricted, temporarily
restricted, or permanently restricted. Unrestricted net assets are further classified as unallocated or allocated.

Line items in the single fund report are identified with a cross-reference to respective supporting schedules.
Supporting schedules for the report of financial position are essentially the same as described in Section 702.03.
For the USA Model, one additional schedule is illustrated in Appendix 17E.04, page 3, as S-12 Temporarily
Restricted Net Assets. This schedule is essentially a repeat of Note 17 in Appendix 17D.

7A.02 Operating Fund Report of Changes in Net Assets - A complete statement of changes in net assets
in conformity with USA GAAP would include all funds of the entity. However, for management purposes, it is
usually helpful to prepare a separate report for each fund. Appendix 17E.02 illustrates an Operating Fund Report
of Changes in Net Assets. As introduced in Appendix 6C, USA GAAP requires the financial statements to report
expenses according to functional classifications, such as identified programs and supporting services, rather than
by natural object. It also requires the statements to report activity in groups according to the three classes of net
assets; unrestricted, temporarily restricted, and permanently restricted. These concepts apply to single fund
reports as well as general-use statements. (See related discussion at Appendix 15A.)

7A.03 Operating Fund Reporting Details - The sample statement in Appendix 17E.02 illustrates a number
of points. Note that revenue is displayed according to the three classes of net assets, and reflects the amount
“released from restrictions” as part of unrestricted support. Also note that expenses are displayed only within
unrestricted net assets. Expenses are reported, not by object or category (such as payroll or office supplies), but
by function (such as Pastors or School Operating).

For a conference, which typically uses many functions, the functions would be grouped into categories of

similar types, such as Church Ministries, Educational, Publishing, Supporting Services (which would include an
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administration function), and any other appropriate categories. For an academy, the functions would include
Instructional, Student Services, Student Financial Aid, Institutional Support, Auxiliaries, and if applicable,
Independent Operations. Under GAAP, “operation and maintenance of plant” is not to be considered a separate
“function.” All plant-related operating and upkeep expenses are to be distributed to the functions or departments
that are benefitted by those expenses. For all entities, the functions are further separated into two categories;
Program Functions and Supporting Services Functions.

For any organization that incurs fund-raising expense, that expense must be reported as a separate function,
either on the face of the statement or in the notes. Fund-raising expense may consist of payroll-related expense,
materials and supplies, or services obtained. If an activity or project involves fund-raising and other programs or
services (defined as “joint costs”), those costs must be distributed between the functions in a systematic and
rational manner. If it is not practical to distribute joint costs among the affected functions, the entire amount must
be reported as fund-raising. To be classified as distributable joint costs, the following criteria must be met:

e The purpose of the activity must be to help accomplish the entity’s program or management and general

functions. It must include a call for action other than educating about causes or asking for donations.

e The audience must be selected for reasons other than their likelihood of becoming donors.

e The content of the message must either include a call to action or offer a way for the audience to obtain

the subject service or participate in the subject program.

The report shows a sub-total of net increase or decrease in net assets attributable to operations. The non-
operating revenue and expense and gains/losses are shown for those organizations with capital functions held in
the operating fund. This is followed by inter-fund transfers. After presenting the changes in unrestricted net
assets, the changes in temporarily and permanently restricted net assets are shown. The report closes by
combining the net change this year with beginning net assets to yield net assets at end of the year. Note again
that certain items are cross-referenced to supporting schedules. The references to expenses are to Schedule 15,
which will be discussed in considerable detail in the following Sections.

7A.04 Operating Fund Budget Comparison - In accordance with denominational working policy and good
management practice, this Manual requires the unaudited annual financial statements of the organization as a
whole to include a budget comparison. Further, whenever financial reports are presented for one fund, or a group
of funds less than the whole entity, this Manual requires the budget comparison to be included. (For application
to the operating fund, see Appendix 17E.02 and 17E.06.) This Manual allows audited annual financial statements

to omit the budget column. Chapter 8 discusses the responsibility of management to prepare and operate under

a budget approved by the governing committee, and offers guidance on how to develop a budget.
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7A.05 Operating Fund Supporting Schedules - As with the report of financial position, supporting
schedules for the report of changes in net assets should be presented for complex or significant areas. Some of
the possible schedules are described below and are illustrated in Appendices 17E.05 and 17E.06.

S-15 Summary of Financial Activity by Function - This schedule displays a summary of the operation of each

function in the fund (see 17E.05). It starts with beginning balances, indicates unrestricted and restricted revenue,
total expense of each function, net transfers between functions, net transfers from (to) other funds, and concludes
with the ending balance of each function. The columnar arrangement of this schedule follows the sequence of
presentation of line items in the basic report of changes in net assets (see 17E.02). The column showing
transfers between functions totals to zero, because these items are transfers within the same fund and do not
affect other funds. The companion column showing transfers between funds involves movement of resources in
or out of the operating fund to other funds. The total of these transfers, $10,959, shows on the basic report as a
decrease in net assets of the operating fund. The final net assets amount agrees with the balance at the close of
the report of changes in net assets and the total net assets line in the report of financial position.

S-15-12 View of Elementary School Operating Line Item - Each line item in Schedule 15 should be supported

by a detailed sub-schedule. Because each line item represents a particular function or activity of the organization,
it is in these sub-schedules that the activity of a particular function is reported. For illustration, consider the line
for Elementary School Operating to see how supporting schedule S-15-12 explains the data shown in Schedule
15. (See Appendix 17E.06, page 4).

The sub-schedule shows the source of restricted revenue: church offering, miscellaneous donations, and GC
K-12 reversion subsidy. The total of $62,121 is classified as temporarily restricted revenue. Unrestricted revenue
of $373,386 represents the amount received from the elementary schools as their allotted portion of support for
the total program. Expenses are itemized, with a total of $592,753 agreeing with that in Schedule 15. This gives
a net decrease from operations (excess of expense over revenue) of $157,246. The transfers section shows
$12,000 was allocated to the Elementary School operation from the Unallocated Non-tithe function and that
transfers were made from the Unallocated Tithe function of $167,000 to assist with the payment of salaries and
allowances in elementary school operations. (The maximum amount of tithe allowable for this purpose is 30
percent of the total salaries and allowances; the $167,000 round figure is slightly less than 30 percent.) The
remainder of Schedule 15-12 concludes with Net Increase (Decrease) after Transfers and the ending balance in

Unrestricted Net Assets. Since the total expense exceeds the amount of restricted revenue in this function, the
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entire amount of restricted income, $62,121 is released from restrictions, and there is no ending balance in

Temporarily Restricted Net Assets.

S-15-33 View of Ingathering Reversion Line ltem - So much has been said about recording restricted revenue
that this Manual illustrates the Ingathering Reversion statement (Schedule 15-33) as an example. (See Appendix
17E.06, page 7). It is seen from the sub-schedule that a total $142,038 of restricted funds was received and
credited to the temporarily restricted revenue account. There was no unrestricted revenue. At the close of the
year, actual expenses totaled $51,632, and transfers to other functions, where funds were expended for the
restricted purpose, totaled $35,000. This means that only $86,632 can be released from restrictions, to cover the
expenses and transfers. The difference between restricted revenue received and the amount released from
restrictions, $55,406, is shown as the increase in temporarily restricted net assets for the year.

7A.06 Disclosures Limited by HIPAA - For organizations in the USA, which are required to present
expenses by program or functional category, the organization's process for distributing healthcare expenses
among programs and functions should be done in a manner that complies with the privacy rules of the Health
Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA).

The denomination has interpreted HIPAA to prohibit organizations from distributing healthcare expenses
among departments or functions strictly on the basis of healthcare benefits paid for the employees in each
department or function. That is because any department or function that employs only one individual, and reports
the total healthcare expense of that individual as the expense for that department or function, will by default make
it obvious to at least some readers what the healthcare expenses of that particular individual happened to be.
Such a disclosure without a valid HIPAA authorization from the employee would violate the provisions of HIPAA.

To respond to this privacy law, and yet comply materially with the requirements of GAAP, the denomination
has adopted the following strategy. Each organization should first accumulate all healthcare benefits expense
into one general ledger account. Then the organization should distribute the total of those expenses among its
program and support functions on some consistent reasonable basis, such as the number of employees in each
function, or the relative size of the expense budget for each function, etc. The result will be distribution of total
healthcare expense among the various functions on a reasonable but generic basis, while avoiding disclosure of
actual healthcare expense of any particular employee. (See Appendix 17E.07)

Compliance with the privacy rule of HIPAA should also be extended to the annual remuneration report viewed

by the governing committee in accordance with NADWP. This report is presented to the governing committee
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solely to assist them in monitoring compliance with denominational policy, and should be kept strictly confidential.
This report is not part of the employer's financial statements, and should not be included or presented with the
financial statements. As long as the employer implements procedures to guard against unauthorized use of the
data, especially against use of the data for employment purposes, HIPAA does not prohibit an employer’s
governing committee from viewing, for legitimate plan administration purposes, information about the amounts of
healthcare benefits paid for each of its own employees. Instead of a separate column disclosing healthcare
expense for each employee, there could be just one column that combines all benefits and allowances for each
employee (insurance, housing, healthcare, tuition assistance, etc.). (See Appendix 17E.08)

7A.07 Plant Fund Report of Financial Position - Because all resources of the Plant Fund are held for
long-lived purposes, the unexpended plant report of financial position lists all its cash, investments, and other
assets as noncurrent. Similarly, any accounts payable for transactions in process will be listed as noncurrent
liabilities. Any unspent resources that have been allocated and transferred from operating funds will be reported
as unrestricted allocated net assets. Any unspent donations that have been restricted to plant fund use will be
reported as temporarily restricted net assets.

The assets of the net invested in plant fund are reported on the face of the report of financial position as a
single line representing the total net depreciated value of the various categories of long-lived assets. Supporting
schedules provide additional detail by each class of asset. The net invested in plant sub-fund reports all debt
related to plant assets. A portion of the total is due within the next year, but as it will be paid from unexpended
plant funds, not from operating funds, it is not divided as to current and long-term on the face of the report. The
net assets of the net invested in plant sub-fund will be the organization’s equity in its plant assets.

7A.08 Plant Fund Report of Financial Activity - The illustrated general-use statement of the organization
(Appendix 17D.02) indicates that neither of the Plant Fund sub-funds had any operating revenue. The Plant Fund
report is divided into two sections: Depreciation Expense, which is an operating expense and affects only the net
invested in plant sub-fund; and non-operating revenue, expense, and gains/losses, which involve both sections of
the plant fund. The illustrated Note 19 in Appendix 17D.14 displays how the transactions are recorded. This note
shows Proceeds from Sale of Plant Assets, which is an inflow of cash recorded in the unexpended plant fund; and
Net Value of Assets Sold, representing removal of the depreciated value of the assets disposed of, which is a
decrease in the amount invested in plant.

The purchase of assets also affects both sub-funds. If activity detail were presented for unexpended plant, it
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would show cash disbursed ($283,907) for acquisition of new plant assets. Similarly, if activity detail were
presented for net invested in plant, it would show total value of assets acquired, $473,907, with an offsetting loan
of ($190,000), resulting in a net addition to the invested in plant fund of $283,907. The total value is recorded as
a long-lived asset, but since a portion of that was borrowed, only the net amount representing investment of the
entity’s own funds will increase net invested in plant net assets. Since the cash spent from the unexpended fund
is offset by the new asset added in the net invested fund, nothing is reported in Note 19 for this item.

7A.09 Transfers - All inflows to the plant fund other than those already considered in the Nonoperating
Revenue and Expenses and Gains/Losses section comprise transfers from other funds. These are identified as
depreciation funding and plant asset acquisition funding from operating funds.

7A.10 Plant Fund Net Assets - To preserve the identity of the net assets of the two sub-funds, separate
computations are used to arrive at the year-end balance of net assets for unexpended plant and net invested in
plant. These individual net asset balances agree with the related amounts in the statement of financial position.

7A.11 Schedule of Plant Fund Activity by Asset Class - As discussed in Section 703.07, amounts for
cost, accumulated depreciation, additions, and deletions for each plant asset are typically accumulated in a
subsidiary ledger, and are condensed for presentation in the general-use financial statements (see 17D.09, Note
9). The general-use note represents the minimum detail required by GAAP. For management purposes,
whenever a separate financial report is desired for the plant fund, a supporting schedule should be prepared to
display the degree of detail desired by the governing committee. Such a schedule would typically contain more
detail than the general-use note, but less detail than the entire plant asset subsidiary.

7A.12 Schedule of Plant Fund Net Assets by Function - If the unexpended plant net assets consist of a
significant number of allocated or temporarily restricted components, a schedule may be prepared for
management purposes to show the related detail. This summary would use separate columns to display types of
activity within each of the net asset classes: restricted and unrestricted income, “deductions” (not “expenses”),
transfers from other funds, net increase or decrease, beginning function balance, and the ending function

balance. This schedule would use the same format as described for the operating funds as Schedule 15.
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Appendix 7B - Agency Fund (USA Model)

7B.01 Nature of the Fund - This fund represents a program of investment of funds entrusted to the
organization by depositors. The liability to the depositors may be evidenced by formal notes or other written
instructions. These liabilities are owed directly to depositors, not to other funds of the organization. All interest
income is distributed to the depositors; there is no revenue to the organization itself. These two factors--all
money provided by depositors and invested, and all income from investments distributed to depositors--mean that
there is no net asset balance.

7B.02 Interest Arrangements -Interest on deposits is paid based on one of two plans.

(a) Certain depositors receive interest at a stated rate on the principle amount of their deposits as
specifically stated in the agreement itself.

(b) Other depositors agree to accept interest based on each depositor's pro rata share of interest
income from pooled investment of their money by the agency fund.

7B.03 Report of Financial Position - The report of financial position will reflect the above-mentioned
characteristics. There will be cash and investments that in total will equal all liabilities to depositors. There will be
a liability total representing the sum of all accounts due to depositors. There will always be a zero balance in the
net asset account.

7B.04 Report of Changes in Net Assets - The supporting schedules to the report of financial position
afford data which also supports the line items in the report of changes in net assets. The report indicates interest
income on funds invested and distribution of interest to the depositors. As previously noted, all revenue is

distributed; there is no excess or deficiency of income versus expense.
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Appendix 7C - Endowment Fund (USA Model)

7C.01 Endowment Funds Definition - True endowment funds are established by donors who make a gift
with the stipulation that the principal is to be maintained inviolate and in perpetuity and be invested for the
purpose of producing revenue for a specific function or for the general operation of the organization. Term
endowment funds are the same as true endowment funds with the exception that upon the passage of a certain
amount of time or of a particular event, all or part of the principal may be expended. Quasi-endowment funds
(funds functioning like an endowment) are funds which the controlling committee, rather than a donor, has
determined are to be invested similarly to an endowment. Since these funds are allocated by the committee, the
principal can be expended at any time by action of the committee. In the case of true endowment or term
endowment funds, it is mandatory that the principal be maintained intact in accordance with the terms of the
agreement.

7C.02 Endowment Accounting Principles - For true and term endowments, each endowment agreement
should be accounted for as a separate function within the endowment fund. The principal amount of true
endowments will be recorded as permanently restricted net assets and term endowment’s principal amount will be
recorded as temporarily restricted net assets. The financial activity will be recorded as illustrated in Appendix
7C.04. Each endowment function will have its own accounts for cash and investments unless the investments are
pooled. Endowment funds must be separately invested if the gift instrument requires it. Also, the type of
investment and the use of investment revenue, including realized capital gains and losses, must be in accordance
with the terms of the gift instrument. Further, the accounting for unrealized gains and losses in market value must
follow any terms that may be specified in the gift instrument.

For quasi-endowments only, the principal will be recorded as unrestricted allocated net assets. The financial
activity and net assets may be recorded in either the operating fund or the endowment fund. It is suggested that
quasi-endowments be recorded in an endowment fund if the organization also holds true or term endowments,
but be recorded in the operating fund if the organization holds no other endowments.

7C.03 Endowment Revenue and Gains and Losses - The endowment gift instrument should clearly state
the donor’s desire about the use of investment revenue earned on the endowment principal, as well as about
gains and losses from sale of investments and gains and losses in fair value. If investment earning is
unrestricted, it will be credited as unrestricted revenue of the operating fund. If investment revenue is restricted

by the donor, it will be credited as restricted endowment income in the temporarily restricted activity section of the
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appropriate function and fund. Realized and unrealized gains are to be given the same unrestricted or
temporarily restricted classification as the corresponding investment income on each endowment, unless donor
stipulations or state law require such gains to be permanently restricted. It is presumed that investment earnings
will be used before net realized gains are used.

Net gains (including unrealized market value appreciation) on the investment of donor-restricted endowments
should be accounted for as additions to temporarily or permanently restricted net assets. Net losses on the
investment of donor-restricted endowments should first reduce temporarily restricted net assets, to the extent of
any unspent appreciation gains. Any remaining loss should be accounted for as a decrease in unrestricted net
assets. Subsequent gains, that restore the value of the endowment portfolio, should be classified as additions to
unrestricted net assets until the donor stipulated level is again achieved. Sections 7C.04 and 7C.05 illustrate

selected journal entries and financial statement presentation to comply with these accounting principles.
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7C.04 lllustrated Endowment Journal Entries Debit Credit
Year 1 - Operating Fund
Cash 50,000
Temporarily Restricted Investment Revenue 50,000
To record investment earnings.
Unrestricted Program Expense 32,000
Cash 32,000
Temporarily Restricted - Restrictions Released 32,000
Unrestricted - Restrictions Released 32,000

To record the use of restricted resources.
Year 1 - Endowment Fund

Investment Securities 1,000,000
Permanently Restricted Contributions 1,000,000
To record new endowment donation.
Unrealized Appreciation (Decline) in Value [contra-asset account] 47,000
Temporarily Restricted - Unrealized Gain in Fair Value 47,000

To adjust the carrying value to fair value at year end.
Year 2 - Operating Fund

Cash 55,000

Temporarily Restricted Investment Revenue 55,000

To record investment earnings.

Unrestricted Program Expense 75,000

Cash 75,000
Temporarily Restricted - Restrictions Released 75,000

Unrestricted - Restrictions Released 75,000
Cash 2,000

Transfer From EF Temporarily Restricted Fund 2,000

To record the use of restricted resources
To illustrate the use of investment earnings first, then realized gains
if allowed; and all disbursements recorded as unrestricted activity:

Investment income in year 1 50,000
Disbursements in year 1 (32,000)
Investment income in year 2 55,000
Investment income available 73,000
Disbursements in year 2 (75,000)
Used from gains in year 2 2,000 (5,000 available)
Year 2 - Endowment Fund
Cash 30,000
Investment Securities 25,000
Temporarily Restricted Realized Gain on Sale of Investments 5,000
To record sale of investment securities.
Investment Securities 27,000
Cash 27,000
To record purchase of investment securities.
Transfer To OF Temporarily Restricted Fund 2,000
Cash 2,000

To record the use of restricted resources.
(See corresponding entry in operating fund.)
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7C.04 lllustrated Endowment Journal Entries Debit Credit
Year 2 - Endowment Fund (continued)

Temporarily Restricted Unrealized Loss in Fair Value 50,000

Unrestricted Unrealized Loss in Fair Value 10,000
Unrealized Appreciation (Decline) in Value [contra-asset] 60,000

To adjust the carrying value to fair value at year end.
To illustrate a loss greater than the balance of unspent previous
gains in Temporarily Restricted Net Assets. This unspent amount
should equal total temporarily restricted net assets in the
endowment fund just prior to this journal entry.

Gain from year 1 47,000

Gain from year 2 5,000

Gain used in year 2 (2,000)

Cumulative unspent gains 50,000

Unrealized loss in year 2 (60,000)

Portion to be recorded as unrestricted 10,000

Year 3 - Operating Fund
Cash 56,000

Temporarily Restricted Investment Revenue 56,000

To record investment earnings.

Unrestricted Program Expense 50,000

Cash 50,000
Temporarily Restricted Restrictions Released 50,000

Unrestricted Restrictions Released 50,000

To record the use of restricted resources.
Year 3 - Endowment Fund

Cash 38,000
Investment Securities 31,000
Temporarily Restricted Realized Gain on Sale of Securities 7,000
To record the sale of investment securities.
Investment Securities 35,000
Cash 35,000
To record the purchase of investment securities.
Unrealized Appreciation (Decline) in Value [contra-asset account] 18,000
Unrestricted Unrealized Gain in Fair Value 10,000
Temporarily Restricted Unrealized Gain in Fair Value 8,000

To adjust the carrying value to fair value at year end.
To illustrate recovery of the previous loss that had exceeded
the unspent gains in temporarily restricted net assets. The
recovery classified as unrestricted should not exceed any negative
balance of total unrestricted net assets in the endowment fund.
Total gain in year 3 25,000
Prior losses held in unrestricted;
To be recovered as unrestricted gain ~ (10,000)
Balance to be recorded as
temporarily restricted gain 15,000
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7C.05 Sample Financial Statement Presentation

Year 1
Endowment Donation Received
Temporarily Restricted Investment Revenue
Temporarily Restricted Unrealized Gain in Fair Value
Restrictions Released - Program Expense
Net Increase (Decrease), Year 1

Restricted Cash
Investments, at Fair Value
Total Assets, End of Year 1
Temporarily Restricted Net Assets
Permanently Restricted Net Assets
Net Assets, End of Year 1

Year 2

Temporarily Restricted Investment Revenue
Realized Gains on Sale of Investments
Transfer Between Temporarily Restricted Funds
Restrictions Released - Program Expense
Unrestricted - Unrealized Loss in Fair Value
Temporarily Restricted - Unrealized Loss in Fair Value

Net Increase (Decrease), Year 2
Restricted Cash
Investments, at Fair Value

Total Assets, End of Year 2
Unrestricted Net Assets
Temporarily Restricted Net Assets
Permanently Restricted Net Assets

Net Assets, End of Year 2

Year 3

Temporarily Restricted Investment Revenue
Realized Gains on Sale of Investments
Restrictions Released - Program Expense
Unrestricted - Unrealized Gain in Fair Value
Temporarily Restricted - Unrealized Gain in Fair Value

Net Increase (Decrease), Year 3
Restricted Cash
Investments, at Fair Value

Total Assets, End of Year 3
Unrestricted Net Assets
Temporarily Restricted Net Assets
Permanently Restricted Net Assets

Net Assets, End of Year 3
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Operating Endowment Organization
Fund Fund Totals

0 1,000,000 1,000,000

50,000 0 50,000

0 47,000 47,000

(32,000) 0 (32,000)

18,000 1,047,000 1,065,000

18,000 0 18,000

0 1,047,000 1,047,000

18,000 1,047,000 1,065,000

18,000 47,000 65,000

0 1,000,000 1,000,000

18,000 1,047,000 1,065,000

55,000 0 55,000

0 5,000 5,000

2,000 (2,000) 0

(75,000) 0 (75,000)

0 (10,000) (10,000)

0 (50,000) (50,000)

(18,000) (57,000) (75,000)

0 1,000 1,000

0 989,000 989,000

0 990,000 990,000

0 (10,000) (10,000)

0 0 0

0 1,000,000 1,000,000

0 990,000 990,000

56,000 0 56,000

0 7,000 7,000

(50,000) 0 (50,000)

0 10,000 10,000

0 8,000 8,000

6,000 25,000 31,000

6,000 4,000 10,000

0 1,011,000 1,011,000

6,000 1,015,000 1,021,000

0 0 0

6,000 15,000 21,000

0 1,000,000 1,000,000

6,000 1,015,000 1,021,000
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Appendix 7D - Gift Annuities Fund (USA Model)

7D.01 Gift Annuities Definition - Gift annuities are funds received from a donor subject to an agreement
whereby certain assets are made available to the organization on condition that the organization obligates itself to
pay certain stated amounts at specific times in the future to designated individuals. These payments are to
terminate at the time or event specified in the agreement.

7D.02 Gift Annuities Accounting - Because of the complex nature of gift annuities, they contain elements
of both contribution and exchange. Also, the contribution portion can be restricted or unrestricted. Further, the
unrestricted portion may be subject to state laws about when it can be withdrawn and spent, and investment and
management of annuity assets may also be subject to state laws.

At the date of gift, two or more amounts should be recorded:

(1) The asset(s) received should be recorded at fair value as of the date of the gift.

(2) The net present value of the actuarially determined liability payable to the annuitant should be
recorded as a liability.

(3) If the qift is unrestricted, the difference between (1) and (2) should be recorded as an increase in
unrestricted allocated net assets.

(4) If the qift is restricted, the difference between (1) and (2) should be recorded as an increase in
temporarily restricted net assets.

No attempt will be made in this Manual to discuss the writing of a gift annuity agreement. This is covered in
detail in the denomination’s Trust Services Manual. However, this Manual is concerned with the recording of gift
annuities in the financial records of the organization. The denomination requires the original gift factor to be
maintained until the annuity liability has been fully paid (see NADWP P 25 10). This Manual recommends that
organizations that administer a significant number of annuity agreements establish a separate Annuity Fund apart
from their Operating Fund, to help account for these agreements.

Increases in annuity net assets consist of the gift factor of new annuity agreements, investment earnings, and
net gains in excess of annuity payments made. Decreases include transfers to other funds upon maturity of
annuity funds. Additional changes in the net assets occur annually when adjustments are made between the
liability and the net assets for changes due to revised life expectancy. Appendix 17D.12 illustrates the above
accounting principles in Note 15. The accounting records should be organized to provide this kind of activity
detail for each annuity agreement.

7D.03 Gift Annuity Payments - Gift annuity payments are set at the time of the writing of the agreement.
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These payments are not made subject to the earnings generated by annuity investments. In fact, should the
annuity payments exceed the earnings and eventually deplete the annuity assets, the organization must continue
to make the agreed-upon payments until the annuity matures.

7D.04 Gift Annuity Investments - Administrative officers must be familiar with state laws or any other
governmental regulations concerning the writing or investing of gift annuities. A copy of the state law should be
on file and understood clearly, not only by those who write the agreements, but also by those who must account

for them once they have been written.
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Appendix 7E - Trust Accounting Fund (USA Model)

7E.01 Nature of Trust Accounting - In addition to charitable gift annuities, many conferences and colleges
serve as trustees or administrators of various types of split-interest agreements, such as charitable remainder
trusts, unitrusts, other unconditional irrevocable trusts, and revocable trusts. The organizations typically hold
various types of assets, liabilities, and net assets related to these agreements. There are specific accounting and
financial reporting requirements related to such specialized agreements.

First, because trust agreements are based on legal documents and legally-enforceable responsibilities, the
entity has a duty to keep account of the assets, liabilities, and net assets related to each individual agreement.
This includes the concept of keeping the accounts of each agreement separately identifiable from those of other
agreements. Further, the entity must be able to produce reports of the balances and activity of each agreement,
and deliver those reports to the respective trustors and other appropriate entities.

Second, because the organization has a stewardship duty over the assets, an obligation represented by the
related liabilities, and an ownership interest in any net assets, the respective balances must be reported in the
financial statements of the organization as a whole. To help accomplish that, this Manual recommends the use of
a separate self-balancing trust accounting fund, at least for organizations that administer a significant amount of
such agreements. In addition, for management purposes, separate financial reports should be prepared for the
trust accounting fund. (For organizations that administer a relatively small number of trust agreements, the
general-ledger accounting may be performed within the corporation/association operating fund, rather than a
separate trust accounting fund.)

To help entities administer their fiduciary responsibility to individual trustors, a set of trust administration
guidelines has been issued by the NAD Trust Services Certification and Accreditation Committee. While this
Manual does not intend to duplicate that guidance, it recognizes that certain information reported in the trust
accounting fund of the entity’s financial statements will represent the accumulation of information that is reported
to individual trustors through the fiduciary accounting system.

7E.02 Report of Financial Position and Supporting Schedules - Because the trust-related assets are not
held for operating purposes, the trust accounting report of financial position will list all its cash, investments, and
other assets as noncurrent. Similarly, the liabilities to income beneficiaries and other remainder beneficiaries will
be listed as noncurrent. The net assets related to the trusts will be reported according to their nature as either

unrestricted, temporarily restricted, or permanently restricted.
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The supporting schedules will give summarized detail about the cash and investment accounts similar to the
supporting schedules for the operating fund, but would not necessarily list each bank or investment account,
because they can be quite numerous. The schedule should summarize the cash and investment accounts in the
manner desired by the governing committee. For example, it could summarize the totals by each type of account,
such as time certificates, bond funds, government bonds, equity mutual funds, etc., or it could list the total cash
and investments held for each trust agreement. The supporting schedules will also give summarized details
about the liabilities to income beneficiaries and to other remainder beneficiaries. To the extent that the remainder
beneficiaries include affiliated organizations of the reporting entity, the schedule should list them and the
respective amounts.

7E.03 Report of Changes in Net Assets and Supporting Schedules - The trust accounting fund report of
changes in net assets will display the same trust-related activity totals as in the general-use statement: total new
irrevocable split-interest agreements and total change in irrevocable split-interest agreements. These totals will
be reported in each of the net asset activity sections (unrestricted, temporarily restricted, and permanently
restricted), where applicable. The supporting schedules will include details of the total change amount, in total
and in a sub-schedule with respective amounts for each trust agreement: investment income, actuarial
adjustments to present value of liabilities, required payments to income beneficiaries, gift portion of new
agreements added, realized gain or loss from sale of investments, unrealized gain or loss in value of investments,

liability portion of new agreements added, and changes in liabilities due to other remainder beneficiaries.
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Section 801 - Introduction

801.01 Accounting, a Tool of Management - So far, this Manual has focused on accounting and financial
reporting standards and procedures. To be complete, it will now discuss what management and governing
committees should do with the resulting financial data.

801.02 Comparative Information - A set of financial reports for a current period is valuable, of course, but
that value is enhanced when comparative information is presented. GAAP requires general-use financial
statements to include comparative data, unless unusual circumstances make it impractical or misleading. Also
useful to management is a summarized statistical review of critical amounts and relationships from the financial
statements of at least three or four years. The organization is a going concern; activity along all lines is
experienced from year to year. One of the ways for administration to make projections about what might happen
next year or the year after is to review what has happened in the past few years.

801.03 Planning and Decision-Making - When administrators have current, relevant information about what
has happened, they are better able to plan for the future of the organization and make decisions about how to use
available resources most wisely. Plans for future action based solely on hopeful expectations do not reflect wise
stewardship of denominational resources. When we speak of financial reports as tools of management for
planning and decision-making, the concept goes deeper than a superficial review of the bare facts. It involves
thoughtful analysis and prayerful submission to the will of God.

801.04 A Note of Encouragement - Administrators frequently face the challenge of matching resources with
desired programs and services. The following counsel should be a source of encouragement:

In our work for God there is danger of relying too largely upon what man with his talents and ability can

do. Thus we lose sight of the one Master Worker. . . The means in our possession may not seem to be

sufficient for the work; but if we all move forward in faith, believing in the all-sufficient power of God,

abundant resources will open before us. If the work be of God, He Himself will provide the means for its
accomplishment. He will reward honest, simple reliance upon Him. The little that is wisely and
economically used in the service of the Lord of heaven will increase in the very act of imparting. In the
hand of Christ the small supply of food remained undiminished until the famished multitude were satisfied.

If we go to the Source of all strength, with our hands of faith outstretched to receive, we shall be

sustained in our work, even under the most forbidding circumstances, and shall be enabled to give to

others the bread of life. Desire of Ages, pp. 370-371
Section 802 - Financial Statement Analysis

802.01 The Need for Analysis - Before the budgeting process begins, administrators need to analyze

current and prior financial conditions and performance. The subject of financial analysis is broad and cannot be

covered in depth in this Manual, but some suggestions are discussed in the following paragraphs. Analysis will
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vary with the individual organization, its financial condition, and its needs. Analysis has to do not only with the
computation of ratios, percentages, and relationships, but with the interpretation of those amounts. To interpret
the significance of the data, the analyst must have a good working knowledge of the organization.

802.02 Which Data To Measure - A vast array of data may be available for analysis, and a large number of
ratios and trends can be calculated. Here are a few criteria to help management determine which ratios and
trends are the most meaningful to the governing committee, appropriate sub-committee, or other members of
management.

Measure only those accounts, balances, or activities for which:

The results of analysis would trigger the need for a management decision.

The decision is not obvious but would be of consequence to the entity.

The results can have significant repercussions for constituents, affiliated entities, or financial
performance.

 Key management or committee members have expressed a desire to know.

802.03 Financial Position Ratios - Listed below are several financial indicators which can be used to
evaluate the financial condition of the organization. It is recommended that these items be computed for each
year and compared for at least three or four years. Such a time-span will allow observation of trends which may

be expected to continue during the coming years. Accompanying each of the items is a formula for its

computation.

Ratio of Liquid Assets to Commitments = (Unallocated Cash + Investments + Current
Remittances Receivable + Receivable from Higher
Entities) divided by (Current Liabilities)

Ratio of Recommended Working Capital = Actual Working Capital divided by

Recommended Working Capital

(The two preceding items are reported in a note to the financial statements. See Appendix 17A.05, Note 20.)

Ratio of Receivables to Operating Net Assets = Net Current Accounts and Loans Receivable
divided by Operating Net Assets

Ratio of Plant Assets to Net Assets = Land, Buildings, and Equipment (net book value)
divided by Total Net Assets

Current Ratio = Total Current Assets divided by
Total Current Liabilities

Debt Percentage = Total Operating Liabilities divided by
Total Operating Net Assets

Equity (Net Asset) Percentage = Total Net Assets divided by

Total Assets

802.04 Operating Activity Ratios - The ratios and percentages in the previous section relate to financial
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position at any particular point in time. Administrators are also interested in analytical data about the financial
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activity over a period of time. For that type of analysis, the following additional ratios can be used.

Ratio of Self-Support

Earned Income (without subsidies) divided by
Total Income (including subsidies)

Ratio of Net Income to Net Sales
(or Total Earned Income)

Net Income divided by Net Sales
(or Total Earned Income)

Ratio of Cost of Goods Sold to Sales

Cost of Goods Sold divided by Net Sales

Ratio of Gross Profit on Sales

Gross Profit divided by Net Sales

Ratio of Operating Expense to Net Sales

Total Operating Expense divided by Net Sales

Ratio of Payroll-related Expense to Tithe

Total Payroll-related Expense
divided by Gross Tithe Income

Collection Percentage (Student Receivables)

Net Collections (A/R beginning + student

charges - Write-offs - A/R ending)

divided by Student Charges

Accounts Receivable Turnover = Total Credit Sales or Total Student Charges
divided by Average Accounts Receivable

(A/R beginning + A/R ending divided by 2)
Inventory Turnover = Cost of Goods Sold divided by Average Inventory
(Inventory beginning + ending divided by 2)

802.05 Significance of Analytical Data - As mentioned in Section 801.02, the significance of any analytical
data is enhanced by comparing trends over a period of time. For that reason, this Manual recommends a three or
four year trend summary of these and other items which the administration feels are significant. It rests with
management, of course, to decide whether the trends revealed can or should be corrected. It must be
remembered that the ratios themselves are simply arithmetic. The trend of performance, the underlying reasons
for the trend, and the advisability of slowing, halting, or reversing the trend, are all matters for management
decision.

802.06 Additional Data - The ratios described in the preceding paragraphs are not all-inclusive. Some of
them may be relevant in only certain situations. Financial administrators may want to study other trends unique to
their type of entity. Do certain departments, programs, or functions reveal more fluctuation than others? Are
some departments, programs, or functions using up a constantly-increasing percentage of available income?
What is the trend of expenditure for general administration or other supporting services? This illustration is
intended only as a suggestion to prompt deeper analysis of all pertinent financial data, so that management can
make wise plans for future operations or correct trends which might indicate potential for future financial

embarrassment.
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Management typically assembles and analyzes the data, and then prepares it for presentation to the
governing committee or appropriate sub-committee. Such presentations can be difficult to comprehend if they
contain a large amount of numerical data. Management should consider presenting the various data with the use
of charts and graphs. If prepared carefully, such visual aids will make the significant data easier to understand.
Appendix 8B illustrates the visual difference between a numerical report and a graphic report.
Section 803 - Use of Budgets
803.01 The Budget Plan - Based on management's analysis of financial condition, operating results, and
management's plans for the future, various sorts of budgets are prepared as a blueprint for day-to-day operations
for the coming year. This is required by the following denominational policies:
All denominational organizations shall follow the budget plan of financial operating. The annual operating
budget shall be approved by the controlling committee. It shall be the responsibility of the officers of each
|085V?|50f organization to require subsidiary organizations in their territory to follow the budget plan. GCWP S
The budget is to serve as the primary instrument of financial authorization and control for every organization.
The treasurer is to provide timely financial information to his/her fellow officers and the controlling committee,
comparing actual operating results with budgeted projections. GCWP S 25 20
If the GC Division in which the reporting entity is located has additional guidelines, they also should be followed.
803.02 Types of Budgets - The preceding references deal with an operating budget—a prediction of income
by source for the coming year and an outline of how that income will be used for the normal functioning of the
organization. While the operating budget is basic to any organization's financial operation, two other types of
budget will be discussed later. The capital budget provides, sometimes on a one-year basis and sometimes for
an extended period of time, allocations of available funds for the acquisition of land, buildings, and equipment.
The cash budget represents a prediction of cash flow month by month, with an indication of those periods during
which temporarily excess cash may be on hand and other occasions when the cash requirements are expected to
exceed cash available. All three of these budgets (operating, capital, and cash flow) are essential elements of
financial planning.
Section 804 - The Operating Budget
804.01 Nature of the Operating Budget - Basic to the entire budgeting process is the preparation of the
annual operating budget. It is based on anticipated income for the ensuing year and allocates all such expected

income to the various programs and supporting services of the organization. Any funds which the organization

will have available to spend must come from anticipated income, and the scope and pattern of the activity overall
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will depend in every respect on these expectations and allocations. All organizations are bound by the same
constraints of matching projected expenditures against anticipated income.

804.02 Preparation of the Budget - Because the budget, after approval by the governing committee,
becomes the authorization to the officers for carrying forward the work of the organization, it is important that it be
prepared and approved by the governing committee before the beginning of the year which it is intended to
govern. Keeping in mind the mechanics of compilation of the original budget, the negotiations and trade-offs
which are necessary before it takes its final form, and the presentation to the governing committee for approval,
actual work should be started on the budget no later than the beginning of the third month preceding the new
year.

804.03 Estimating Donor-Based Income - Most conference and mission organizations usually expect to
show an increase in tithe or donation income over the previous year, due to: (1) increases in membership in the
constituent churches and (2) an inflationary trend which means that, on the average, the earnings and thus the
tithes and offerings per capita, will increase each year. It is human nature to conclude that income can be
budgeted for the ensuing year at an amount representing a percentage increase over the current year's total
income.

However, if budget preparation begins three months before year-end, management does not have an
accurate amount of total income from tithes and other funds for the full year. They must either project the total
based on actual nine months' income in the current year plus an estimate of the fourth quarter's income, or use as
a total the actual amounts for the last four complete quarters (fourth quarter of previous year plus three quarters
of current year). The second of these two methods is the more dependable, as it takes into consideration, on an
actual basis, the increased level of donations which usually reach an organization in the fourth quarter of the year.
A conservative approach dictates that budgeted income for the new year should not exceed estimated actual
income for the current year.

804.04 Estimating Student-Based Income - Most schools usually expect an increase in expense over the
previous year. Expansion of programs, aggressive recruiting, and economic inflation all combine to bring this
about. Necessarily, if expenses are to be met, income will have to increase. The estimate of income for the
coming year should be made on an extremely objective basis. How many students can reasonably be expected
to enroll? What are the commitments from the conference and constituent churches for operating subsidies?

Based on these preliminary figures, what will the charge for student tuition have to be, and can the patrons be
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expected to accept this charge? If initial estimates of income fall short, it is obviously not a solution to simply
raise the estimate of the number of students expected to enroll for the new year in order to “balance” the budget.
Every factor affecting the final estimate of income should be supported by experience and defensible
assumptions.

804.05 Estimating Sales Income - An analysis of prior years' sales, including the historical trend and the
reasons for it, is a good place to start. A preliminary sales projection should be adjusted for anticipated changes
in the economy, the customer mix, the product mix, and any other factors which might impact the sales forecast.
This process should be done as objectively as possible. There should be no deliberate effort to either understate
or overstate expected sales, but if any amount within a range is equally probable of achieving, the more
conservative amount should be used.

804.06 Estimating Operating Expense - The easiest approach to budgeting expense in the various objects,
departments, or functions is to use the current year's expenses, and if they total less than the budgeted income,
add an across-the-board percentage increase to bring the total budgeted expense up to total budgeted income.
The easy way is not usually the effective way, however. Because of plans for the new year, ordinarily some
functions will require increases greater than the overall percentage increase would warrant. In other cases it will
be appropriate to leave the new budget unchanged from the current year's actual or to reduce the budget for the
new year. Setting the expense budget for the various objects, departments, or functions must never be a matter
of simple arithmetic. In every case, goals and plans should be balanced against available funds, and the new
budget should be built, within the limitations of available income, on those goals and plans.

804.07 Wage Scale Adjustment - At the time the budget is prepared, the annual adjustment in the wage
scale, as voted by Annual Council and Division year-end meetings, is usually known to administration. This
anticipated increase in wage and salary expense must be recognized in preparing the new year's budget. If
income is budgeted at no more than the current year's actual amount and there is a voted increase in wage and
salary levels, the result will be obvious pressure on the budget. There is no simple solution, so required increases
in expenses in one category will frequently require reductions in other categories in order for the budget as a
whole to be balanced.

804.08 Budgeting for Departments or Functions - The operating activity centers in the various objects,
departments, or functions. Income may include restricted funds which come in as specifically-identified donations

or appropriations, unrestricted income, and transfers between the various unallocated and allocated funds. All of
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these incomes must be included in the budget, and budgeted outlays must be set off against them. Within each
object, department, or function, a separate budget will be formulated identifying all the enumerated sources of
income, detailing the budgeted expenses, and determining any applicable transfers.

804.09 Budgeting for Direct and Indirect Expenses - Budgeting and accounting for direct expenses is
relatively easy; it is usually clear that basic salaries and supplies, etc., can be charged to specific departments or
functions. Indirect expenses, however, apply to the whole organization, and are usually not controllable at the
department or function level. The budget and actual indirect expenses can usually be distributed among
departments or functions on several different bases or philosophies. Especially for items like health care
expense and other employee benefits, it may be most reasonable to accumulate the total actual expense in a
clearing account, and then distribute it to the departments or functions on a simple per capita basis. This would
eliminate the likelihood that a particular department would exceed its budget just because an employee
experienced an unpredictable major medical expense.

804.10 Interaction and Negotiation - It is a serious mistake for management to develop the budget without
conferring with the responsible individuals who are expected to live within the budget in the discharge of their
duties. Appropriate discussion and negotiation with all these individuals must be carried on continuously during
development of the budget. A budget which is imposed from above stands little chance of being accepted by
those who are expected to be governed by it. Before the budget is submitted to the governing committee, it must
be supported by broad general agreement of all individuals involved.

804.11 Approval of the Budget - After the budget is prepared, it must be presented to the governing
committee for approval. Broad agreement by the management team and all others involved in implementation of
the budget will minimize unpleasant crises. The budget, regardless of how much work has been put into it, is not
an official instrument of control until it has been approved by the governing committee.

Section 805 - The Capital Budget

805.01 Recurring and Non-Recurring Expenditures - Many organizations provide funding for capital
functions as part of their operating budget. However, these are two separate budgets, the operating portion to
provide for recurring expenses of operating functions and the capital portion to provide for one-time outlays for
purchase of land, buildings, and equipment. Obviously, both categories of expenditure must come from whatever
funds are available. Recurring expenses are usually provided for first, and non-recurring items are provided from

whatever funds remain. This is not to say that there will not be trade-offs between the two types of budget
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commitments. Budgets for operating functions and appropriations sometimes have to be pared down to make
funds available for capital functions.

Section 806 - Monitoring Actual Results

806.01 Monthly Budgets - Only rarely do incomes flow in or expenditures occur on a uniform basis through
the year. The more typical situation sees income varying from month to month and expenditures for various
activities arising on a seasonal or cyclical basis through the year. An annual budget which is simply broken down
into twelve equal increments is therefore usually misleading, and one-month budget comparisons with actual
inflows and outflows of funds can be meaningless. Where this is a real problem, a solution can be reached by
breaking down the annual budget into twelve separate monthly budgets to reflect actual operational expectations.
Such a breakdown would show budget for January, for February and total for two months, for March and total for
three months, and so on for the entire year. Then, when the monthly statement of financial activity and budget
comparison is prepared, it will relate expectations for the year-to-date with actual performance. Monthly
comparisons can then be balanced with year-to-date comparisons for better interpretation of the financial data.

806.02 Budget Comparison Statements - As indicated earlier, denominational policy requires monthly
statements of financial activity, including a comparison with the budget, to be submitted to the governing
committee. Budget comparisons are optional for the annual audited combined financial statements, but are
required for any unaudited combined, single fund, or fund group financial statements. Appendices 17B and 17E
contain illustrated financial statements which display detailed budgets for the operating fund of a conference. The
minutes of the governing committee should disclose that the statements, with budget comparison, have been
submitted by the CFO and approved by the committee.

806.03 Corrections and Adjustments - These monthly budget comparison statements should be analyzed
closely by the financial administrators, and wherever important variations in either income or expenses are
disclosed, prompt corrective action should be taken. It is an error to conclude that variations from the budget are
inevitable and uncontrollable. The monthly comparisons provide check-points for evaluation of the operation and
should be used as a tool to guide the administrators in tailoring the actual operation to coincide as closely as
possible, not with the budget solely, but also with the actual realized data. If expenses are consistently exceeding
actual income regardless of the budgeted expectations, timely action must be taken during the year to bring the
expenses into line. Of course, if developing circumstances indicate that revisions must be made in the budget

previously approved, a revised budget should be submitted to the governing committee for its approval.
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806.04 Cost Accounting - Many organizations attempt to identify all areas of cost with particular
departments or functions. Occasionally salaries and allowances of a department or function are not included in
the budget of that department or function. Other incidental expenses are at times included in general
administration, rather than being distributed to the benefitting department or other function. The account structure
explained in Chapter 4 makes it possible to distribute all expenses to departments or functions. This Manual
recommends that this feature be used fully so that the total cost of each activity is disclosed in the accounting
records. As this process is developed, it should ultimately include distribution of such costs as equipment
maintenance, use of buildings, and other operating expenses, using some reasonable methodology. Some of
these distributed costs are not controllable by the departments that benefit from them, but they are controllable at
some level of administration, so a reasonable distribution should make it possible to evaluate the cost-
effectiveness of every segment of the organization.

806.05 Statistical Form F-49 - To assist the denomination in assembling and analyzing financial data for
similar types of organizations, GCWP T 15 10 requires all denominational entities to furnish a statistical report,
known as Form F-49, to the General Conference Office of Archives and Statistics each year. Administrators of
any denominational entity can obtain copies of the statistical comparisons generated from these reports, and can
use them as one source of information to help them analyze how their particular entity is doing. An illustrated
copy of Form F-49 is included as Appendix 8A.

806.06 Annual Payroll Summary Report - GCWP E 70 35 indicates that an annual report should be given
to the governing committee with payroll and related expense data itemized for each employee of the organization.
Because of the confidential nature of this data, this schedule is not a component part of the organization’s
general-use financial statements or of any individual fund reports or schedules. It should be submitted to the
governing committee as a separate report. lllustrative examples are shown in Appendices 17B.06 and 17E.08.
Section 807 - Cash Budget and Cash Management

807.01 Cash Flow Budget - In most cases, the budgeted revenue of a conference or book center is realized
immediately in cash—remittances from churches, tithe funds exchanged, appropriations, sales, etc. In contrast,
the budgeted revenue of an academy or a college does not flow in immediately as cash. Except for registration
and graduation periods, school revenue is based on billings to patrons, which cycle through accounts receivable
with a time lag in the realization of cash. On the basis of experience, and starting from the monthly breakdown of

the budgeted income and expenses, it is possible to predict with some accuracy the availability of cash and the
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requirements for cash expenditures for each month of the year. This cash flow budget can be only a fair
approximation, however, and will have to be revised month by month as actual performance figures become
available.

807.02 Cash Management - Preparation of a cash flow budget will in all cases indicate whether the cash
inflow for the given month is sufficient to cover expected outlays for that month. For example, at the close of
February, will we have a sizeable surplus of cash, or will there be a short-fall? These monthly results will be a
guide to the CFO in making advance provision or short-term borrowing to cover any expected deficiencies in
cash, or conversely, in planning for short-term investment of temporarily idle funds. Cash in the bank in a non-
interest-bearing account is an unproductive asset and should be kept to a reasonable minimum. Even when
banks pay a small percentage of interest on checking account balances, it is more profitable to plan to put
temporarily idle cash into other acceptable investments which will bring in a larger return. Section 1002 of this
Manual discusses the denominational standards for the investment of funds; these standards should be adhered
to consistently. The whole objective is to put to work every possible unit of denominational funds. The wise
implementation of this general plan can result in a significant addition to the earned income of the organization.
See Section 907 for more discussion about cash management.

Section 808 - Impairment of Assets

808.01 Applicability - International standards (effective for years beginning after 31 March 2004) require
organizations to be more alert to potential declines in the value of intangible assets and certain other assets. This
standard applies to goodwill and other intangible assets (for example, a copyright or patent that was donated to
the reporting entity). This standard also applies to land, buildings, and equipment. This standard does not apply
to the following assets because other standards already apply to them.

e Financial Instruments: see Section 1004 about calculation of fair value. For financial instruments, any
loss that might otherwise be classified as an impairment loss would already be accounted for in the
process of adjusting carrying value to fair value.

Accounts and Loans Receivable: see Section 1103.09 about allowance for uncollectible receivables.
Inventory: see Section 1201.09 about obsolescence and net realizable value.
Assets Held for Sale: to be carried at the lower of cost or fair value less expected costs to sell it.

808.02 Analysis of Circumstances - International standards do not require organizations to automatically

review every asset every year to determine whether there has been an impairment in value. However, they do

require organizations to perform general analysis, as follows.

e Every year, estimate the recoverable amount for those intangible assets that are either not yet available
for use or have an indefinite useful life, and compare that amount with the carrying amount.
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e Every year, generally assess whether situations or circumstances have occurred which would indicate

that some applicable asset may have been impaired.

e For any particular asset for which circumstances indicate impairment may have occurred, estimate the

recoverable amount and compare it to the carrying amount.

808.03 Triggering Events - Following are some types of situations and circumstances that may indicate that
a particular asset may be impaired.

An asset’s market value has declined significantly more than would be expected from normal use.
Changes have occurred in technology, economic conditions, or the legal environment in which the entity
operates or the asset is used.

e Changes have occurred in interest rates that affect the discount rate used to estimate the value in use of

an asset for which there is outstanding debt.

There is evidence that an asset has become obsolete or physically damaged.
The organization has decided to change or eliminate the use of a particular asset.
There is evidence that an asset is performing significantly worse than expected.

808.04 Determining the Recoverable Amount - The recoverable amount of an asset is the higher of its fair
value less costs to sell, and its value in use.

If an asset is an integral part of a group of assets, its fair value is to be determined as the fair value of the
group of assets (classified by the standards as a “cash-generating unit”). Fair value is to be determined for the
smallest asset unit that produces cash flow independently of other assets or groups of assets.

An asset’s value in use is to be determined by estimating its future cash flows from regular operation,
combined with the time value of money, using a market risk-free rate of return. Estimates and projections of cash
flows must be based upon reasonable and supportable assumptions that represent management’s best estimate
of the range of economic conditions likely to exist over the remaining useful life of the asset.

808.05 Recording Impairment Loss - An impairment loss is to be recorded if, and only if, the estimated
recoverable amount of an asset is less than the asset’s carrying amount. If that is the case, the carrying amount

is to be reduced to its recoverable amount, and the reduction is to be recorded as an impairment loss. The loss is

to be recorded as part of the organization’s current period financial activity.
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1. FINANCIAL SUMMARY OF

(name of organization) Code # Union
For Year Ended Currency:

(Prepare this form in local currency. Round to whole units. See additional instructions on reverse side.)
CURRENT ASSETS

2. Cash

3. Securities and Investments

4. Accounts Receivable - Net

5. Notes and Loans Receivable - Net
6.

A

Supplies Inventories and Prepaid Expense
Total Current Assets

FIXED ASSETS
B Total Fixed Assets - Net
OTHER ASSETS
7. Total Other Assets - Operating
8. Cash, Bank and Investments Other Than Operating
9. Miscellaneous Assets Other than Operating
C
D

Total Other Assets

Total Assets

CURRENT LIABILITIES

10. Accounts Payable and Accrued Expense
11. Notes and Loans Payable

12. Agency (Trust) Funds

13. Deferred Income

E Total Current Liabilities

OTHER LIABILITIES

14. Other Liabilities - Operating

15. Miscellaneous Liabilities Other Than Operating
16. Investmentin Plant - Payables

F Total Other Liabilities

G Total Liabilities

NET WORTH/FUND BALANCES

17. Unallocated & Allocated Operating Net Worth/Fund Balances
18. Allocated Capital Net Worth/Fund Balance (17+18=A+7-E-14)
19. Non-expendable Net Worth/Fund Balances (8+9-15)

20. Net Investment in Plant Fund Balance (B-16)

H* Total Net Worth/Fund Balances

| Total Liabilities and Net Worth/Fund Balances

The above figures include duplications of assets and liabilities resulting from inter-fund borrowing, which is
not eliminated between operating, plant, and other funds, as follows: (Lines 21+22 = 23+24)

Operating Plant Other Cross Totals
21.  Current Assets XXX 0
22. Other Assets
23. Current Liabilities XXX 0

24. Other Liabilities
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SUMMARY OF CHANGES IN NET WORTH/FUND BALANCES
CHANGES DUE TO OPERATING ACTIVITY:

J Earned Operating Income (Not Appropriations)

K Operating Expense

L Increase (Decrease) From Operating (Excluding Appropriations)

M Net Operating Appropriations Received & Retained

25. NET INCREASE (DECREASE) FROM OPERATIONS
CHANGES DUE TO ACTIVITY OTHER THAN OPERATING:

N Net Increase (Decrease) From Other Than Operating

O  Exchange Adjustment (Not applicable when local currency used)
26. NET INCREASE (DECREASE) OTHER THAN OPERATING
TOTAL CHANGE IN NET WORTH/FUND BALANCE FOR THE YEAR:
27. Net Increase (Decrease) in Total Net Worth/Fund Balance this year
P PREVIOUS TOTAL NET WORTH/FUND BAL reported on last F-49
Q* PRESENT TO DATE TOTAL NET WORTH/FUND BALANCE

MISCELLANEOUS INFORMATION

28. Working Capital (Deficit) (Line A - E)

29. Recommended Working Capital Per Policy

30. A/R: Higher Church Remit

31. Net Assets of Funds held as Trustee

*Lines H & Q Must Agree

Instructions for Reporting Organizations:

Please use typewriter in completing this summary. It is to be prepared in TRIPLICATE immediately after
completing the statement before the audit. The ORIGINAL is to be kept for the Auditor with the unaudited
financial statement. The DUPLICATE copy is to be sent to the Assistant Treasurer of the General Conference of
Seventh-day Adventists, 12501 Old Columbia Pike, Silver Spring, MD 20904, USA. The TRIPLICATE is for the
Reporting Organization's file.

Date Prepared By:  Position: Name

Date Approved By:  Chief Financial Officer's Signature

Instructions for Auditors:

Please make TWO copies of the F-49. ONE copy of the financial statement including the auditor's report, and
ONE copy of the F-49 are to be forwarded to the Director of Archives and Statistics, General Conference of
Seventh-day Adventists, 12501 Old Columbia Pike, Silver Spring, MD 20904, USA. The second copy of the F-49
is for the auditor's file. (Note: If the changes are few and can be made in a clear manner on the original F-49
prepared by the Reporting Organization, simply photocopy the corrected F-49; otherwise it must be retyped.)

Audited By For Year Ended Exchange Rate

Date Auditor’s Signature

Form F-49 (Revised 1984)
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Appendix 8B.01 - lllustrated Performance Reports in Table Format
Sample Union Conference of Seventh-day Adventists
Analytical Schedules Using Data From Appendix 17A
20X0 20X1 20X2

Current Assets 20,243,606 24,018,581 25,009,383
Current Liabilities 5,781,764 8,852,959 9,003,526

Current Ratio 3.51t01 2.7t01 2.8t0 1
Actual Working Capital 14,461,860 15,165,622 16,005,857
Recommended Working Capital 12,094,910 11,128,537 13,119,505

Percent of Recommended Working Capital 120% 136% 122%
Tithe by Territory
Conference/Mission (Name 1) 1,334,436 1,409,948 1,424,047
Conference/Mission (Name 2) 1,056,429 1,116,209 1,093,885
Conference/Mission (Name 3) 834,024 881,218 916,467
Conference/Mission (Name 4) 1,223,233 1,292,453 1,279,528
Conference/Mission (Name 5) 1,112,030 1,174,957 1,245,049

Total Tithe Revenue 5,560,152 5,874,785 5,958,976
Total Revenue Before Subsidies 6,841,564 7,012,701 7,398,312
Total Subsidies & Appropriations 5,450,160 3,698,733 4,498,281
Total Revenue After Subsidies 12,291,724 10,711,434 11,896,593

Percent of Self-Support 56% 66% 62%
Total Operating Expense 11,906,701 11,098,692 11,542,640
Total Earned Operating Income 6,841,564 7,012,701 7,398,312

Percent of Expense to Income 174% 158% 156%
Total Employee-related Expense 6,867,214 6,409,558 6,794,132
Total Tithe Revenue 5,560,152 5,874,785 5,958,976

Percent of Payroll to Tithe 124% 110% 115%
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Appendix 8B.02 - lllustrated Performance Reports in Chart Format - Liquidity Ratios

Sample Union Conference of Seventh-day Adventists Using Data From Appendix 17A

Current Ratio
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Appendix 8B.03 - lllustrated Performance Reports in Chart Format - Revenue

Sample Union Conference of Seventh-day Adventists Charts Using Data From Appendix 17A

Tithe by Conference, 20X0 to 20X2

Conference #1

Conference #2

Conference #3

Conference #4

Conference #5
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OEarned Operating Income B Appropriations Received




Chapter 8 - Financial Budgeting and Monitoring
Appendix 8B.04 - lllustrated Performance Reports in Chart Format - Expenses

Sample Union Conference of Seventh-day Adventists

SDA Accounting Manual - January 2011

page 163

Charts Using Data From Appendix 17A

Expense Compared To Earned Operating Income
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B Operating Expense  @Earned Operating Income

Employee-related Expense Compared To Tithe
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Section 901 - General Concepts

901.01 Definition of Cash and Cash Equivalents
901.02 Accounting Options

901.03 Internal Control

901.04 Control Over Blank Receipts and Checks
901.05 Control Over Computer-generated Documents
901.06 Cash for Other Than Operating

Section 902 - Petty Cash Funds

902.01 The Imprest Principle
902.02 Avoid Commingling
902.03 Petty Cash Balances
902.04 Disbursements

902.05 Reimbursement

902.06 Custody of Cash Box
902.07 Termination of Custodian
902.08 Other Applications

Section 903 - Cash Inflows

903.01 Control of Cash Received in the Malil
903.02 Over-the-Counter Cash

903.03 The Receipting Function

903.04 Non-Routine Receipts

903.05 Bank Deposits

903.06 Cash Clearing Account

903.07 Cash Receipt Cutoff

Section 904 - Custody of Cash
904.01 Responsibility
904.02 Bank and Saving Accounts
904.03 Changing Signatories
904.04 Special Accounts

Section 905 - Cash Disbursements

905.01 Routine Disbursements

905.02 Non-Routine Disbursements

905.03 Standing Order Payments

905.04 Transfers Between Funds and Accounts
905.05 Documentation

905.06 Cancellation of Documents

905.07 Check Payees
905.08 Check Signing
905.09 Cash Disbursements Cutoff

Section 906 - Cash Management
906.01 Bank Reconciliations
906.02 Cash Status Report
906.03 Cash Cycles
906.04 Utilization of Funds

Appendix 9A - Operating versus Agency Cash
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Section 901 - General Concepts

901.01 Definition of Cash and Cash Equivalents - “Cash” includes currency and coin, bank checks and
drafts, and all such instruments which can be routinely negotiated by deposit in a commercial bank. “Cash” also
refers to balances in bank checking and saving accounts, and deposits in financial institutions under
arrangements similar to those with commercial banks.

“Cash equivalents” are short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to known amounts of
cash and so near maturity that there is an insignificant risk of change in value due to changes in interest rates.
Generally, only investments which have a maturity of three months or less from the date of acquisition meet this
definition. Money market funds are a typical example. As a further example, a 3-year instrument acquired in a
trading market when it has only three months remaining to maturity would meet the definition of a cash equivalent.
In contrast, a 3-year instrument obtained at its original issue would not become a cash equivalent simply by the
passage of time when there was only three months left to its maturity.

If an investment does not meet the preceding definitions, it must be classified as investments, not cash and
cash equivalents. Also, cash and cash equivalents do not include accounts that are designated for non-operating
purposes, for purchase of noncurrent assets, or for payment of long-term debt.

901.02 Accounting Options - Investments that qualify to be treated as cash and cash equivalents are not
necessarily required to be treated as such. For example, an organization may choose to classify all money
market mutual funds as investments, even if they qualify to be treated as cash and cash equivalents. Each
organization should establish a policy to indicate which highly liquid investments that qualify to be treated as cash
and cash equivalents will be chosen for presentation as such. The notes to the financial statements should
disclose the organization’s policy. That policy should be followed consistently from year to year, and any change
in that policy should result in restatement of prior year's data when presented in comparative statements.

901.03 Internal Control - As discussed in Section 302.09, good internal control involves appropriate
segregation of duties. This means that, as far as possible consistent with the number of personnel available, the
same person should not be assigned responsibility for receipting incoming cash, writing or signing checks, and
maintaining accounting records related to incoming cash (accounts receivable, for example).

901.04 Control Over Blank Receipts and Checks - A common internal control procedure involves the use
of pre-printed pre-numbered receipt and disbursement forms. Those who use these forms should not have

access to the entire stock of unused forms. The bulk stock should be kept in locked storage in the custody of an
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individual who does not have responsibility for their use. Issues of smaller blocks of such forms should be made
from this bulk stock, and the user should be required to sign and be responsible for the numbers issued.

901.05 Control Over Computer-generated Documents - Some accounting software products are designed
to print original receipts and checks directly onto plain paper, which eliminates the need for pre-printed pre-
numbered stock of such forms. Such computerized software develops sequential receipt and check numbers
internally. While this obviously saves paper and printing costs, it raises certain internal control issues. Access to
the receipt and check writing programs should be restricted by job description and by passwords to only
authorized individuals. Someone other than those individuals should periodically review the cash receipt reports,
comparing them to bank deposits, and the disbursement reports, reviewing them for reasonableness, number
sequence, valid vendors, and credit to the appropriate bank account(s).

901.06 Cash for Other Than Operating - This chapter illustrates principles with reference to operating
funds. Although cash held in other funds is not classified as cash and cash equivalents, the principles of
documentation and control should be just as complete and careful whether it is held in any other fund. Each fund
that holds cash will have ledger accounts within that fund for those cash accounts. There may also be instances
in which a single bank account will be used for two or more funds. This is permissible if the activity in the
separate funds is not significant. However, it is very important that the cash transactions pertaining to each fund
be recorded in the ledger for that fund. In addition, within an operating fund, it is important to separately classify
enough cash to cover any agency liabilities of the operating fund (see Appendix 9A for illustration).

Section 902 - Petty Cash Funds

902.01 The Imprest Principle - Most entities find it helpful to operate with a small cash fund to care for
minor expenditures. The best process is to set up a separate petty cash fund as follows:

1. Establish a fixed balance for the fund and maintain the fund at that level at all times.

2. The amount of actual cash on hand plus vouchers for expenditures which have been made should always

add up to the total of the fund.

3. When the actual cash balance runs low because of accumulating expenditures, the vouchers should be
tabulated and totaled, and a check should be drawn by the cashier for the amount of the expenditures,
payable to the custodian of the petty cash fund.

4. The custodian of the petty cash fund should cash this check and put the money in the fund, which would
then have in actual cash the established amount of the petty cash fund.

902.02 Avoid Commingling - Incoming receipted cash should never be mixed with a petty cash fund.

Receipted cash (see Section 903) should be kept entirely separate in the possession of its custodian until it is

deposited. ldeally the individual receipting incoming cash should not also be the custodian of a petty cash fund.
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Even in an organization with a limited number of personnel, where the general cashier handles both a petty cash
fund and incoming receipted cash, the two types of cash should be kept separate at all times.

902.03 Petty Cash Balances - The balance in any petty cash fund should be enough to care for the
disbursement needs, but no more. If the balance is too large, there is little incentive to reimburse the fund
frequently. If the fixed balance of the fund is excessive, there is a temptation to use it for unauthorized purposes,
such as acceptance of employee I0Us, cashing of post-dated checks, etc.

902.04 Disbursements - It is essential for disbursements from petty cash to be properly authorized. The
organization should have a written policy specifying the purposes for which disbursements can be made, the
maximum amount allowable for individual disbursements, and the individuals designated to authorize such
disbursements. The best document in support of a disbursement is an invoice or memo from the entity or
individual receiving the cash. In the absence of an externally-originated form, disbursement can be made on a
printed voucher form, either printed, typed, or written in ink, and signed by the individual receiving the money. In
either case the voucher should indicate clearly the reason for the expenditure.

902.05 Reimbursement - Expenditures from petty cash do not become part of the accounting record until
the fund is reimbursed. Therefore, reimbursement should take place at fairly frequent intervals, and in all cases at
the end of each fiscal period. One method of filing the supporting information is to use an envelope with an
appropriate form printed or attached on the face as a master voucher. The individual vouchers are tabulated on
the front of the envelope; the vouchers are placed inside, and the envelope plus vouchers becomes the
supporting document for the reimbursement check. Before the check is prepared, the disbursement should be
authorized. The check should be payable to “(name of individual), Custodian” for the total amount of the
disbursement vouchers.

902.06 Custody of Cash Box - Regardless of the nature or size of the petty cash fund, it should be assigned
to one and only one person for custody. If the organization employs more than one cashier, each one should be
responsible for a separate cash box. The account structure assigns numbers for petty cash funds, and should
include a separate sub-account for each one, with the position of the custodian included in the account title. As a
fund is opened for a person, that person should sign a receipt for the amount of the fund. The disbursement
voucher to release cash to the person should trigger an accounting entry to open a new ledger sub-account.

If a custodian turns over the cash box to another person for a short period of time, such as a lunch break or a

day off, the fund should be counted over to the temporary custodian who should give a receipt to the registered
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custodian. When the temporary custodian returns the fund to the regular custodian, the receipt should be given
back after the regular custodian has determined that the fund is intact. Under no circumstances should more than
one person be allowed control over a petty cash fund without this documentation.

902.07 Termination of Custodian - When the designated custodian is relieved of the petty cash duty or
leaves the organization, the following steps should be followed:

1. The fund should be reimbursed for any accumulated disbursement vouchers held in the box.

2. The terminating petty cashier should return the replenished petty cash box to the general cashier.

3. The general cashier should issue a receipt to the terminating petty cashier for the amount returned.

4, The receipt to the terminating petty cashier should trigger an accounting entry to close the ledger

account for that petty cash fund.

902.08 Other Applications - Principles like those discussed above are frequently applied to fixed-balance
bank accounts, such as a payroll bank account, where a large number of similar transactions are processed. ltis
efficient to combine the approval and reconciliation controls to the batch of transactions as a whole. A fixed
balance for the bank account is established; a group of checks (an entire payroll list, for example) is drawn on the
fixed-balance bank account, and a single check for the total amount of the list is drawn on the general bank
account and deposited into the fixed-balance bank account when the individual checks are released. The same
requirements must be applied as for other bank accounts, such as authorization of the accounts, authorization
and changes of signatories, and authorization for closing the accounts.

Section 903 - Cash Inflows

903.01 Control of Cash Received in the Mail - In most organizations, a designated individual sorts and
opens all incoming mail. This individual, who should have no other responsibility for handling of cash, should
segregate all checks in the incoming mail and make a list or an adding machine tape of them. A similar list should
be prepared by all organizations that receive donations on pledge cards or internet web site responses, on which
donors authorize charges to their credit cards. These lists should be given to a responsible individual who is not
directly involved in the handling or depositing of cash, while the checks and credit card documents should be
given to the cashier for receipting. It is then possible for the listings to be compared with the cash receipt records
and the bank deposits to ensure that all checks and credit card documents have been promptly and properly
recorded and deposited.

903.02 Over-the-Counter Cash - Cash sales and other cash received by the cashier should be subject to

specific controls. Checks and credit card receipts should have sufficient data to identify the maker in case the
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check or credit card receipt is later returned by the bank. All checks received should be restrictively endorsed
immediately, the authorization codes should be written or printed on all credit card sales slips, and a receipt
should be prepared and given to the payer/provider immediately.

903.03 The Receipting Function - One person should be designated as the general cashier, and should
have responsibility for the receipting of all incoming cash. Certain specific-project cash may be delegated to
some other individual or office. Sometimes one of the departments promotes a project which involves numerous
small remittances, and with proper controls, such incoming funds can be receipted by that department. Similarly,
a school may have an independent operation that generates separately-identifiable cash revenue.

Even in such cases, though, the department should use pre-numbered receipts, should write an individual
receipt for each amount received, and should turn over these cash collections with the receipt book to the general
cashier every day for receipting. The cashier should issue a receipt to the departmental employee for the total
cash received and should record the departmental receipt numbers so that a continuous record of departmental
receipts covered by general cash receipts can be maintained. If the departmental employee happens to also be
custodian of a petty cash fund, the receipted funds should not be commingled with it.

903.04 Non-Routine Receipts - In addition to the normal inflow of cash from accounts receivable, monthly
remittances, cash sales, etc., there can be a few non-routine items such as checks for appropriations from senior
organizations, interest and principal payments on loans receivable, and so on, which may not come directly to the
cashier through the mail or over the counter. The individual who receives such funds must turn them in promptly
and personally to the cashier who should prepare a receipt for them. Direct credits to bank accounts for interest
earned on investments or for other money channeled directly to the bank without going through the cashier may
be covered by a journal voucher with the copy of the bank credit voucher attached. Such items must be properly
documented so that they can be traced to the bank statement and to the proper revenue or asset account.

903.05 Bank Deposits - All cash recorded by the cashier should be deposited daily (or at some other
reasonably frequent interval) in the same form in which it is received. The cashier should not be permitted to
cash checks from general cash on hand that is being held for deposit. If the record shows that currency has been
receipted, that amount of currency should appear on the bank deposit for the day. There should be no reason for
delaying the deposit of any check received and recorded. If a post-dated check is received, it should not be
receipted until the specified date, for strictly speaking it is not cash until that date.

Depositing cash intact every day has two objectives. First and most obvious, the total of all receipts written
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for the day will correspond exactly with the total of the bank deposit for that day. Second, the composition of the
deposit, in individual checks listed and in total currency and coin, can be traced back to the individual receipts
written. This is a control that minimizes the possibility of someone holding out a check received on a particular
day and substituting cash or other checks for it so as to make the total deposit and total receipts agree.

903.06 Cash Clearing Account - In addition to providing for petty cash accounts in the ledger, the account
structure also provides for the use of an optional clearing account for receipted cash by large or complex entities.
This account is provided so that the daily total of cash receipts can be posted as a debit, and the daily deposit as
a credit. Under this plan, if deposits are made daily, each day will conclude with a debit balance in this account of
the amount of cash received that day. The balance in the account should always equal the amount of the current
day's receipts held over for deposit the next day.

Some organizations prefer to treat all cash received as automatically deposited with the accounting entry
simply a debit to the bank account for the total receipts. For entities that process large amounts of cash, the use
of a cash clearing account affords a cross-check to reveal any possible discrepancy between the amount of the
receipts and the amount of the deposit. Regardless of which process is used, the accounting records for receipts
and deposits should carry a cross-reference to the range of receipt numbers that make up each deposit.

903.07 Cash Receipt Cutoff - For the financial statements to be factual, the record of cash received should
be cut off at the close of business on the last day of the fiscal period to reflect actual cash received up to that time
and no later. If an organization continues to use the financial statement date for receipts written a day or a week
later, it is evident that the cash amount shown on the statement of financial position is not that of the stated date,
but of a later date. If cash received in the mail after the year end represents old year business, it should be
recorded as accounts receivable, not cash, at the financial statement date. This principle should be followed at
the end of each month as well as the end of each year.

Section 904 - Custody of Cash

904.01 Responsibility - Individuals entrusted with funds of the entity should understand they are personally
responsible for the amount they hold. This is true whether that person is the general cashier having custody of a
petty cash fund, or, for example, the manager of a youth camp located some distance from conference/mission
headquarters. When the fund is turned over to the custodian, it should be recorded with reference to the
responsible individual, and the individual should sign a receipt for the money. The same principle applies to

receipted cash in the possession of the general cashier. The writing of a receipt charges the cashier with the
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specified amount of money. The total of all such receipts is the responsibility of the cashier until the money is
deposited in the bank; a validated copy of the bank deposit discharges the cashier from this responsibility.

This principle should govern all handling of cash and other assets that are susceptible to misappropriation.
The individual entrusted with the asset, whatever it may be, acknowledges responsibility, and bears that
responsibility until relieved of it by proper documentation indicating the asset has been returned. Each custodian
of petty cash, or general cash, should have a locking cash box or tray. When the individual custodian is not on
duty, that box should be locked and kept in a safe or vault. Similarly, the supply of rolled coin available to cash
register custodians should never be unattended, but should be kept under lock and key.

904.02 Bank and Saving Accounts - Denominational policy and model constitutions and bylaws require
accounts with banks and other financial institutions to be opened only on specific authorization of the governing
committee, or other duly-established committee. It follows that closing out or discontinuing accounts with financial
institutions should be accomplished only by action of the appropriate committee. Account passbooks and
certificates should be kept under lock and key in a vault, or in a safety deposit box. Under no circumstances
should unauthorized individuals have access to such documents.

904.03 Changing Signatories - The appropriate committee should approve additions and removals of
individuals who are authorized to sign on any bank account. This action should be updated by the committee any
time the authorized individual changes, whether as a result of job reassignment or employment termination.
Terminated employees should be required to immediately surrender keys and other security devices. When
employees are terminated, the organization should consider whether to change keys, passwords, or other
security measures.

904.04 Special Accounts - Committee authorization is just as necessary for temporary, special, or small
accounts as for primary accounts. For example, a temporary bank account may be opened for a special one-time
project, such as the annual camp meeting or a conference/mission-sponsored general evangelistic rally. Each of
these accounts should be authorized by specific committee action. Also, authorization should be secured for the
opening of each separate bank or savings account, even though the governing committee may have voted
blanket authorization for the transfer of temporarily idle funds from operating accounts to savings accounts.
Section 905 - Cash Disbursements

905.01 Routine Disbursements - Any active entity will make frequent payments for the purchase of supplies

and services, and payments to employees, constituent churches and schools, vendors, and others. Authorization



Chapter 9 - Cash and Cash Equivalents SDA Accounting Manual - January 2011 — page 172
procedures for such transactions should be specific. The individual charged with the responsibility of writing
checks should know who is authorized to approve disbursements in varying circumstances. The written
guidelines should also specify the maximum amount that can be authorized for various purposes. Typically, one
individual has authority to execute purchase orders for routine items while another is charged with final approval
for the payment of such invoices. All of these policies should be adopted by appropriate authority and should be
in writing. Each employee governed by these policies should have a copy of the policies.

905.02 Non-Routine Disbursements - In addition to normal daily transactions, there will be disbursements
of major amounts or for specific non-routine purposes. Examples include transmittal of funds on a monthly tithe
and offering report to the senior organization, checks for capital appropriations of funds, purchases of property for
organizational use, and similar one-time or major items. Generally the CFO will specifically authorize such items
(printed authorization forms are commonly used in such instances). Before making such authorization, the CFO
will ensure that if the item requires specific committee action, such action has been taken, is properly recorded in
the minutes, and is properly indicated on the documentation authorizing the issuance of the check.

905.03 Standing Order Payments - In many cases arrangements must be made to issue a check each
month in a fixed amount for a stated purpose. A “standing order” file may be established as authorization to the
disbursing cashier to write such checks on certain dates and at certain intervals. Unless the “standing order” file
is reviewed regularly by an individual in a position to judge the validity of the payments, and unless the checks
themselves are scrutinized with care during signing and mailing, it is possible for standing orders to remain in the
active list after their validity has expired. Each standing order should specify the name of payee, the amount of
periodic payment, the reason for the payment, the necessary accounting information, and a definite expiration
date. Such orders should not be drawn with instructions to be effective “until cancelled.” Even though the
payment is to continue for an indefinite period, a standing order should generally be made for no more than six
months, and at its expiration a new authorization should be given, if needed, to continue the disbursement.

905.04 Transfers Between Funds and Accounts - It is often necessary to transfer cash between funds or
accounts. It is very important that transfers be authorized by an appropriate individual with reference to the
committee action covering the transfer. The basis of a fund accounting system is the existence of separate self-
balancing ledgers for each fund; therefore, if cash is to be transferred, it must be recorded as a disbursement in
one fund with a debit to the appropriate “Transfers Out” account. A corresponding entry to a “Transfers In”

account must be made in the receiving fund, evidenced by a formal cash receipt which becomes the basis for a
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debit-and-credit entry. If one fund records a “Transfer” and the other fund records a “Revenue” or “Expense,”
then the transfers section of the combined financial statement of the organization will be out of balance.
Transfers between all funds must net to zero.

905.05 Documentation - For each check written, documents must be included with the file copy of the check
which will establish the validity of the disbursement. For payments to outside vendors, this documentation will
normally include a copy of the purchase order, a receiving report or other evidence to indicate that the material
ordered has been received and placed in stock, and in all cases the original invoice from the vendor. If receiving
reports are not used, the invoice should bear evidence that the material or services have been received, by
whom, the date received, and indication that the pricing, extensions, and totals are correct. These documents
should also include initials or signature of the individual who authorizes payments to be made. Every
disbursement must be authorized by an appropriate individual. It is always preferable that disbursements be
supported by documentation originating outside the organization, such as a vendor invoice. In the case of such
non-routine disbursements as were discussed in sections 905.02 and 905.03, this may not be possible. Every
disbursement, though, should have sufficient explanation, support, and authorization, if not from an external
source, then from appropriate individuals, or a committee, within the entity, to establish its validity.

905.06 Cancellation of Documents - When a check is written for an authorized disbursement, all supporting
documents should be conspicuously stamped “Paid” with the date of payment. This step is necessary to
eliminate the risk of a particular invoice or authorization finding its way back into the payment system and being
paid a second time. This applies to all disbursements, including the reimbursement of petty cash items to the
petty cash custodians. All individual petty cash vouchers enclosed in the voucher jacket or envelope should be
stamped “Paid” as well.

905.07 Check Payees - No checks are to be drawn payable to “cash” or to “Bearer,” and no checks are to
be released with the payee's name omitted. State the name of the payee in such a way that individuals to whom
checks are given will have to sign their name in endorsement in order to receive the money. Checks drawn to
employees for organization business, such as custodian of a petty cash fund or establishment of an evangelism
account, should include the employee’s name and the name of the function for which the check is intended. Only
when a check is given to an employee in discharge of the organization's obligation to the employee (for salary,
allowances, reimbursement of expenses, etc.) should it be made payable simply to the individual with no other

designation.
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905.08 Check Signing - In regard to the signing of checks, several controls should be in place.

Checks should be signed only after they have been written and the check amount imprinted. It is never
proper to sign a check in blank or in advance of specifying the date, payee, and amount.

Checks should be prepared and signed on the office premises. Only on rare and special occasions should
personnel take checks away from the office, and write and sign them somewhere out in the field. On
those rare occasions when this may be necessary, these personnel should be particularly diligent in
returning to the general ledger accountant the file copies of the check and all necessary
documentation. The accountant has the authority to insist that this information be submitted promptly.

If a check-signing machine is used, certain control features should be employed.

a. The signature plate should be kept in the personal custody of the signatory (not entrusted to an
administrative assistant, accountant, or cashier),

b. The signature plate should be released only for the signing of a specific number of checks.

c. The number of checks to be signed should be tallied by the signatory, and that number should be
seen to agree with the reading taken from the counter on the machine itself.

If a computer-generated signature is produced by accounting software, control features are critical.

Access to the software should be password-restricted to only appropriate individuals.
Management personnel should periodically review the computer-generated disbursements.

905.09 Cash Disbursements Cutoff - The cutoff principles discussed in Section 903.07 about cash receipts
apply equally to cash disbursements. Checks written on the last day of the fiscal period should be recorded as
withdrawals from the bank in that period. Checks written on the first day of the next period should not be
recorded in the old period, nor should checks written after the end of the period be back-dated so as to be
recorded in the previous period. The record of cash in the bank should reflect all checks drawn on the bank for
the period indicated in the financial statements, and no others. It is not appropriate to write checks in a given
period, record them as disbursements in that period, and then hold them to be released at a later date. Checks
should be written only when there are funds in the bank to cover them and when the entity intends to turn them
over promptly to the payee. Checks written after year end for old year business should be recorded in accounts
payable at year end.

Section 906 - Cash Management

906.01 Bank Reconciliations - The preparation of bank reconciliations is an important control activity (see
Sections 302.09 and 505.03.) If possible, bank reconciliations should be performed by someone who does not
handle bank deposits, check disbursements, or the general ledger accounts. All bank accounts should be
reconciled promptly each month, and the reconciliations should be presented to a responsible individual
for review and approval. The reviewer should determine whether adjustments from the previous month's
reconciliations have been cleared so that they do not need to be carried forward to the current month's

reconciliation. Bank reconciliations prepared promptly and consistently are one of the primary defenses against

potential misuse of funds. Appendix 5A illustrates a bank reconciliation checklist and form.
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906.02 Cash Status Report - The CFO and other officers need to know the balance of cash available for the
organization's needs. A report of cash and bank transactions should be submitted to the CFO no less often than
weekly; in large organizations, twice-weekly or even daily reports may be desirable. The information presented
should include, at a minimum, the beginning balance in the operating bank account from the previous report, a
summary of cash received and deposited, a summary of disbursements (including itemization of major items), and
the new bank balance. If several bank accounts are in use, this information should be presented for each one.
Also included should be a report of inactive accounts, savings accounts, and other cash items.

906.03 Cash Cycles - CFO’s should be well acquainted with the cyclical nature of cash flow for their
organizations. Typically, organizations have high points and low points that repeat their sequence year after year.
There are exceptions and modifications to this pattern, but a CFO can, by charting weekly cash status reports or
month-end balances of bank checking and savings accounts, determine in fairly specific terms just what the
pattern is in the organization. In addition to the yearly cycle of fluctuating balances, there is ordinarily a monthly
cycle as well, which can be charted on the basis of weekly or daily cash status reports.

906.04 Utilization of Funds - Analysis of the cash-flow cycle can sometimes prompt actions that will result in
additional earnings. Unless it is properly managed, cash itself is an unproductive asset. Consistently large
balances in checking accounts may indicate poor planning and stewardship, and may indicate lost opportunity for
maximizing income. In an organization with complex resources, where individual funds may each have fairly
substantial amounts on deposit, the CFO should find the best balance of combined resources for non-interest-
bearing deposits, as well as combined resources which can be put to work for the benefit of the organization as a
whole. The CFO must also be familiar with the provisions of applicable working policy, and the organization’s

voted investment policy, for acceptable investment vehicles.
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Appendix 9A - Operating versus Agency Cash
Cash and cash equivalents are defined by the denomination as only the portion of cash that is available for
operating purposes. Cash equivalents should not include unrestricted cash necessary to offset agency liabilities
or fiduciary obligations. This is illustrated in the following table. (Fund accounting has no impact on this concept.)
4 All cash specifically identified as agency-related should be reported as cash held for agency. This is still
a current asset, but it is not included with “cash equivalents” available for operating purposes.
4 If agency-specific cash is less than the agency liability, and the net amount of all unrestricted cash is
positive, then cash is reclassified to the extent necessary to cover the agency liability.

4 If agency-specific cash is less than the agency liability, and the net amount of all unrestricted cash is
negative, then the net unrestricted cash amount should be reported as overdrawn cash, a liability.

Assumptions: Example 1 Example2 Example3 Example4 Example5
Operating Petty Cash 500 1,000 1,000 500 750
Operating Bank Account #1 5,000 16,500 6,500 (3,000) (18,500)
Operating Bank Account #2 6,000 20,000 20,000 9,500 3,250
Net Unrestricted Cash Available 11,500 37,500 27,500 7,000 (14,500)
Agency-specific Bank Account 33,500 0 0 25,000 17,500
Plant-specific Bank Account 15,000 15,000 15,000 15,000 15,000
Total Agency Liability 33,500 33,500 33,500 33,500 33,500
Statement of Financial Position
Assets
Cash Held for Operating 11,500 4,000 0 0 0
Accounts Receivable 116,300 116,300 116,300 116,300 116,300
Cash Held for Agency 33,500 33,500 27,500 32,000 17,500
Current Assets 161,300 153,800 143,800 148,300 133,800
Land, Buildings, & Equipment, Net 750,900 750,900 750,900 750,900 750,900
Cash Held for Unexpended Plant 15,000 15,000 15,000 15,000 15,000
Total Assets 927,200 919,700 909,700 914,200 899,700
Liabilities
Overdrawn Cash 0 0 0 0 14,500
Accounts Payable 18,950 18,950 18,950 18,950 18,950
Agency Liability 33,500 33,500 33,500 33,500 33,500
Long-term Debt, Current Portion 10,000 10,000 10,000 10,000 10,000
Current Liabilities 62,450 62,450 62,450 62,450 76,950
Long-term Debt, Noncurrent Portion 65,000 65,000 65,000 65,000 65,000
Total Liabilities 127,450 127,450 127,450 127,450 141,950
Net Assets
Unallocated Operating 23,850 16,350 6,350 10,850 (8,150)
Allocated Operating 10,000 10,000 10,000 10,000 0
Unexpended Plant 15,000 15,000 15,000 15,000 15,000
Invested in Plant 750,900 750,900 750,900 750,900 750,900
Total Net Assets 799,750 792,250 782,250 786,750 757,750

Total Liabilities and Net Assets 927,200 919,700 909,700 914,200 899,700
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Section 1001 - Nature of Investments

1001.01 Types of Investments - Most organizations have resources they do not need immediately but
which they want to have available as soon as needed or which they want to hold for producing investment
income. These resources are invested in a variety of financial instruments, including medium and long-term time
deposits, debt securities issued by financial institutions, corporations, and government entities, equity securities
issued by corporations, and mutual funds that invest in debt and equity securities. This Manual will refer to these
resources collectively as “investments” rather than as “securities and investments.” The only financial instruments
that are not included in this category are those that fit the definition of cash equivalents (Section 901.01).

1001.02 Investment Strategy - Choosing which financial instruments to acquire is a decision that must be
made by the governing committee (or an appropriate sub-committee). It should be based on the investment
strategy and portfolio management objectives for each fund, function, or department. Organizations can acquire
financial instruments directly, by purchasing a single specific instrument issued by an entity, or indirectly, by
purchasing units or shares in a mutual fund. One objective of an investment strategy involves selecting an
appropriate balance between the goals of income production, appreciation in value, and protection of principal.
The organization’s investment strategy should be documented in the minutes of the committee that was
authorized to establish it.

1001.03  Accounting Follows Investment Strategy - Investments and related income, gains, and losses
are classified for accounting purposes according to the investment strategies established by the governing
committee. The more complex the entity, the more likely it will have different investment strategies for different
funds and programs. The investment strategy will guide the accounting process to classify each financial
instrument as either a current or noncurrent asset. It will also guide the process to accumulate investments into
defined classes in preparation for determining their value for financial statement presentation. All investments will
be recorded at their cost at the date acquired, or fair value if donated, but will then be valued at each subsequent
reporting date according to the valuation method applicable to the class into which they have been placed
(Section 1004).

1001.04  Segregation by Funds - As noted in Chapters 6 and 7, many denominational entities use fund
accounting. In those entities, each fund can hold various types of investments, to the extent allowed by
denominational policies. The basic principles of accounting, custody, and valuation discussed in this chapter are

the same, however, no matter which fund holds the investments.
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1001.05 Current and Noncurrent Classifications - Some investments are noncurrent by their nature
(time deposits or debt instruments that mature after more than 12 months, for example), but other types of
investments may be either current assets or noncurrent assets, depending on specific criteria. GAAP defines
current assets as cash and other assets that are reasonably expected to be realized in cash or sold or consumed
during the normal operating cycle of the entity (normally one fiscal year). Thus, current assets include
investments which mature in 12 months or less and are available for current operations. If investments are
available to be used when needed for operating purposes, regardless of their maturity date, they should be
classified as current assets. That would exclude from current assets any investments that are committee-
allocated or donor-restricted for future plant acquisition, liquidation of noncurrent debt, or any non-operating
purpose, even if they mature in 12 months or less.

For financial statement presentation, this Manual makes the following distinctions. Overall, assets are
classified as either “current” assets; land, buildings, and equipment; or “other” assets. Cash and cash equivalents
are to be included in current assets. Loans receivable are classified as either “current” loans receivable (to be
included in current assets) or “noncurrent” loans receivable (to be included in other assets). All other financial
instruments are identified as investments and are classified as either “current” (to be included in current assets) or
“other” (to be included in other assets).

Section 1002 - Investment Policies

1002.01 General Guidelines - GCWP encourages each Division to establish policies for the selection and
management of investments for all organizations within their territory, in conformity with a number of general
guidelines. Also, if a Division does not establish such policies, then all organizations within that territory are
limited to investing their resources in GC Unitized Funds and other specified short-term financial instruments.

1002.02  Specific Default Policies - GCWP S 85 15 requires application of at least the following minimum
practices and procedures.

1. Governing committees must act as prudent investors to seek reasonable income, preserve principal, and
avoid speculative investments.

All investments must be in harmony with laws and regulations of the applicable jurisdiction.

Governing committees must determine the appropriate level of risk and return for each asset pool or
portfolio the organization holds.

The choices of investment instruments must conform to the level of risk assigned to each portfolio.
Governing committees must diversify the portfolios of intermediate and long-term asset pools.

Asset pools must be managed solely to achieve the stated purpose for which they were established.
Governing committees should limit administrative costs to appropriate and reasonable amounts.

Governing committees must perform or obtain an asset allocation study before investing any asset pool.
Equity securities selected should be only those of good quality and which are actively traded.
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©OeNO O A



Chapter 10 - Investments SDA Accounting Manual — January 2011 — page 180

10. Governing committees shall adopt an investment policy statement for each asset pool the entity holds.

11. Convertible bonds, convertible stock, preferred stock, and real estate investment trusts are not allowed as

fixed income investments.

12. All members of governing committees must have current signed conflict of interest statements.

13. Governing committees are encouraged to select reputable custodians to hold securities and settle

transactions. Self-custody of securities is discouraged.

14. Governing committees that make investment decisions should retain professional advisors whose

compensation is not commission driven.
Section 1003 - Custody of Securities

1003.01 Transaction Authorizations - Section 904 discussed principles regarding custody of cash and
cash equivalents. In general, similar internal controls should apply to transactions for the purchase and sale of
investments and for custody of the evidence of investment. Each purchase and sale, whether of a specific
security or of a mutual fund interest, must be authorized by the governing committee or a duly-designated
investment sub-committee. No transaction should be entered into unless the authorization of the committee is
made a matter of record prior to the transaction.

1003.02 Identification of Securities - To comply with these principles, each purchase transaction should
include a record of the identity of the investment, such as serial numbers of the bonds or stock certificates, or
name and unit numbers of mutual fund shares. All records related to investments are maintained on the basis of
specific identification, so each instrument must be identified so it can be tracked throughout the processes of
purchase, custody, and sale.

1003.03 Broker or Manager Custodial Accounts - It is a best practice and a policy recommendation to
use the services of a broker or manager as the custodian of the investments the entity holds. For organizations
that use the services of a licensed broker or manager, the periodic statements of the broker's custodial account
must be retained as support for the related accounting entries. Although there may be no change in the units or
quantity of a specific investment held by the custodian over a period of time, the fact that they are held by a third
party makes documentation critical. All custodial statements should be retained in a secure file in a similar
manner as the support for other transactions.

1003.04 Use of Safety Deposit Boxes - For entities that hold specific securities directly rather than
through broker or manager custodians, safety deposit boxes may be used to minimize the risk of loss by theft.
Best practice, as well as some divisions’ working policies, requires that at least two authorized persons be present

to access safety-deposit boxes and their contents. (Some may authorize access for any two of three or four

named individuals.) Instructions to the financial institution that maintains the safety deposit facility should require
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that access to the box not be granted except when at least two of the authorized individuals are present. All
authorized individuals present should be actively involved in adding or withdrawing documents to or from the box.
The control objective is not achieved if one simply stands by while the other does all the document handling.

The financial institution maintains a log of dates and times when access to a safety deposit box is granted and
to whom. The box holder also should keep a record, preferably in the safety deposit box itself. It is usually
sufficient for this record to include a columnar list of each document or group of documents, with serial numbers
where applicable; the date deposited and signatures or initials of individuals present; the date(s) inventoried and
initials of person inventorying; and the date withdrawn and signatures or initials of individuals present. If desired,
the box holder can keep a duplicate of this record in a locked file in their office.

1003.05 Temporary Withdrawals - It is sometimes necessary to temporarily withdraw a document from
the safety deposit box for use in the organization’s office. It must be emphasized that such withdrawals should be
recorded just as though they were permanent and that the document be reentered in the inventory list when it is
replaced. While the document is out of the safety deposit box, it should be passed from one individual to another
only on the exchange of a signed receipt for the document. This helps to prevent important documents from
being lost or stolen while in an organization's office.

Section 1004 - Valuation of Investments

1004.01 Groups of Investments - At the end of each reporting period, each organization must determine
the carrying value of its investments. (Refer to Section 1004.07 about accounting for investments at the lower of
cost or market.) The account structure should have already been used to separate the investments by type of
instrument, by fund, and by current or noncurrent nature. Within each of these accounting groups, to help
determine their value, international GAAP requires the investments to be separated further into one or more of the
following four valuation classes. The organization must then determine the proper value for each of the
investments in each of those classes, and the total value of all investments in each class and each portfolio.

Class 1.  Subject to Accounting at Fair Value

Held for Trading - Investments acquired and held specifically for active short-term trading.
Selected for Fair Value - Any investment the organization acquired and chose to carry at fair value. Such
a choice must be applied uniformly to all investments of a similar type or purpose.
Class 2. Held To Maturity
Investments (other than loans) acquired for the express purpose of holding to maturity, and for which the

entity has the financial ability to hold for that full period of time. Note that if the entity has an intent to hold
the instrument for only an indefinite period, or generally would be willing to sell the instrument in response
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to changing economic conditions, the instrument cannot be classified as held to maturity.
Class 3. Loans Receivable
Loans originated by the reporting entity without any intent that they be sold or traded in the short term.
Class 4.  Available For Sale

All financial instruments that have not been separated into classes 1, 2, or 3. This class will include only
those financial instruments for which the organization has not identified an intent or purpose.

1004.02  Valuation Methods - International GAAP requires the carrying value of investments to be
determined according to the following rules, based on the respective valuation classes.
Class 1. Subject to Accounting at Fair Value
Held for Trading or Selected for Fair Value - For either of these sub-classes, the carrying value of these
investments is to be stated at fair value. The change in fair value from one reporting period to the next is
to be recorded as gain or loss in the current period.

Class 2. Held To Maturity

The carrying value of these investments is to be stated at amortized cost, reduced whenever applicable
for impairment loss. Impairment loss, if any, is to be recorded in the year in which it occurs.

Class 3. Loans Receivable

The carrying value of these investments is to be stated at amortized cost, reduced whenever applicable
for impairment loss. Impairment loss, if any, is to be recorded in the year in which it occurs.

Class 4.  Available For Sale

The carrying value of these investments is to be stated at fair value if a quoted market price is available or
fair value can be reasonably estimated by other means. The carrying value of these investments is to be
stated at amortized cost only if a quoted market price is not available and fair value cannot be reasonably
estimated.

Any unrealized change in fair value of these investments from one reporting period to the next is to be
recorded as an increase or decrease directly to net assets (using a distinct account within the net asset
group, similar to a prior period adjustment). Unrealized gain or loss in value of these investments is not to
be recorded as an increase or decrease from financial activity of the current period. When investments in
this class are sold, the cumulative unrealized gain or loss is to be reversed out of net assets, and the total
“realized” gain or loss is to be recorded as gain or loss in the current period.

Because of the obvious complexity of recording gains and losses under class #4, this Manual urges
all organizations to clearly and formally identify the holding purpose for each investment acquired, so
that the investments will fall under class #1, 2, or 3. The sample financial statements illustrated in Appendix
17A and 17C presume that all investments have been identified as class #1, 2, or 3.

1004.03 Calculating Fair Value - After the investments have been separated by valuation class, then the
value is computed separately for each portfolio. For investments that are carried at fair value, it is often helpful to

prepare a schedule for each group, listing each item with its cost in one column and its current fair value in a



Chapter 10 - Investments SDA Accounting Manual — January 2011 — page 183
second column. Fair value should be obtained from published securities price quotations or from data furnished
by the custodial broker or manager. The carrying value of the whole portfolio is the total of the fair value column.
The difference between total cost and total fair value for each portfolio is recorded in a valuation account.

GAAP requires disclosure of the net carrying amount of investments grouped by type of instrument; for
example, government securities, corporate bonds, and stock mutual funds. This Manual illustrates such
disclosure in the notes to the financial statements (Appendix 17A and 17B). Although GAAP requires further
analysis and grouping for the process of calculating fair values, as discussed in the two preceding sections, it
does not require disclosure of these additional groupings in the financial statements or notes thereto.

1004.04  Separate Valuation Account - For any portfolio that must be carried at fair value, when
aggregate fair value differs from cost at the end of a reporting period, the unrealized gain or loss that has
occurred must be recorded. (The term “unrealized” signifies that while a gain or loss has been sustained in the
carrying value of the aggregate portfolio, it has not been reduced to a cash inflow or outflow because the
investment is still owned. This becomes a “realized” gain or loss if and when the investment is sold.) An
accounting entry must be made of this change in value; a gain or loss is actually recognized, and the carrying
value of the portfolio is adjusted accordingly.

Rather than change the asset cost account, a separate contra-account is used (similar to the “Allowance for
Uncollectible Accounts” that is used with receivables). This is a “valuation” account; it is a companion account to
the asset cost accounts and is never found separated from the asset account group. Because the valuation
account can be either positive or negative, it is titled Unrealized Appreciation or (Decline). The change in this
account from one reporting period to the next is recorded as Unrealized Gain or (Loss) in Value. This is illustrated
in Appendix 10A.

1004.05 Presentation of Gains and Losses - International GAAP requires all investment gains and
losses to be combined for financial statement presentation into an overall “net” gain or loss for the reporting
period. That does not prevent denominational entities from disclosing separate sub-totals for realized gain or loss
and unrealized gain or loss. GAAP requires disclosure in the notes about the net gain or loss within each portfolio
or fund, and disclosure of the net gain or loss apart from regular investment income (interest and dividends).
Whether the “net” amount is a gain or a loss, it should be reported on the same line in the revenue section of the
statement of activity. (For illustration, see Appendix 17A.02 and 17A.05 (3) Note 4.)

1004.06  Unrealized Gains to be Allocated - The denomination voted to make the following policy part of
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this Manual. When the aggregate fair value of an investment portfolio exceeds its historical cost, organizations
are required to transfer unrealized gains in fair value to an allocated function within unrestricted net assets. That
is why it is important to record the cost of each investment in a separate account from the valuation account for
changes in fair value. The balance in the allocated function should always be equal to any positive balance in the
valuation account that accompanies the investment assets. If the valuation account balance is negative, the
allocated function balance should be zero. The purpose of this allocated function is to hold unrealized gains apart
from net assets that are available for operating use until the gains become realized. The accounting entries to
increase or decrease the allocated function are only transfers, not revenue or expense.

1004.07  Valuation at Lower of Cost or Fair Value (country-specific Standard) - Some countries
require investments to be carried at the lower of cost or market. Under this method, the organization may
disclose market or fair value in the notes to the financial statements, but the investments will be reported only at
the lower of cost or fair value on the face of the statement of financial position. See Appendix 18B.

The organization should still track the cost of investments and determine their respective fair values, as
discussed in Sections 1004.03 and 1004.04. However, since the carrying value is the lower of cost or fair value,
the balance in the valuation account will never be greater than zero. (The valuation account would be “Unrealized
Decline in Value” rather than “Unrealized Appreciation or Decline.”) Also, any unrealized gains will be recognized
and reported only to the extent they are necessary to recover previously-recorded unrealized losses.

Section 1005 - Investment Income and Sales

1005.01 Ordinary Income - Unrestricted investment income (interest and dividends) from all funds should
be reported as revenue in the statement of financial activity for the period in which it is earned. On the face of the
statement or in the notes, investment income should be disclosed apart from gains and losses. As discussed in
Chapter 13, restricted investment income should be reported as restricted revenue. If the income on an
investment of restricted funds is available for unrestricted purposes by direction of the donor, the amount of such
income should be recognized as unrestricted revenue in an operating fund. An example of this would be an
endowment fund, when the earnings are unrestricted by the donor. In this case the endowment fund earnings
would appear as unrestricted endowment revenue of the operating fund.

1005.02  Control of Income - An adequate record must be kept to show that all earned income for each
security has been either received in cash or accrued as a receivable in the year in which it is earned. Dividends

on equity securities are recognized as of the date the dividend is declared. Even though the issuing company has
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a history of payment of regular dividends in fixed amounts, the expected dividend is not income to the shareholder
until the issuing company's board of directors has taken formal action to declare it. Interest on debt securities
should be recognized as revenue in the year in which it is earned. Even though the payment date falls within the
following fiscal year, an accrual entry should be made (debiting a receivable and crediting the revenue account) to
recognize interest earned up to the last day of the fiscal year.

1005.03 Interest on Doubtful Investments - Accounting for accrued interest on investments of doubtful
collectability are similar to those for loans of doubtful collectability, which are discussed in Section 1104.

1005.04  Sale of Investments - In general, gains and losses on sale of investments are classified similarly
to earned income on investments. Unrestricted and restricted gains and losses on sale of investments should be
reported in the statement of financial activity in the revenue section. If restricted, such gains and losses would
also be reported in the appropriate allocated or restricted function line in the statement of changes in net assets.

Because most investments in equity and debt securities are carried at fair value, the realized gain on sale of
an investment is not simply the sale price minus the original cost. The total gain or loss on an investment reflects
all fluctuations in value from date of acquisition to date of sale. Some of that gain or loss is recognized at the end
of each accounting period, in the form of “unrealized” gain or loss in value. The remainder of that total gain or
loss is recognized at the time of sale of the investment, in the form of “realized” gain or loss. The realized gain or
loss is the sale price minus the carrying value (fair value) from the most recent preceding financial statement date.
“Realized” gain or loss is based on the sale of a specific investment at the time the sale occurs. “Unrealized” gain
or loss is based on the fair value of a whole portfolio at the end of an accounting period.

1005.05  Assignment of Cost - Where it is possible to identify the specific asset sold, cost should be
assigned on the specific identification method. When this is not possible, the accepted method for a group of
specific investments is to use the first-in first-out assumption in determining the cost of a particular item. For
investments in mutual funds, the accepted method is to use a weighted average unit cost, also with a first-in, first-

out assumption.
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Appendix 10A - lllustrative Journal Entries

10A.01 Data for Entries - The following illustration contains sample data as of January 1, 20X1, and sample

activity and balances for years 20X1, 20X2, and 20X3. The entries related to this data, including recognition of

realized and unrealized gains and losses for each of the years, and corresponding transfers to or from allocated

net assets, are in Section 10A.02. Entries for sale of unitized investments are in Section 10A.05. Each entry

includes an explanation, and where necessary, further details about how the gains and losses are calculated.

Cost Fair Fair Fair

Investment Portfolios 20X1, Value Value Cost Value

by Type of Instrument 20X2 20X1 20X2 20X3 20X3
Government Bond 30,000 33,300 32,700 30,000 30,200
Corporate Note 25,000 23,000 24,000 0 0
Bond Mutual Fund 0 0 0 24,600 25,000
Stock Mutual Fund 13,900 15,750 14,100 13,900 12,900
Aggregate Totals 68,900 72,050 70,800 68,500 68,100
Unrealized Appreciation (Decline) [valuation account] 3,150 1,900 (400)
Unrealized Gain (Loss) [current year activity account] 3,150 (1,250) (3,300)
Realized Gain (Loss) [current year activity account] 0 0 600

10A.02 Sample Journal Entries

Journal Entries, December 31, 20X1
Unrealized Appreciation (Decline) [valuation account]
Unrealized Gain (Loss) in Value [current year activity account]
To record unrealized gain in fair value as of 12/31/20X1.
Transfer To Allocated Security Fluctuation Account
Transfer From Unallocated Function

To make allocated function equal to positive valuation account.

Journal Entries, December 31, 20X2
Unrealized Gain (Loss) in Value [current year activity account]
Unrealized Appreciation (Decline) [valuation account]
To record unrealized loss in fair value as of 12/31/20X2.
Transfer To Unallocated Function
Transfer From Allocated Security Fluctuation Account

To make allocated function equal to positive valuation account.

Journal Entries, June 30, 20X3
Cash
Unrealized Appreciation (Decline) [valuation account]
Corporate Note
Realized Gain on Sale [current year activity account]
To record sale of investment at 6/30/20X3.

Debit Credit

3,150
3,150

3,150
3,150

1,250
1,250

1,250
1,250

24,600

1,000
25,000
600
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10A.02 Sample Journal Entries (continued)
Debit Credit

Journal Entries, June 30, 20X3 (continued)

(In the preceding entry, the result of the sale is a realized gain of 600 [sale price minus
carrying value], not a realized loss of 400, because a net unrealized loss of 1,000 had
already been previously recorded. At 12/31/20X2, this investment had a cost of 25,000
and fair value of 24,000; so (1,000) must be removed from the valuation account.)

Transfer To Allocated Security Fluctuation Account 1,000
Transfer From Unallocated Function 1,000
To make allocated function equal to valuation account after sale.
Bond Mutual Fund 24,600
Cash 24,600

To record purchase of new investment at 6/30/20X3.

Journal Entries, December 31, 20X3
Unrealized Gain (Loss) in Value [current year activity account] 3,300
Unrealized Appreciation (Decline) [valuation account] 3,300

To record unrealized loss in fair value as of 12/31/20X3.

(The valuation account at 12/31/20X3 should be (400) [fair value of 68,100 minus cost of
68,500]. The unrealized (loss) for the year is the difference between what the valuation
account should be and what it was after the entries related to the sale at 6/30/20X3.)

Transfer To Unallocated Function 2,900
Transfer From Allocated Security Fluctuation Account 2,900
To make allocated function equal zero, since valuation account is negative.

10A.03 lllustrated Effect of Entries on Valuation Account

Balance at 1/1/20X1 was zero. Debit Credit

Unrealized Gain recorded at 12/31/20X1 3,150

Unrealized Loss recorded at 12/31/20X2 1,250
Balance in Valuation Account at 12/31/20X2 1,900

Remove the effect of negative valuation related to the investment sold, 6/30/20X3. 1,000
Balance in Valuation Account at 6/30/20X3 2,900

Unrealized Loss recorded at 12/31/20X3 3,300
Balance in Valuation Account at 12/31/20X3 400

10A.04 lllustrated Effect of Entries on Allocated Security Fluctuation Account

Balance at 1/1/20X1 was zero. Debit Credit
Unrealized Gain recorded at 12/31/20X1 3,150
Unrealized Loss recorded at 12/31/20X2 1,250
Balance in Allocated Account at 12/31/20X2 1,900
Remove the effect of negative valuation related to the investment sold, 6/30/20X3. 1,000
Balance in Allocated Account at 6/30/20X3 2,900
Portion of unrealized loss at 12/31/20X3 to bring allocated balance to zero. 2,900

Balance in Allocated Account at 12/31/20X3 0
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10A.05 Sample Entries for Sale of Unitized Investments — The sale of units in a unitized investment

account will be recorded in the same manner as in the preceding illustration. However, because of the nature of a

unitized account, calculation of the cost of units sold will involve a mathematical calculation of average cost.

Sample Data: GC Unitized Income Fund

Total Units Held 31 December 20X0 4399.4797
Per Unit Value 31 December 20X0 146.6403
Fair Value 31 December 20X0 645,141.02
Total Cost 31 December 20X0 592,803.35
Unrealized Appreciation (Decline) 31 December 20X0 52,337.67
Per Unit Value 31 March 20X1 147.9906
Proceeds from Sale 15 April 20X1 35,000.00
Units Sold 15 April 20X1 (see explanation (b) below) 236.5015
Cost of Units Sold (see explanation (b) below) 31,867.15
Sample Entry - Sale at 15 April 20X1 Debit Credit

GC Money Fund Account (a) 35,000.00

GC Income Fund Account (b) 31,867.15
Unrealized Appreciation (Decline) (c) 2,813.50
Realized (Gain) or Loss (d) 319.35

To record sale of a portion of unitized units held.
Transfer To Unallocated Function Account 2,813.50
Transfer From Allocated Security Fluctuation Function Account 2,813.50

To make allocated function equal to valuation account after sale.

(a) Debit the appropriate bank account for the proceeds from the sale.

(b) To determine the number of units sold, the investor must refer to the sale confirmation document received
from the GC Investment office. (It is necessary to refer to the sale confirmation, because the per-unit
value is recalculated each day, and is not published in any other manner.)

After the number of units sold is determined, then determine the cost of that number of units, by using the
following formula. Credit the asset account for that calculated cost amount.
Cost of units sold = (Total cost / Total units) x (Number of units sold)
(b) For this illustration: (592,803.35 / 4,399.4797) * 236.5015 = 31,867.15

(c) Calculate the portion of the allowance for unrealized appreciation (decline) that is associated with the
number of units sold. Enter this amount in the allowance account to remove it from that balance. If the
allowance is a debit balance, enter this amount as a credit. If the allowance is a credit balance, enter this
amount as a debit.

Allowance for units sold = (Total allowance / Total units) x (Number of units sold)
(c) For this illustration: (52,337.67 / 4,399.4797) * 236.5015 = 2,813.50

(d) Calculate the gain or loss on the sale by combining the three amounts from (a), (b), and (c). If the result
is positive, credit as a gain to the Realized Gain/Loss account. If the result is negative, debit as a loss to
the Realized Gain/Loss account.

(d) For this illustration, Realized Gain/Loss = (35,000 - 31,867.15 - 2,813.50) = 319.35
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Appendix 10B - Interaction Between Currency Exchange and Unrealized Gains/Losses

10B.01 General Accounting and Reporting Principles - Organizations that hold investments which are

denominated in a currency other than the reporting currency should account for them as follows.

1.

Interest and dividend income, and purchases and sales of investments, are to be recorded using either the
current exchange rate at the date of the transaction, or a reasonably recent average exchange rate.

For sales of investments, the realized gain or loss is to be recorded separately from any exchange gain or
loss. The realized gain or loss in terms of the base (or functional) currency should be the difference between
the sale price and the most recent revalued cost (using the latest exchange rate). The realized gain in terms
of the base (functional) currency is not simply the difference between sale price and original cost in the base
currency.

Interest and dividends are to be reported separately from gains and losses. Realized gains and losses from
sales may be reported separately or may be combined with unrealized gains and losses from fluctuations in
value.

At the end of each reporting period (at least quarterly), assets and liabilities held in currencies other than the
base (functional) currency are to be revalued using the exchange rate in effect at the statement of financial
position date. The change in the revalued balances is to be recorded as exchange gain or loss for the period.
This would be in addition to any exchange gains or losses recorded during the period on specific transactions.

At the end of each reporting period (at least quarterly), the fair value of investments is to be compared to their
cost or carrying value, and the difference is to be recorded in a valuation account (unrealized appreciation or
decline). The change in the valuation account is to be recorded as unrealized gain or loss for the period.

Because the revalued balances (in the base/functional currency) depend on use of the current exchange
rate, while calculation of the unrealized appreciation or decline is merely the result of subtracting
revalued cost from fair market value, Step #4 should be performed before Step #5.

As information only, GAAP requires the notes to the financial statements to include disclosure about how much of
the total exchange gain or loss for the period is attributable to investments held in foreign currencies and how
much is attributable to all other balances and transactions.

The application of these principles is illustrated in sample transactions on the following pages.
The illustrated transactions are based on the following sample data, reporting by calendar quarters.

Invest. #1 Invest. #2 Invest. #3 Invest. #4
Amounts in Source (Foreign) Currency
Original Cost of Investment 250,000 500,000 270,000 540,000
Proceeds From Sale of Investment 275,000 532,000
Fair Value at 31 March 258,500 520,300 284,000
Fair Value at 30 June 263,000 529,000
Exchange Rate at 31 March = 1.059
Exchange Rate at 30 June = 1.018
Amounts in Base (Functional) Currency
Fair Value at 31 March 244,098 491,313 268,178
Fair Value at 30 June 258,350 519,646

(Source amount / Exch. Rate = Base amount)
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Exch. Source (Foreign) Base (Functional)
Date Rate  Account Debit Credit Debit Credit
5Jan 1.037 Investment #1 250,000 241,080
1.087 Cash 250,000 241,080
To purchase investment #1.
27 Jan  1.037 Investment #2 500,000 482,160
1.087 Cash 500,000 482,160
To purchase investment #2.
16 Feb 1.051 Investment #3 270,000 256,898
1.051 Cash 270,000 256,898
To purchase investment #3.
31 Mar 1.059 Investment #1 n/a 5,008
1.059 Investment #2 n/a 10,017
1.059 Investment #3 n/a 1,941
1.059 Exchange (Gain) or Loss n/a 16,966
To revalue accounts.
31 Mar 1.059 Unrealized Appr. (Dec.) Invest. #1 8,500 8,026
1.059 Unrealized Appr. (Dec.) Invest. #2 20,300 19,169
1.059 Unrealized Appr. (Dec.) Invest. #3 14,000 13,220
1.059 Unrealized (Gain) or Loss 42,800 40,415
To record gain in fair value.
14 Apr  1.053 Cash 275,000 261,159
n/a Investment #1 250,000 236,072
n/a Unreal. Appr. (Dec.) Invest. #1 8,500 8,026
n/a Realized (Gain) or Loss 16,500 17,061
To record sale of Invest. #1.
12May 1.046 Cash 532,000 508,604
n/a Investment #2 500,000 472,143
n/a Unreal. Appr. (Dec.) Invest. #2 20,300 19,169
n/a Realized (Gain) or Loss 11,700 17,292

To record sale of Invest. #2.
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Exch. Source (Foreign) Base (Functional)
Date Rate  Account Debit Credit Debit Credit
16 May 1.046 Investment #4 540,000 516,252
1.046 Cash 540,000 516,252
To purchase Investment #4.
30Jun 1.018 Investment #3 n/a 10,269
1.018 Investment #4 n/a 14,199
1.018 Exchange (Gain) or Loss n/a 24,468
To revalue accounts.
30Jun 1.018 Unrealized (Gain) or Loss 32,000 30,902
1.018 Unreal. Appr. (Dec.) Invest. #3 21,000 20,096
1.018 Unreal. Appr. (Dec.) Invest. #4 11,000 10,806

10B.03 lllustrated Results of Transactions, by Account

To record loss in fair value.

Exch. Source (Foreign) Base (Functional)
Date Rate  Account and Activity Debit Credit Debit Credit
Investment #1
5Jan 1.037 Purchase 250,000 241,080
31 Mar 1.059 Revalue n/a 5,008
Balance 31 March 250,000 236,072
14 Apr n/a Sale 250,000 236,072
Balance 30 June 0 0 0 0
Unreal. Appr. (Dec.) Invest. #1
31 Mar 1.059 Appreciation in Fair Value 8,500 8,026
14 Apr n/a Sale 8,500 8,026
Balance 30 June 0 0 0 0
Investment #2
27 Jan 1.037 Purchase 500,000 482,160
31 Mar 1.059 Revalue n/a 10,017
Balance 31 March 500,000 472,143
12 May n/a Sale 500,000 472,143
Balance 30 June 0 0 0 0
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10B.03 lllustrated Results of Transactions, by Account (continued)

Exch. Source (Foreign) Base (Functional)
Date Rate  Account and Activity Debit Credit Debit Credit

Unreal. Appr. (Dec.) Invest. #2

31 Mar 1.059 Appreciation in Fair Value 20,300 19,169
12 May n/a Sale 20,300 19,169
Balance 30 June 0 0 0 0

Investment #3

16 Feb 1.051 Purchase 270,000 256,898

31 Mar 1.059 Revalue n/a 1,941
Balance 31 March 270,000 254,957

30Jun 1.018 Revalue n/a 10,269
Balance 30 June 270,000 265,226

Unreal. Appr. (Dec.) Invest. #3

31 Mar 1.059 Appreciation in Fair Value 14,000 18,220
30Jun 1.018 Decline in Fair Value 21,000 20,096
Balance 30 June 7,000 6,876

Investment #4

16 May 1.046 Purchase 540,000 516,252
30Jun 1.018 Revalue n/a 14,199
Balance 30 June 540,000 530,451

Unreal. Appr. (Dec.) Invest. #4
30Jun  1.018 Decline in Fair Value 11,000 10,806

Realized (Gain) or Loss

14 Apr n/a Sale of Investment #1 16,500 17,061
12 May n/a Sale of Investment #2 11,700 17,292
Balance 30 June (net) 28,200 34,353
Unrealized (Gain) or Loss
31 Mar 1.059 Appreciation in Fair Value 42,800 40,415
30Jun  1.018 Decline in Fair Value 32,000 30,902
Balance 30 June (net) 10,800 9,513

Exchange (Gain) or Loss
31 Mar 1.059 Revalue n/a 16,966
30Jun 1.018 Revalue n/a 24,468
Balance 30 June (net) n/a 7,502
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Appendix 10C - Additional Valuation Concepts (USA Standard)

10C.01 US GAAP - US GAAP approximates international GAAP as far as accounting procedures for
investments that are subject to fair value. However, US GAAP has a different definition for determining which
investments are subject to fair value accounting. FASC specifically requires all not-for-profit organizations in the
US to account for equity securities with readily determinable fair values and all debt securities at fair value. Fair
value is defined as the amount at which the asset could be bought or sold in a current transaction between willing
parties. (US GAAP has no provision like the “held to maturity” class of international GAAP.)

10C.02 Provisions of NADWP - NADWP S 85 contains the investment policies for North American Division,
and was extensively revised in November 2005. The revised policy applies to local and union conferences, and
restricts investments available to academies and other affiliated entities unless they follow specified authorization
procedures. The revised policy focuses on investment strategies adopted by each entity, and places investments
into three categories based on maturity period and strategic purpose. It lists allowable investments for each of
these time categories. It requires the governing body of each entity to manage their investments with attention to
a number of listed principles, and requires each governing body to adopt an explicit strategy for each group or
pool of investment assets.

10C.03 Investments Not Subject to Fair Value - The only investments that can be valued at cost are equity
securities for which fair value cannot be readily determined. In addition, however, FAS 124 excludes loans
receivable from the definition of debt securities, and leaves valuation of such receivables to other sections of
GAAP. Many denominational organizations hold loans receivable from affiliated entities and individuals. GAAP
requires these investments to be recorded at the lower of cost or net realizable value. The portfolio of these loans
should be reviewed frequently and critically to determine their collectability and their fair value. Provision for
losses on such investments can be made by applying similar accounting procedures and evaluation criteria as are
typically employed in establishing an allowance for uncollectible accounts receivable (Section 1103.10).

10C.04 Marketable Investments - Equity or debt securities that can readily be bought or sold on an open
market may be held for operating or non-operating purposes, but in either case are subject to fair value
accounting. Investments that are held in denominational unitized funds will be considered to be marketable equity
and debt securities, because that is the nature of the mutual funds’ investments. To the unit-holding organization,
units in the unitized fund are simply “marketable securities” one stage removed. Accounts receivable and loans

receivable do not meet the definition of marketable debt securities. After an organization determines which of its
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investments are subject to fair value accounting, then it should follow the guidance in Sections 1004.03 and
1004.04 to determine fair values and to record changes in the valuation account.

10C.05 Unrealized Gains and Losses - When fair value changes at the end of a reporting period, an
increase or decrease to net assets must be recorded. FASC requires changes in either current or noncurrent
investments to be recognized as gains or losses in determining the total increase or decrease to net assets.
FASC further requires total realized and unrealized gains and losses to be netted together for overall disclosure,
but allows components of net gain or loss to be disclosed by fund or by type of activity as well. The NAD has
decided that changes in the fair value of current investments will be classified as operating activity and changes in
the fair value of noncurrent investments will be classified as non-operating activity. Whether the net amount is a
gain or a loss, it will be reported in the revenue sections (operating or non-operating) of the statement of changes
in net assets. These distinctions are illustrated in the sample financial statements at Appendix 17C and 17D.

10C.06 Sale of Marketable Investments - Realized gains and losses on sale of investments are accounted
for similarly to earned income on investments. Unrestricted and temporarily restricted gains and losses on sale of
investments should be reported in the statement of changes in unrestricted and temporarily restricted net assets,
respectively, after the net increase (decrease) from operations. Gains and losses on endowment funds are
accounted for in accordance with special rules which are discussed in Section 7C.03.

Because most investments in equity and debt securities are carried at fair value, the realized gain on sale of
an investment is not simply the sale price minus the original cost. The total gain or loss on an investment reflects
all fluctuations in value from the date of acquisition to date of sale. Some of that gain or loss is recognized at the
end of each accounting period during which the investment is held, in the form of “unrealized” gain or loss in
value. The remainder of that total gain or loss is recognized at the time of sale of the investment, in the form of
“realized” gain or loss. Consequently, the realized gain or loss is the sale price minus the carrying value (fair
value) from the most recent preceding financial statement date. “Realized” gain or loss is based on the sale of a
specific investment at the time the sale occurs. “Unrealized” gain or loss is based on the fair value of a whole

portfolio at the end of an accounting period.
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Section 1101 - Nature of Receivables

1101.01 Classification Necessary - Denominational organizations are accustomed to handling a large
number of receivable accounts of various types. The purpose of this chapter is to describe the nature of
receivables, the procedures necessary to account for them in varied circumstances, and the adequate disclosure
of their distinctive characteristics in the financial statements.

1101.02 Routine Current Receivables - The most familiar assets in this category are those routine
accounts representing money receivable from students, customers, employees, and affiliated organizations, for
current transactions. These accounts are due and payable on a recurring monthly basis, and the assets are
properly classified as current assets. For adequate disclosure in the financial statements, they should be
assembled into groups by type of entity. GAAP requires disclosure of balances due from affiliated entities and
key management employees apart from all other receivables.

1101.03 Noncurrent Advances - Distinct from current accounts receivable are accounts which represent
funds advanced, usually to affiliated entities, with an understanding that the advances need not be repaid on the
usual current basis. Sometimes these advances are represented by promissory notes, issued by the recipients,
and are payable on demand. Sometimes there is no written evidence of indebtedness. A number of factors need
to be considered when classifying such advances as current or noncurrent. What are the intentions of the creditor
and the debtor? Is the advance for the purchase of equipment or other noncurrent assets, or perhaps to provide
working capital? Even though the advance may be payable on demand, does the debtor have the ability to repay
if demand is made? A creditor may be lulled into a false sense of security by classifying demand advances as
current assets, and thus part of working capital, when there is little or no ability on the part of the debtor to meet
the obligation.

1101.04 Loans Receivable - The organization may hold loans receivable for which promissory notes
specify the due date(s) of the obligation, interest rates, security, and other essential details. It is important to look
beyond the form of the agreement to its substance. Such notes commonly provide for payment of the principal in
installments. In such cases only those installments due within one year after the date of the financial statements
can be classified as current assets; the remainder of the principal amount is considered a noncurrent asset. If the
note is seriously in default, however, installments past due and coming due within the next year may not be
current assets. Depending on the circumstances, such assets should either be written down by providing an

allowance for uncollectible loans, or be reclassified as noncurrent assets.
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1101.05 Classifying Receivables into Groups - Accounts receivable should be gathered into a hierarchy
of two sets of groups for disclosure. The first set consists of a group for current status and a group for noncurrent
status. Within each current and noncurrent group is a second set, consisting of groups by type of debtor, whether
affiliated entity, employee, or unrelated third party.

Loans receivable should be gathered into a hierarchy of three sets of groups for disclosure. The first set
consists of a group for current status and a group for noncurrent status. Within each current and noncurrent
group is a second set, consisting of groups by type of debtor, whether affiliated entity, employee, or unrelated
third party. Within each type of entity group is a third set, consisting of groups by type of loan, whether secured or
unsecured, and whether for housing, automobile, or other purpose.

The account structure should be established so that each account or loan receivable is placed into the proper
groups within the ledger. Then ledger-generated sub-totals can be easily placed into the notes to the financial
statements for disclosure. For illustration of such disclosures, see Appendix 17A, Notes 5 and 6.

Section 1102 - Accounts Receivable, Current

1102.01 Sources of Charges - For conferences and missions, most accounts receivable are from
charges to employees for payroll advances, amounts due from schools for salaries and related expenses,
amounts due from churches for monthly tithe and offering reports, and amounts due from churches and schools
for insurance premiums and other charges. For schools, a significant portion of accounts receivable are from
students, but they may also have accounts receivable from churches or from the related conference or mission for
subsidies. For retail book centers, essentially all accounts receivable are from customers, such as churches,
schools, and individuals.

1102.02 Receivables and Fund Accounting - Large or complex organizations may have accounts
receivable in more than one fund. They may have routine accounts receivable in one fund and loans receivable
in another fund. They may have some accounts receivable for sales and services and other accounts receivable
from the same entities for tithe and offering remittances. Each organization should consider the impact of such
complexity on the preparation of monthly statements. One individual should be assigned responsibility to review
the month-end balances for all accounts from all funds together. Such analytical review can highlight accounts
that may be increasing in the aggregate for a given debtor, but not be noticeable in any one fund.

1102.03 Receivables versus Appropriations - Transactions are sometimes recorded as accounts

receivable even though it is understood that the amount will not be repaid, but will rather be “covered” by later
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appropriations or other credits. Any account listed as a receivable should, in the normal course of time, be
received in cash from the debtor. If that is not the case, it is incorrect to report the amount as a receivable. For
example, if an organization advances funds to an affiliated entity but has no intention to ask for repayment, it
should be recorded as an appropriation expense from the start.

Section 1103 - Accounting and Reporting Procedures

1103.01 Church Remittance Accounts - Sections 903.07 and 1709 discuss proper procedures to close
the cash receipt record at the end of each month to make a clear distinction between cash received and
remittances receivable from constituent churches at the statement of financial position date. As described in
Section 1709, the details of each church report should be recorded as a receivable with appropriate credits to the
respective revenue and offering fund agency accounts at the end of the month or year. Cash received should
then be recorded as of the date of actual receipt as a debit to cash and a credit to the account receivable.

1103.02  Student Accounts - For educational organizations, student charges are the primary source of
revenue. Consequently, management of student receivables to generate maximum cash flow is a vital function.
The accounting system should be structured to accommodate receivables from a large number of individuals, as
well as to separate the related charges into categories, such as tuition, dormitory, cafeteria, supplies, and fees,
etc. Refer to Chapter 20 for further discussion about school accounting.

1103.03 Customer Accounts - Frequently organizations allow customers to obtain goods or receive
services immediately, and then collect money from them later. Some organizations, such as publishing houses or
book centers, have many recurring transactions with the same customers. Other organizations, particularly those
employing literature evangelists, may have credit sales which are collected over a number of months. In all of
these situations, there should be a written credit policy to help ensure that credit is granted appropriately.
Managing the extension of credit and collection of receivables is critical to continued existence of these types of
organizations.

1103.04 Employee Accounts - Applying the principle that “form follows function,” the nature of the
accounting record for employee accounts receivable will vary according to the circumstances. Some
organizations limit financial transactions with employees to monthly payroll settlement and the monthly expense
report. In other cases employees have the privilege of securing cash advances against payroll and purchasing
fuel, food products, and other items on credit. Naturally, the scope of the accounting will vary depending on these

circumstances.
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The general rule must be that when a transaction involving an employee is consummated, it must at that time
be recorded as a charge to the employee in an account receivable. The practice of holding cash advances to
employees unrecorded until the monthly payroll is prepared should not be permitted. This is not to say that
transactions such as purchases of merchandise cannot be accumulated throughout the month in subsidiary
records and entered in total at the close of the month, in coordination with the preparation of the monthly payroll.
Such charges should be recorded as debits to the employee receivable accounts at the time, and not “short-
circuited” simply as direct deductions through the payroll journal.

1103.05 Accounts with Elementary and Secondary Schools - Transactions with constituent elementary
and secondary schools of a conference or mission are usually recorded in an allocated function in the conference
or mission operating fund. (In some jurisdictions, the conference or mission educational operation must be
handled through an entirely separate fund. If so, the account structure should be modified accordingly.) Some
conferences or missions bill the schools for all or a specific portion of the total expense of the school-related
payroll. Some add an amount for other expenses paid for the benefit of the school. In some cases, a flat agreed-
upon amount per month is billed to the school. Credits are passed to the individual schools for regular operating
appropriations and for special appropriations or subsidies. These various types of transactions are best recorded
in a journal designed to meet the needs of the individual organization. The exact nature of every charge and
credit to the individual school should be evident in this journal.

1103.06  Accounts with Other SDA Entities - In the denominational environment there are a large
number of transactions between entities for remittances received and appropriations sent, especially at the
division and union level. Each reporting entity should have a receivable account for each of the respective junior
and senior entities with which it has routine transactions. Because of the volume of such transactions, it is
imperative that the statements of account with the affiliated entities be reconciled routinely on a monthly basis.
Undocumented or disputed transactions are much easier to resolve if they are discovered close to the date they
first occurred rather than waiting until year-end. Refer to Appendix 5B for an illustrated checklist of how to
perform such reconciliations.

1103.07  Billing and Monthly Statements - Every individual and entity carried in the current accounts
receivable categories is entitled to a monthly statement of account. If entries to a particular account are
numerous or if the accounts receivable in general are active, it is helpful to the organization and to the debtor to

prepare an invoice for each charge. The monthly statement should either itemize the nature of the charges or be
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accompanied by copies of invoices which include such detail. The statements should be sent to the debtors
promptly after the close of each month.

The balance on each statement should agree with the balance in the ledger. The statements should be
compared with the ledger accounts and mailed to the debtors by an individual who is not involved in either
maintenance of the accounting records or the receipting of incoming cash. For those accounts which are not paid
routinely each month, the CFO should consider asking the debtors to confirm the correctness of the balance
shown in their statements. This could be done at least once a year; the confirmation procedure, including all
responses received to confirmation requests, should be under the direct control of the CFO or designee, who
should be an individual not involved in either the accounting or cash receipting procedures.

1103.08  Subsidiary Ledgers - As mentioned in Chapter 4, the SunPlus accounting software developed
by the GC contains an expanded structure that provides for a record of individual receivable accounts in the
general ledger without having to use a separate subsidiary ledger. For entities that use other software, they will
have to study the features of the software to determine whether it is best to use just the general ledger or to
continue the traditional practice of using a subsidiary ledger for specific groups of accounts. If it uses a subsidiary
ledger, the account number in the general ledger would represent a control over a particular category of
receivables in the subsidiary ledger. The balance in the control account should always agree with the total of all
balances in the subsidiary ledgers. No transaction should be recorded in one ledger without a corresponding
entry in the other.

In large organizations, there may be some advantages to maintaining subsidiary ledgers. It is possible for
one individual to operate a subsidiary ledger or ledgers, while another is responsible for the general ledger and
the control accounts. Locating errors in a group of homogeneous accounts in a subsidiary ledger may be easier
than locating the same error when it is “buried” in the general ledger. Separation of functions for purposes of
satisfactory internal control is more easily accomplished with subsidiary ledgers separate from the general
accounting routine. 1t is possible for the individual assigned to a subsidiary ledger or ledgers to become highly
knowledgeable in that particular field, thus leading to greater efficiency.

1103.09 Losses from Uncollectible Accounts - Most entities have some risk of loss from uncollectible
receivables, and should provide for it. There are two methods of recognizing losses on uncollectible accounts.

(1) The “allowance” method charges expense each period as it establishes an allowance for future losses

based on a percentage of sales or charges in a given period. When an account is recognized as uncollectible, it
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is charged against the allowance. Using this method requires a detailed analysis of the receivable accounts,
together with an analysis of past history. An aged trial balance of the accounts receivable is an invaluable tool in
this analysis.

(2) The “direct write-off” method charges expense when an account is recognized as uncollectible, in the
period in which the loss is recognized. The journal entry recording the transaction should be supported by some
form of documentation about the nature of the account and why it is being written off.

1103.10 The Allowance Method - This method is generally used when the principal activity in the
accounts receivable arises from a significant volume of sales of goods or services:

For illustration, assume student charges of 1,000,000 in year 20X1, with estimated losses, based on past

experience, of about 2% of total charges. In year 20X2, ten families declare bankruptcy, and their accounts,
totaling 5,250 are deemed uncollectible.

Journal Entry, June 30, 20X1 Debit Credit
Uncollectible Accounts Expense 20,000
Allowance for Uncollectible Accounts 20,000

To record estimated loss on uncollectible accounts for 20X1,
based on historical average of 2% of total charges.

Journal Entry, June 30, 20X2 Debit Credit
Allowance for Uncollectible Accounts 5,250
Accounts Receivable, Former Students 5,250

To record uncollectible status of accounts of ten former
students whose families declared bankruptcy during 20X2.

1103.11 The Direct Write-Off Method - This method is generally more applicable to situations other than
sales of goods or charges for services, where losses from uncollectible accounts are usually isolated cases rather

than routine risks.

For illustration, assume certain charges totaling 1,390 against the Local Church School, which the school
disputed because it did not authorize the charges, are deemed uncollectible and written off as a loss.

Journal Entry, June 30, 20X2 Debit Credit
Uncollectible Accounts Expense 1,390
Accounts Receivable, Church School 1,390

To record adjustment on Local Church School of disputed
amount, as authorized by conference Executive Committee
action X2-47, April 28, 20X2.
1103.12  Authorization for Write-Offs - Every time an uncollectible account is written off, specific
approval must be granted by the governing committee or its designated sub-committee. It is not permissible for

write-offs to be authorized either by a member of the accounting department or unilaterally by the CFO or another

officer.
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Section 1104 - Loans Receivable

1104.01 Account Classifications - Generally, “loans receivable” is a broad category and “notes
receivable” is a segment within it for particular kinds of loans. For all types of loans receivable, it is important to
distinguish between (a) current and noncurrent, (b) secured and unsecured, and (c) category of debtor. The
account structure provides for all of these distinctions, and no loan receivable should be established in the
accounts until a responsible individual is satisfied that it is properly identified as to all three of these
characteristics.

1104.02 Loans versus Notes - A formal promissory note as evidence of indebtedness is preferable to an
open-account or unsecured advance. Without written evidence of the terms of the loan, there is a constant risk
that with the passage of time and changes in personnel, misunderstandings may arise as to the terms. If loans
have been authorized by the governing committees of both the lender and the borrower, it is reasonable to expect
the transaction to be evidenced by a promissory note. Authorizations for these transactions should specify the
amount involved, the arrangements for payment including specific due dates, the interest rate and provisions for
payment of interest or its addition to principal, understandings as to renewal on maturity, conditions and
contingencies, and a clear statement as to security or collateral offered and accepted, if any. Most division
working policies contain procedures which must be followed for certain types of loans.

1104.03  Current and Noncurrent Portions - The account structure includes sub-groups for current
loans, unsecured and secured. A loan which will be fully collected within the next year will be carried in these
sub-groups. The current portion of long-term loans is also recorded in these sub-groups. These sub-groups
correspond with other sub-groups for the long-term portion of loans, unsecured and secured. The usual
procedure is to carry the total amount of the obligation in the long-term category during the year and to transfer
that portion of the total which is due for collection during the next year to the proper current group account at the
end of the year.

1104.04 Interest Income on Loans - Interest payment dates seldom correspond with year-end closing
dates. This means that at the end of a year, interest earnings may have accumulated since the last interest
payment date on both current and long-term receivables. Such accrued interest income should be recognized as
revenue in the period in which it is earned, and the amount should be recorded as a receivable. The receivable
will be recorded in the appropriate fund as a debit to accrued interest receivable. The balancing credit will be

recorded as interest income or as miscellaneous revenue. To simplify the later recording of the receipt of the
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interest payment, this entry may be reversed on the first day of the new year. Actual payments of interest may
then be credited directly to the interest revenue account.

1104.05 Uncollectible Principle and Interest - It is generally recognized that accrual of interest on
uncollectible receivables, and the recognition of such interest as current revenue, is not acceptable. While the
decision about collectibility is frequently difficult, it is important to take an objective view of this evaluation, and to
report the condition accordingly. The usual practice, when an interest-bearing receivable is deemed uncollectible,
or when payments of principal and/or interest have ceased, is to (1) stop accruing interest as of the date of the
decision; (2) reverse entries for interest accrual for the current year; and (3) as to interest accrued and unpaid
from previous years, either (a) write them off against a previously-established allowance for uncollectible, or (b)
set up such an allowance in the full amount of the accrued interest receivable. At the same time, the allowance
for uncollectible should be analyzed, to ensure it is adequate to cover the principal balance of the account
currently in question.

1104.06 Disclosure of Terms - To prepare the financial statements, it is not sufficient simply to compile a
schedule showing names of debtors and amounts due. Additional details as to type of borrower, terms of
payment, interest rates, and security, if any, are required to be disclosed for these assets. Disclosure is also
required of amounts due from officers, employees, and affiliated entities apart from other debtors. The amount of
allowance for uncollectible accounts should also be disclosed. If this information cannot be easily displayed in the
statement of financial position, it should be included in the notes to the financial statements.

1104.07 Disclosure of Loans in Default - Adequate disclosure must be made in the financial statements
of loans and notes or accrued interest thereon which are significantly past due. It is not correct to show as a
current asset the portion of a long-term indebtedness which may be due within the next year (or may have come
due in the past year) unless the amount can reasonably and objectively be expected to be collected during the
coming year. The same applies to accrued interest receivable. It is misleading to report as “current” assets
accrued interest on loans and notes which represents an accumulation of unpaid interest over a long period of
time. Not only should both the principal and interest be classified as noncurrent, there should also be specific
disclosure as to which items are in default, the principal balance, and the amount of any related allowance.
Section 1105 - Inter-Fund Transactions

1105.01 Current Transactions - Most denominational entities that use fund accounting will have

numerous transactions between funds in the ordinary course of business. Two principles must be employed.
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(1) Any inter-fund transaction recorded in a given fund, whether “due from” or “due to,” should be supported
by a corresponding entry in the other fund. For example, there is something wrong if the accounting system
reports in an operating fund a “Due from Plant Fund, 2,380" while the plant fund shows a “Due to Operating Fund,
1,591.” In a computerized accounting system, controls should be built into the program to ensure that
corresponding entries are made for every transaction that affects more than one fund.

(2) Entries in inter-fund receivable and payable accounts should be strictly on a current basis and should not
involve formal borrowing between funds. This means that either the normal debit and credit entries in the two
funds will approximately balance out to zero from one period to another, or there will be a cash settlement at least
at the end of each month. Also, in the combined financial statements for the organization as a whole, inter-fund
receivables and payables should be eliminated or netted to zero. To help ensure that these accounts net to zero,
they should be reconciled each month. Appropriate entries should be recorded to clear all outstanding items on a
timely basis.

1105.02 Inter-Fund Borrowing - There are occasions when the governing committee feels a need for and
authorizes a loan from one fund to another on a long-term basis. In making such a decision, the committee
should be aware of any legal restrictions against loaning the resources of a particular fund. Such transfers of
funds should not be recorded in the same accounts with the ordinary due to/from accounts, but should be
separately identified and recorded in distinct accounts. This formal borrowing between funds should be subject to
the same requirements for repayment terms and documentation as loans from conventional lenders. If it
becomes apparent that the borrowing fund will not likely repay the amount, it should be removed from the loan
to/from accounts, and recorded as a transfer, reducing net assets in the “lending” fund and increasing net assets

in the “borrowing” fund.
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Section 1201 - Inventories

1201.01 Definitions - To promote uniform application of GAAP, and to avoid burdensome accounting, this
Manual reinforces the following distinctions. Inventory is defined as goods and materials that have been
purchased, developed, or manufactured for the express purpose of being sold or otherwise transferred to other
entities and individuals. Prepaid expense is defined as products or services that have been purchased,
developed, or manufactured specifically for consumption or benefit in the organization’s own operations over a
period extending beyond the current statement of financial position date.

Inventory may appear to be a significant asset to only such entities as book centers, literature evangelism
organizations, and publishing houses. However, some conferences and other organizations also may have
assets that meet the definition of inventory. For further guidance about textbooks and library books at schools,
see Section 2002.11. For further guidance about biological assets (plants and animals), see Section 2304.

1201.02  Materiality - The following guidance should be applied only if inventories are material or
significant to the organization. If the inventory of a given category of materials is low in value and if it tends to
remain relatively unchanged from year to year, it may be permissible to omit recognition of the inventory as an
asset. Such items would be charged to expense as they are acquired. On the other hand, if the value is
significant in relation to other operating assets of the organization, or if there are significant fluctuations in quantity
or value from year to year, the organization should recognize the amount that remains on hand at year-end as
inventory. The organization would record as cost of goods sold or as expense only the portion actually sold or
consumed each period.

1201.03  Timing of Inventory Adjustments - For those items of inventory that are material and need to
be recognized, a uniform procedure should be used to account for their purchase and resale. The best procedure
is to charge all purchases in those inventory categories to an asset account and to record monthly reductions in
the inventory as credits to the inventory account and charges to an appropriate cost of goods sold or expense
account. If the monthly decreases are small or if the total inventory in a particular category is small at any given
time, it may be permissible to charge purchases to expense as they are made and to record only an annual
adjustment to credit the expense account and debit the asset account with the inventory value on hand at the
close of the year. The procedure is not required to be the same for all categories of inventory. Large or very
active accounts should be adjusted on a monthly basis.

1201.04  Purchasing Procedures - Management should establish procedures for the purchase of
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materials. Purchase order forms should be used, and authority to execute purchase orders for various types of
inventory should be explained in writing. If the amounts are significant, it may be advisable to prescribe
procedures for securing bids for sizeable purchases and to establish a review committee to oversee the bid-and-
purchase process. Purchase orders should be prepared at least in triplicate, with the original going to the vendor,
a copy to be retained by the employee who originates the order, and a third copy to go to the CFO for review and
then to a designated person in the accounting department who will later process the vendor invoice. Purchase
orders should clearly indicate quantities and description of materials ordered, unit prices, terms of payment, and
discounts.

1201.05 Payment of Invoices - Vendor invoices will ordinarily be routed to a designated person in the
accounting department for review. This review should include matching the invoice with the related purchase
order to determine that all aspects of the transaction as billed agree with the authorization in the purchase order.
The individual or department originating the order should certify that the material has been received and
accepted, either by forwarding a receiving document to the accounting department or by indication on the invoice
itself. After these steps have been completed, the invoice should be transmitted to the CFO or a delegated
assistant for final approval prior to payment. When the invoice is paid, all the supporting documents (vendor
invoice, purchase order copy, and receiving document if any) should be attached to the check voucher and be
clearly marked “paid.”

1201.06 Inventory Custody in General - One objective of internal control is to safeguard the assets.
Sometimes all the supplies of an organization are kept together in one room or warehouse, and any individuals
who require access to any particular item are by default permitted access to all inventories. Each inventory
category should be under the specific custody of a designated individual who is held responsible for materials
drawn from that category. Multiple access simply means that no one person can be held responsible for custody
of the asset.

For example, if the Sabbath School department maintains an inventory of Child Evangelism supplies, only the
personnel of that department should have custody of those supplies, and no others should be permitted to
withdraw them without their knowledge and approval. As another example, if an academy has a book and supply
store for student use, it should not be so accessible that individuals can pass through unattended.

1201.07 Record of Withdrawals - An accurate record should be kept of withdrawals from each inventory

category. Depending on the activity in a particular area, this may be done by having the individual requiring the
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material fill out a requisition for the items needed and sign it when the items are received. Then all requisitions for
the month are priced and totaled as documentation for the month-end entry to transfer the value from the
inventory account to the expense account. In some cases, rather than using individual requisitions, a log may be
kept listing all withdrawals, with each item identified as to date withdrawn, description, value, and initials of the
person receiving the material. Activity in the various inventory categories varies so widely that a system should
be devised which is complete and adequate without being unduly burdensome.

1201.08  Physical Inventory Concept - The CFO should arrange with each inventory custodian to take a
physical count of the inventory on hand at the end of the fiscal year. It is best if someone other than the
custodian, such as someone from the accounting department, counts the inventory. Inventory counting
instructions should be in writing, and the individuals who will be doing the counting should receive appropriate
orientation or training.

The inventory listing should be in writing and should include a description of each item, including shelf
location, quantity on hand, unit price, and extension. If the quantity of inventory is extensive, the inventory count
sheets should be pre-numbered, and all sheets should be accounted for at the conclusion of counting. As the
count of each section or group of inventory is completed, some form of tags or labels should be affixed to the
shelves or display structures to ensure that all items are counted once, and no items are counted more than once.

The cost per unit and the multiplication of that amount by the number of units on hand should be verified in
the accounting department. The total inventory value as determined from the physical count then becomes the
asset value in the year-end statement of financial position. Any discrepancy between the computed inventory
cost and the balance in the general ledger should be adjusted by an appropriate entry to the related cost of goods
sold or expense account.

1201.09 Excessive or Obsolete Stock - Any material which is, for any reason, unusable or of no value
should be removed from the inventory account. For example, goods purchased for sale in a particular program or
event should be written off if they are still on hand when the program stops. Material which has deteriorated to
the point where it cannot be used, and any items of inventory that likely will not be used before they become
obsolete, should be written down to their net realizable market value.

Section 1202 - Custody and Recording of Inventories
1202.01 Physical Layout of Salesroom - For retail sales entities, serious consideration should be given

to the physical layout and arrangement of the retail sales room. The number of entrances to the sales room
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available to the public (and this includes anyone who is not an employee of the store) should be limited as far as
possible, consistent with the desire to make the salesroom readily available to prospective customers. Wherever
possible, the salesroom should be limited to two entrances. Further, the store manager can often arrange the
displays in the salesroom so that even though there may be two or three entrances and exits, all customers are
required to go past a checkout counter, where the cash register is located, and where one salesperson is
constantly on duty.

1202.02 Checkout Counter - In larger entities, the following procedures can help strengthen internal
control, and minimize the risk of merchandise being stolen. One person can be assigned to the cash register
while others are assigned to assist customers. Sales staff on the floor are available to assist customers, but need
not ring up the sales. Thus it is not necessary for every salesperson to have a cash or change fund in their
custody.

1202.03  Sole Custody of Merchandise - The typical store has, or should have, an individual who is
assigned the responsibility of custody of all resale materials in the stockroom. (This is a location where bulk
goods are stored until quantities are needed to replenish display sections in the sales area.) Often this person
combines the duties of receiving, shipping, and custody, and it is only reasonable that, similar to custodians of
cash, this person alone be afforded access to the assets entrusted to him/her.

1202.04 Limited Access to Stockroom - If the stock clerk is charged with responsibility for the bulk
inventory carried in the stockroom, it is not unreasonable to limit access to the stock room to store employees.
No individual, by virtue of their position, has automatic unrestricted access to the stockroom. Conference or
Mission employees should not be permitted into the stockroom unless they have business with the stock clerk. It
should be evident that proper safeguards must be instituted to preclude customers from entering the stockroom.
It might be well to have the door between salesroom and stockroom locked, and equipped with an electrical lock
release to be operated by the stock clerk. This at least permits the stock clerk to know who is entering the
stockroom and for what purpose.

1202.05 Replenishing Salesroom Stock - Ideally, the salesroom should be replenished according to a
written list from designated salesroom personnel, which is handed to the stock clerk and filled. Internal controls
must be blended with practicality, however; the business must operate, and sometimes there are so few
personnel that a complete division of function is not practical. Wherever possible, salesroom personnel should

not share the responsibility for replenishing salesroom stock. In times of peak loads of shipping work, it may be
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necessary that everyone help to get mail orders out. These other individuals should recognize they are
temporarily working under the direction of the stock clerk, and that the clerk is still solely responsible for the
stockroom and its contents.

1202.06  Authorization for Purchases - The authority to purchase goods and services is both a privilege
and a responsibility. The individual who has this authority not only makes decisions as to what types of
merchandise are needed, and in what quantities, but also commits the organization to the payment of money. As
mentioned in Chapter 3, job descriptions should specify who is authorized to originate purchase orders, and for
what types of goods and services. These details should be written out, and should be understood by the
individuals involved. As indicated in Section 1201.04, it is preferable that formal purchase orders be issued for all
goods ordered from outside vendors, including orders made by telephone or e-mail, in which case a confirming
purchase order should be issued.

1202.07 Receiving Function - A copy of the purchase order should be forwarded to the receiving clerk as
soon as the original is released. In most stores, this receiving function is combined with the duties of the shipping
clerk. These two areas of responsibility should be kept conceptually separate, even though they are served by
one person. All purchase order copies received by the receiving clerk from the individual originating them should
be kept in an open file until the material is received. The receiving clerk should actually count to confirm the
quantity of merchandise received, and not simply accept the quantity indicated on the vendor's packing list. Then
the purchase order is compared with the packing list and the actual quantities received; if they agree, the order
and the packing list are stapled together, the receiving clerk marks the packing list “Received” with the date, and
signs the form. It is then forwarded to the accounting department, to the one who has already received a copy of
the purchase order.

1202.08 Non-routine Deliveries - There are necessarily some exceptions. Occasionally office supplies
and other small items may be picked up personally by someone other than the receiving clerk. In such cases, a
copy will be held by the individual handling the pickup until the material arrives at the store, at which time this
individual will sign the copy of the purchase order, or the packing list, and give it to the accounting department.

1202.09 Categories of Purchases - Section 2102.01 discusses breaking down sales at book stores into
separate categories such as SDA materials, periodicals, other publisher materials, and foods. In order for such a
sales breakdown to be significant, it is necessary that purchases and all related costs be similarly categorized.

The account structure has the flexibility to do this. The identification of accounts to be charged for purchases may
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be handled either by the person originating the purchase order, or by the accountant who matches the documents
prior to entry. In either case, the individual charged with this responsibility should be adequately instructed as to
what account numbers are available and the significance of each number. It is essential that the revenues and
the costs related to those revenues be consistently identified.

1202.10  Shipping Costs on Purchases - Part of the process of acquiring merchandise is the
transportation from the vendor's point of shipment to the store. The cost of merchandise includes all costs
required to put it in place and in condition for sale. Obviously, the merchandise is not available for sale by the
store until it is delivered to the store premises; therefore the cost of freight or other transportation is a part of the
merchandise cost. Freight on incoming merchandise, then, should be accumulated in accounts related to the
categories of merchandise, in the cost of goods sold section of the accounts.

1202.11 Manager's Approval - All purchase invoices, before being entered in the records, should be
reviewed and approved by the manager or a designated representative. Some organizations delay this step until
the due date for payment; then the checks are made out, and checks plus invoices are placed on the manager's
desk for review and signature. Such a delay does not represent good internal control.

Most bills are paid at one time, usually around the first to the tenth of the month. This means the manager is
confronted with a sizeable number of checks and an even larger number of invoices to be reviewed. With such a
quantity of paperwork all at one time, it is the natural tendency to examine the documentation rather lightly,
instead of carefully, as the importance of the operation warrants. Channeling these invoices to the manager
without delay, throughout the month, gives the manager more of an opportunity to examine the invoices carefully.

The manager's approval on the invoices is an authorization to record the invoices as liabilities, which commits
the organization to the payment of money at a future time. This being the case, the authorization should be given
before the invoices are entered as liabilities, not at some time subsequent to entry.

1202.12  Perpetual Inventory Records - Some organizations with large quantities of frequently changing
inventory use computerized systems to monitor those assets and update the inventory records as frequently as
purchases, sales, increases, or decreases occur. Such a system is called a perpetual inventory system. It is
easy for users of perpetual inventory systems to think that they do not need to take physical counts of the
inventory at any particular end-of-period date, because the inventory value is “continually” kept up-to-date.
However, a physical count of the inventory is a valuable tool for testing the accuracy of the perpetual inventory

system, and should be taken at least at the end of each fiscal year.
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Section 1203 - Year-End Inventory Count

1203.01 Planning for Inventory Count - A physical inventory of all stock on hand is necessary at the
close of the fiscal year. Although the inventory counting process is time-consuming, it can be made easier if
proper plans are made in advance. Generally, all employees are called on to help with the task; this means that
some of the individuals involved may not be well acquainted with the items in stock, and will require instruction if
they are to do their part in an acceptable manner. |t is wise to put inventory instructions in writing in advance of
the inventory date, to survey the premises to identify specific areas to be covered by each inventory team, to
review the written instructions with the team before the count begins, and to answer any questions they may
have.

1203.02  Survey of Premises - It is essential that all goods be included. After the count is thought to be
complete and the records are adjusted, a discovery that goods stored in an out-of-the way place, or items which
may not have been readily visible, were not counted would require additional unplanned work. The manager
and/or stock clerk should survey the entire premises before the inventory date, including storage areas in outlying
warehouses or other locations not immediately connected with the stockroom or salesroom, to pinpoint areas that
might otherwise be overlooked. A fresh look at the entire inventory may discover some items that may have been
forgotten.

1203.03  Arranging Stock by Categories - For convenience in later analysis of the total inventory, it is
most helpful if the stockroom can be arranged so that various categories of merchandise are arranged in separate
sections, such as SDA books, other-publisher books, multi-media products, food products, and whatever other
categories have been indicated for sales categories. If inventory count sheets are used, as much as possible, no
sheet should contain items of more than one category.

1203.04 Closing for Inventory - The manager should consider closing the store for normal business
while the inventory is counted to minimize any distracting duties and movement of inventory. It is nearly
impossible to achieve a proper cutoff on the physical inventory in relation to sales, shipments, and receipts of
goods if the store is open for business. If sufficient advance notice of the closing for inventory is publicized, the
inconvenience to customers should be minimized.

1203.05  Cutoff of Receipts and Shipments - One of the advantages of closing the salesroom on
inventory day is to simplify the cutoff of sales and receipts of goods and to coordinate these inflows and outflows

with the inventory count itself. Obviously, incorrect amounts of inventory, sales, and/or cost of goods sold will
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result if, for example, billing to a customer has been entered as a sale while the goods are still on the premises
and are included in inventory. The same thing applies to incoming merchandise. If it is included in inventory, it
must have already been recorded as a purchase and a liability. Individuals who are responsible for receiving,
shipping, and salesroom activity should be informed about this. If goods have been set aside for a customer, it is
imperative that they either be recorded as sales and excluded from inventory, or be included in inventory and not
yet recorded as a sale.

1203.06 Goods in Transit - Should inventory include goods in transit from the supplier on the day
inventory is being counted? If the billing point of the purchase is the seller's (that is, if the store pays the freight or
other delivery charge, whether it is paid separately to the common carrier, or added to the vendor's invoice as a
separate item), the goods belong to the buyer when the vendor makes shipment. This means that, even though
the goods are not physically present on the store premises on inventory day, the transaction must be recorded as
a liability, and the invoice cost of the goods must be included in inventory. If, on the other hand, the price of
goods includes transportation to the store address (the billing point is the store, not the vendor's location) the
transaction is not complete and the buyer does not own the goods until they are delivered to the store by the
common carrier.

1203.07  Pricing the Inventory - At the completion of the counting and tabulation of goods on hand, the
inventory cards or count sheets will be assembled in preparation for pricing the inventory. All cards or count
sheets should have been pre-numbered, and all numbers will now be accounted for, to ensure that nothing has
been omitted. In pricing the inventory, items are commonly arranged as to the discount allowed from list price by
the supplier; individual items are then extended at full list price, and the appropriate discount is taken on the
whole category. This saves a great deal of effort and the possibility of errors in computing extensions on
individual items. Also, as mentioned in Section 1201.09, provision must also be made for reducing the inventory
value of those items which are obsolete or overstocked, and which will probably have to be sold at a reduction
from the regular price.

There is a caution when applying one discount rate to the entire quantity of an item. While the discount on a
particular product may regularly be a certain percentage, it is possible that a special deal offered by the publishing
house resulted either in certain titles in that category being sold to the store at a higher discount, or in the list price
itself being changed. A common example is the granting of an additional discount at camp meeting or holiday

time. It is not correct to list an item in the regular discount group if the item was purchased at one of these
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additional discount arrangements. Neither is it correct to list the entire inventory of a given title at one single list
price when a portion of the merchandise may have been purchased at one list price and the remainder at another
price. The pricing of the inventory must reflect an amount no higher than that which was actually paid for the
specific goods, not what would normally be paid, or what might have been paid if conditions had been different.

1203.08 Contracted Counting Services - To save time and expense, a number of stores use commercial
inventory counting services to perform the physical count of the retail sales areas, and sometimes portions of the
stockrooms as well. Using such a service does not remove the responsibility from the store manager to oversee
all inventory counting procedures, to ensure that the count is properly performed. The areas to be counted by
store staff and counting service personnel, respectively, should be defined in writing and communicated to all
involved, so that there will be no confusion during the process.

1203.09 Completed Inventory Total - When all inventory items have been priced and extended, the
inventory sheets should be individually footed and adequate summaries prepared, to arrive at the value of the
entire inventory. Again it must be emphasized that, whatever categories have been set up in the accounting
system for sales and purchases, the same categories must be used for the inventory, so that the cost of goods
sold will be matched with corresponding sales.

1203.10  Auditor's Observation of Count - One of the responsibilities of the organization’s auditor is to
personally observe the inventory process. The store personnel should understand that the auditor does not
expect to take any active part in the inventory counting, nor is the auditor acting as a police officer to detect
inefficiency or carelessness. It would be well for the store manager to review with the auditor the written inventory
instructions referred to earlier; the auditor will then devote attention to observing the way in which these
instructions are carried out, and the adequacy of the safeguards against either duplication or omission of counts.
Subsequently, the auditor will spot-check some of the counts against the inventory cards or count sheets, and will
also check, on a sampling basis, the pricing, extensions, and footings.

Section 1204 - Prepaid Expenses

1204.01 Types of Prepaid Expense - As indicated in Section 1201.01, prepaid expense includes
products or services that have been purchased, developed, or manufactured specifically for consumption or
benefit in the organization’s own operations over a period extending beyond the current statement of financial
position date. Prepaid products include such things as copier and printer paper, pre-printed stationery and forms,

and items that will be given, rather than sold, to affiliated entities. Prepaid services include such things as
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insurance premiums paid in advance, and equipment maintenance contracts paid in advance, for periods that
extend beyond the statement of financial position date.

1204.02  Accounting for Prepaid Expense - The cost of products consumed during the reporting period
should be charged to current expense, and the cost of products acquired but not yet consumed should be
counted, valued, and reported as prepaid expense at the statement of financial position date. The portion of
payments for services rendered within the reporting period should be charged to current expense, and the portion
of payments for services that will be rendered in future periods should be reported as prepaid expense at the
statement of financial position date.

The accounting is generally applied in two stages. First, as products are acquired, they are either charged to
current expense or added to prepaid expense. Similarly, as payments are made for insurance 